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COMMITTED TO CREATING BETTER LIFE

Eof &R &R E A

Each city is full of energy and alive,

growing, buzzing with activity like a hive.

La dolce vita, we shall be thy source,

and nourish industry with bountiful resource.

Our diversified products reduce everyday strife,

our innovative services boost quality of life.

When we achieve infinite fusion of people and city, then

drink we all from the fountain of joy and prosperity.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TREBE

To Distinguished Shareholders,

As time goes by, we open a new chapter. After an extraordinary
year, we are honored to take this opportunity to review the past and
look forward to the future. | would like to present the achievements
and vision of China Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the year of 2020 to
all shareholders.

During the year of 2020, the Group realized a total operating
income of RMB18.956 billion and a profit attributable to owners of
the Company of RMB701 million. Profit attributable to shareholders
per share was RMBO0.14. The board of directors of the Company
resolved to declare a final dividend of RMB0.057 (equivalent to
HK$0.07) per share, with a dividend payout ratio of approximately
40%, which was further higher than that of the previous year.

In 2020, the world structure changed dramatically with a variety
of challenges. In the face of sudden COVID-19 pandemic, the
Group immediately organized, mobilized and responded flexibly
according to the pandemic situation, and has firmly achieved the
annual goal.

DEVELOPMENT BUSINESS

Sales performance grew steadily, and the in-depth urban
development achieved results. The Group has greatly promoted
“one city, one model (—¥#—1&#R)". All cities have competed
against benchmarking enterprises in an all-round way, improving
their comprehensive trading ability and creating value from
management. Multi-means were used to stabilize the value of
inventory, and to make the high-quality promoted sales, which
recorded a new high. In 2020, the Group, together with its
associates and joint ventures, achieved aggregate contracted sales
of RMB49.9 billion (a year-on-year increase of approximately 33%),
and aggregate contracted sale area of approximately 2.75 million
sg.m. (a year-on-year increase of approximately 30%). Among
the cities distributed by the Group, contracted sales in Nanjing
exceeded RMB20 billion, accounting for more than 6% of the local
market share.
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Actively increase land bank to build potential for future
development. In 2020, the Group, together with its associates and
joint ventures, acquired 20 pieces of land with capacity building
area of 2.47 million sg.m., ensuring the quality and sustainability of
the Group's residential development activities for the foreseeable
future. The Group has a proportionate interest of 1.17 million sg.m.
of abovementioned area and holds a majority interest in 8 of the
20 pieces of land. On the basis of development in Nanjing with
explicit milestones, the Group took full advantages of the industry-
city linkage mode of major shareholder China Merchants Shekou
Industrial Zone Holdings Co. Ltd. (“CMSK") and strengthened our
market position in Xi'an. The project in Xi‘an International Port
District was successfully implemented and became the Company's
medium-to long-term land reserve.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT IN HONG KONG

In 2020, the Group also made a new breakthrough in its
development in Hong Kong. The Group formed a competitive
bidding consortium with well-known developers in Hong Kong and
successfully won the property development project of Phase 13
of LOHAS Park in Tseung Kwan O, which is adjacent to the Phase
11 project acquired by the Company’s consortium in 2019, with
development synergy and scale effect.

In the face of the real estate market gradually moving from an
increment era to a stock management era, the Group has actively
promoted the diversified transformation and development of value
chain extension in recent years. Since 2016, the Group has started
to manage CM+ apartment hotels in Hong Kong. In 2020, CM+
apartment hotels outperformed the market, with an annual average
occupancy rate of 61%, which is about 16% higher than Hong
Kong's average occupancy rate of 45%. In terms of rental unit price,
it was also 43% higher than the average level in Hong Kong. RevPAR
(Average Room Income), an important indicator of comprehensive
occupancy rate and unit price, and CM+ were higher than the
market average of 94.5%. In addition to economic indicators,
CM+ hotels shouldered more social responsibilities, took the
initiative to undertake the task of quarantine hotels, and obtained
the certification of health and anti-epidemic measures issued by
Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency. The year of 2020 was also
the first year of the Company’s participation in the management
of real estate investment trusts, managing five properties in the
Greater Bay Area — Shenzhen, with total assets of over RMB6.6
billion, contributing annual asset management service income of
RMB18.07 million.
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FUNDS AND FINANCE

In 2020, the Group vigorously improved its cash flow management
capability, optimized sales outstanding collection management
measures, continuously improved the contracted collection
rate and shortened the collection period. Taking advantage of
LPR anchor-changing opportunity to reduce costs and increase
efficiency, the Group obtained the annual comprehensive capital
cost of 4.90%. At the end of 2020, the Group's net debt ratio was
31%, down by 14 percentage points from the end of the previous
year, all monitoring indicators of the “Three Red Lines” were green
at the end of the year. Steady capital structure helps the Company
to resist economic cycles.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

The year of 2021 was the first year of China’s “14th Five-Year Plan”.
It is necessary for us to make proper decisions in a timely basis.
Overseas COVID-19 pandemic is still uncontrolled, the prospects
for world economic recovery are uncertain, the multi-field game
between China and the United States is intensified, and the
domestic reform task is arduous and strenuous. Profound changes
in the environment bring not only new opportunities, but also new
challenges.

In view of the macro situation, the new round of scientific and
technological revolution is booming, and the multipolar pattern
of the world is increasingly emerging during the game of large
countries, especially the epidemic situation may have a far-reaching
impact on the world political and economic pattern. Despite the
obvious rise of various external uncertainties, China is still in and will
be in an important period of strategic opportunities in a long time,
with in-depth development of informationization, urbanization,
marketization and globalization. Domestic and international double
circulation gives birth to new advantages in national competition,
new infrastructure improves people’s quality of life, and the rapid
development of metropolitan areas breeds economic growth
momentum. The fundamentals of China’s long-term economic
development still remain positive.
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In view of industry policies, the principle that “houses are for
living not for speculation” has become a national policy, and the
government will focus on “promoting new urbanization with people
as the core” and “promoting urbanization with county towns as the
important carrier” in the future. These key instructions have pointed
out the direction for the Company’s future development. We will
study in detail and dig deep into the structural opportunities,
adhere to the patience of deep urban development, and grasp the
opportunities for urban reform.

In view of competitors, the real estate market continues to
improve under the longterm mechanism of “Three Red Lines”,
"Four-Grade Management” and “Five-Department Coordination”.
The trend of industry concentration and resource integration has
been significantly strengthened. Real estate enterprises have
been moved towards the era of “management bonus”. We must
continuously improve its management and operation capabilities,
while adhering to prudent financial strategies and continue to
optimize our financial structure, so as to deliver better results.

We have been taking the responsibilities of implementing the
Group's overseas strategy. The Group will continue to focus on
investment opportunities in Hong Kong and overseas regions,
increase its participation in high-quality property development
in Hong Kong, and strengthen the existing stock business of the
Company in Hong Kong, then create a brand effect. The Group will
fully capitalise on the advantages of overseas listing to explore a
larger market, and create values for shareholders.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, clients and business partners for their
support and confidence, as well as all of our dedicated staff for their
diligence and contribution.

XU Yongjun
Chairman
18 March 2021
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENGREEAEBERERE

The Directors’ updated information is set out below, save as
disclosed below, there is no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship among the Directors. The change
of directors’ information pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) since the Company's
last published interim report is set out in the section “Change of
Information relating to Directors”:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. XU Yongjun, aged 57, non-executive director of the Company,
the chairman of the Board and the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. XU joined China Merchants Logistics Holdings Co., Ltd." since
May 2001 and held various positions as chief marketing director,
deputy general manager, executive deputy general manager
and general manager until January 2016. On 30 December 2015,
he was appointed as the director and general manager of China
Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. ("CMSK"),
an intermediate controlling shareholder of the Company, and is
currently being the chairman of the Board of CMSK.

From December 2019 to March 2021, he served as a director and
the chairman of the board of director of China Merchants Property
Operation & Service Co., Ltd.* (B BIEERE FE S RSN GIR
A7), a subsidiary of CMSK, the shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1914.52).

Mr. XU graduated from Fuyang Normal University” in Anhui
province in July 1984. He graduated from Applied Chemistry
Department of Northwest Institute of Light Industry” (currently
renamed as Shaanxi University of Science & Technology’) with a
Master’s Degree in Engineering in November 1987.

Mr. HUANG Junlong, aged 55, non-executive director of the
Company and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. HUANG is currently the chief financial officer of CMSK.
He joined China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone" as deputy
supervisor of the finance department in 1988 and holds various
positions as deputy in charge of finance department of China
Merchants Group”’, chief financial officer of China Merchants
Logistics Group Co., Ltd.", chief financial officer of China Merchants
Port Service Co., Ltd", chief financial officer of Shenzhen China
Merchants Petrochemical Co., Ltd.” and the financial controller of
finance department of China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone™.

*  For identification purpose only
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He was appointed as a non-executive director and the chairman of
the Board of the REIT Manager of the China Merchants Commercial
Real Estate Investment Trust (“CMC REIT") (Stock Code: 1503),
which is listed on the Stock Exchange, since 11 July 2019.

In July 1988, Mr. HUANG graduated from Changsha Institute
of Communications” with a Bachelor’s Degree in Finance and
Accounting Profession. He graduated from China Europe
International Business School” with a Master of Business
Administration Degree in September 2008.

Ms. LIU Ning, aged 52, non-executive Director appointed on 2
June 2012. Ms. LIU is a member of the audit committee of the
Board.

Ms. Liu has over 16 years experience in the securities industry and
has been the secretary of the board of directors of CMSK since
December 2015. She was appointed as the representative of
securities affairs of China Merchants Property Development Co.,
Ltd (“CMPD") (a company merged with CMSK in December 2016)
in October 2001, and the head of the secretariat of the board of
directors of CMPD in July 2004, and the secretary of the board of
directors of CMPD from 2008 to 2015. Ms. Liu has been a member
of the 9th Listing Committee of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from
September 2016 to September 2018 and a pre-vetting specialist for
the 2nd Corporate Bond Listing of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
from May 2017 to May 2019. She has been appointed as a non-
executive director of the REIT Manager of the China Merchants
Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (Stock Code: 1503),
which is listed on the Stock Exchange, since 11 July 2019. Also,
she is currently a director of China Merchants Property Operation
& Service Co., Ltd.* (HBEBEHREZELRERHBER LA, a
subsidiary of CMSK, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1914.52).

Ms. Liu obtained her MBA degree from the Macau University of
Science and Technology after completing her postgraduate studies
in Business Administration at the School of International Business,
Nankai University in 2000.

*  For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. SO Shu Fai, aged 69, executive Director and chairman of the
executive committee appointed on 11 December 2010 and was
elected chairman of the Company on 31 December 2010. Dr.
SO resigned from his position as the chairman of the Board and
his board committee position on 23 June 2012 and remains an
executive Director.

Dr. SO is the vice-chairman, an executive director and CEO of SUM
Holdings Limited, which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He is a
director of Estoril-Sol, SGPS, S.A. which is listed on Euronext Lisbon
and the chairman of the board of directors of MACAUPORT —
Sociedade de Administracdo de Portos, S.A.

Dr. SO was a member of the 9th, 10th, 11th and 12th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference ("CPPCC"). He is presently the honorary consul of the
Republic of Portugal in the Hong Kong SAR and a consultant of the
Economic Development Council of the Macau SAR Government.
Dr. SO is the president of Clube Militar de Macau, a member of the
board of directors of The University of Hong Kong Foundation for
Educational Development and Research, as well as a member of the
10th National Committee of China Federation of Literary and Arts
Circles.

Dr. SO was awarded the Honorary University Fellowship by The
University of Hong Kong in 2005, the Medal of Merit — Culture
by the Macau SAR Government in 2009 and the Doctor of Social
Sciences honoris causa by the University of Macau in 2012. He was
conferred as Commendador Order of Merit by the Portuguese
Government in 2014.

Dr. SO is a Chartered Secretary, Chartered Governance
Professional and a Fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute.
He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
He graduated with a Bachelor of Science Degree from The
University of Hong Kong in 1973, and received a Doctoral Degree in
Management Studies from IMC/Southern Cross University in 2001.
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Mr. YU Zhiliang, aged 42, joined the Company as an executive
Director since 2 June 2012. He served as a general manager of
the Company since 18 August 2016. He was the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer during the period from 29 June 2012 to 17 August
2016. Mr. YU has served as a director of Champion Apex Limited
since January 2013 and a director of Harvest Allied Investments
Limited since April 2013. Mr. YU is responsible for strategic
development, and to facilitate and implement the operational plans
of the Group.

Mr. YU has served as the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd.” (B & BibZE (EFY) BR A F]) and
Fujian Zhong Lian Sheng Estate Development Ltd.” ({2 B A%
B ZE 2 A R A F]) since 2010. Mr. YU is a director of certain
major subsidiaries of the Company. He has been appointed
as a non-executive Director of the REIT Manager of the China
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (Stock
Code: 1503), which is listed on the Stock Exchange, since 11 July
2019.

He obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Accounting from Xiamen
University” (EFIKZ) and a MBA Degree with a concentration in
finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. YU is an
accountant of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. WONG King Yuen, aged 53, executive director of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. WONG has over 20 years of experience in real estate industry.
He served as assistant property manager in property agency
department in China Merchants Properties Development Limited
in February 1995 and subsequently he was promoted as deputy
manager, manager, deputy general manager and the current
position of director and general manager. From January 1999, he
acted as general manager assistant in China Merchants Property
Agency Limited and later he was promoted to the position of
deputy general manager and the current position of director
and general manager. From September 2001 to December 2002,
he served as director and general manager in China Merchants
Property Management (Hong Kong) Limited and from September
2017, he also acted as director and general manager in China
Merchants Property Management (Overseas) Limited.

Mr. WONG graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor's Degree of Business Administration (Honours) majoring
in finance in November 1990. He obtained a Master’s Degree
of Science in real estate from the University of Hong Kong in
December 2006. In 1999, he obtained estate agents license
(individual) from Hong Kong Estate Agents Authority. In 2010, he
was awarded the membership of Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate
Administrators.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, aged 69, joined the Company
as an independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr.
WONG is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company. Dr. WONG currently
holds the following positions in other listed companies:

e independent non-executive director of China VAST Industrial
Urban Development Company Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6166);

e independent non-executive director of APAC Resources
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1104);

e independent non-executive director of Solargiga Energy

Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 757);

e independent non-executive director of China Wan Tong Yuan
(Holdings) Limited, (its shares have transferred of listing from
GEM to main board with stock code 6966 since 17 December
2019);

¢ independent non-executive director of Capital Finance
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 8239);

e independent non-executive director of China Medical &
HealthCare Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 383); and

e independent non-executive director of Dexin China Holdings
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 2019).
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In addition, Dr. WONG served as the managing director of Charise
Financial Planning Limited, a private professional consulting firm
in Hong Kong since October 2005 to 2 January 2014 and served
as Principal Consultant of KND & Co., CPA Limited, a private
professional auditing firm in Hong Kong since 2 January 2014 to
2017. Dr. WONG was appointed as the Principal Consultant by KND
Associates CPA Limited, Hong Kong on 2 January 2018. Dr. WONG
was elected or admitted:

e  afellow of The Chartered Governance Institute in September
2002;

e afellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries in
February 2002;

e afellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in January
1999,

e amember of The Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute in November 2012;

° a fellow member of Association of International Accountants in
September 2005;

. a fellow member of The Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Ireland in August 2000;

° a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in May 2002,
and

e  a Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong for the year 2013 by the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Dr. WONG received a Doctoral Degree in Business Administration
from Bulacan State University, Republic of the Philippines in
December 2010 and a Bachelor's Degree in commerce from a
joint program held by Shenzhen University and Clayton University,
Missouri, USA in May 1990. He also received a Bachelor's Degree
and a Master's Degree in Business Administration from Nottingham
Trent University, UK in December 2005 and December 2007,
respectively.

18 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2020

o EEETE - ETRFTARE T —F— ﬂ
“AMEECEAVBRIERRF(R—REE
ABEBEHERF)NESRALEE  TR_F— @i—
H RE_ZT—tFHHETEESHMEHEMER
REB—REELAREZBE QR W EFRER -
REZZE-NF—A-H IBTEZEREETIHE
SHENTARARMEFERE - THLRN

. CTE_FAARBAHREABHANARAR
AREE

« TR ARBRAEARHUELGER
#8

s —NMANF-RAEERBEWKE

PNy Y NP~ —
ZERTE

E-_F+-ARBZRBEARESNRESS
=

« CETRFNABERAREHMARERE
E .

. CTTTE\AEEAEABEMEHHHE
AREA

« CETCFRAREAZENNARALEER
Bk

« CE-CTEEANBEERRESEMHE
B -

IMLR T T T AREREU IR AR

ESIEE @T@taul%&ﬁ’\\*ﬂﬂfiﬁﬁ BRI
KN K EBZ & B Clayton University Bt & 18 B 1%
BB - FHRARNR-_ZZRF+ AR -TZL
F+ = AEBEEINottingham Trent University T
BB+ BN RIETEA] o



Ms. CHEN Yanping, aged 62, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012.

Ms. CHEN had attended a “China Management Training Program”
in University of California, Los Angeles from November 2003 to
November 2004. Ms. CHEN received a Bachelor's Degree and a
Master's Degree in urban planning profession from the Faculty of
Architecture of Tongji University in January 1982 and November
1984, respectively. Ms. CHEN was qualified as a senior engineer in
December 1993 and subsequently qualified as a registered planner
of the PRC in October 2000.

Ms. CHEN had been an independent director of CMPD from
October 2007 to November 2011. Ms. CHEN is the chairlady of
the remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Company. Ms. CHEN is a professor of
Architecture and Urban Planning School in Shenzhen University
from December 2000.

Dr. SHI Xinping, aged 62, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr. SHI had been an
independent director of CMPD from July 2001 to October 2007.
Dr. SHI is a member of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company.

Dr. SHI was an associate professor of the Department of Finance
and Decision Sciences in Hong Kong Baptist University before
retirement. He is also an independent non-executive director of
Renewable Energy Trade Board Corporation (formerly known as
“China Technology Development Group Corporation”), a company
listed on Nasdag.

Dr. SHI received a Bachelor's Degree from North-western
Polytechnic University in July 1982, an MBA Degree from Lancaster
University, UK in December 1990 and a PhD Degree from Middlesex
University, UK in July 1995.
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Mr. HE Qi, aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 1 November 2013. Mr.
HE currently is an independent non-executive director of China
Evergrande Group, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 3333) since 14 October 2009. Since 10 September 2014, Mr.
HE has been serving as the independent non-executive director of
Orient Victory Travel Group Company Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 265), and also the secretary of
the Distribution Services and Leasing Committee of the China Real
Estate Association. Mr. He had been serving as the deputy secretary
of the China Real Estate Association until June 2016. He was an
executive of the Development Centre of the China Real Estate
Association from 1995 to 1999.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION RELATING TO
DIRECTORS

Changes in directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

Name of director

BEEHR

Details of change

RE S

I EE  BEFESE R-T—=F+—HA—AEZ
EABEARRBIYIIENTESE - AE_TTNF+A+T
Hig  fAEABIAMEMARPHEBERER (G
Ko 3333)MBUIATES - BT —NFNA
THE  [AEERBMIM EMARRBIREEESR
AR (D REE : 265) B IEHRITES - AP E
EHERERBRENAEZESWER - M4 Y
EIPEEHERSINER  EE-T—~FA
B R —AARFE—ANNFETHBEEHERR
CEEMIBEREMT -

ERESEH S

B FHBEI35BNEHETETHREEBES
BERIED) c EREEH T :

Mr. XU Yongjun
FRKESLE

Ms. LIU Ning
BBt

Mr. YU Zhiliang
RERKE

Mr. XU has resigned as a director and the chairman of the board of China Merchants
Property Operation & Service Co., Ltd.* (R REHREEEERERHBERAR), a
subsidiary of CMSK, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
with effect from 5 March 2021.
HRACHIRERRBRREXEEREROBRAT(BE A Z2MBAR » HRGOMKAR
NBLFRGMEMMNEZERESEERE BT -_—F=AhRARER-

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Ms. LIU has been appointed as a director
of China Merchants Property Operation & Service Co., Ltd.* (AT BE R E %8 & R 15
I8 {7 BBRAR]), a subsidiary of CMSK, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1914.57).
BE-_Z-ZF+-_A=+—0 LT EZERBERBEHREXELRERHABER AR
(B ZMBRR - EROWARINESFZ S LW (RMORIE : 1914.52) ) WES -

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Mr. YU received annual emoluments of
approximately RMB2,473,000 which were determined by reference to his experience
and responsibilities, the Company’s performance and remuneration policy and the
prevailing market conditions.

BEZTZTHE+A=+THILEFE  RUEUMFEMSOARE2,473,0007T © B
S 2 ER KB EBE - ARAIZ KB RFMBERARRITTRMET

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and confirmations from
Directors, save as otherwise set out in this Report, there are no
other changes in the directors’ information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the Company's
last published interim report.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Zhang Tao, aged 52, is responsible for managing real estate
development projects.

Mr. Zhang joined Operation and Management Center of CMPD
in December 2012 as deputy general manager, and subsequently
served as general manager of Dalian Company in March 2013,
general manager of Qingdao Company in January 2015, general
manager of Southern Jiangsu Company in March 2016, and deputy
general manager (presiding over the work) of Jiangnan Region
adjunct to general manager of Southern Jiangsu Company and
Nanjing Company from 2019 to present.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Changchun Institute of Technology in
July 1990 and Peking University in July 2000 with a master’s degree
in political economics.

Mr. HUANG Qinghao, aged 45, is responsible for the management
of property development projects.

Mr. HUANG joined the Construction Management Center of
CMPD in May 2005 as a structural engineer and was subsequently
redesignated to Foshan Company in February 2008. He initially
served as a manager of design and engineering department and
was subsequently promoted as general manager assistant and
deputy general manager. In January 2014, he was promoted as the
general manager of Foshan Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. HUANG worked in Shenzhen
General Institute of Architectural Design & Research Third Institute
(R T R R 5T A 95 #2P% = &F) from October 2001 and October
2003 as a structural engineer. From October 2003 to May 2005, Mr.
HUANG worked in Arch Engineers Design Co. Ltd" (& T 24
A)) as a structural engineer.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Central South University” and was
awarded a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial and Civil Construction in
June 1997. Mr. HUANG was qualified as an engineer in September
2001 and subsequently was qualified as a first-class qualified
structural engineer in October 2005. He was awarded a Master's
Degree in Civil Engineering Profession from Shenzhen University”
in June 2006 and qualified as an architectural construction senior
engineer in December 2007.

*  For Identification Purpose Only
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Mr. LI Zhaohui, aged 50, is responsible for the management of
property development projects.

Mr. LI joined the Project Department of CMPD as an engineer
in March 2002 and subsequently, he worked as a senior project
manager for Construction Management Center in February 2005
and was promoted to deputy technical director in December
2005. In April 2007, he was redesignated to Chongging Company
as general manager assistant and was subsequently promoted to
deputy general manager of Chongging Company in February 2009.
He was further promoted to deputy general manager of Chongging
Company (monitoring works) in July 2015.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. LI worked in Zhenjiang Construction
and Design Institute” in Jiangsu Province from July 1992 to March
2002.

Mr. LI graduated from the Faculty of Water Supply and Drainage
Engineering of Urban Construction in Chongging Construction
Engineering University* in July 1992 and subsequently obtained the
qualification as a water supply and drainage professional engineer
in November 1998.

Mr. HE Junli, aged 43, is responsible for the management of the
property development projects.

Mr. HE joined CMPD in April 2003 as a planning manager for the
Huangjintai project, later was promoted as senior manager in
December 2005. He was a vice development director of Chongging
(Chengdu) Company in May 2008 and was promoted as assistant
to general manager of Chongging Company in February 2011. In
June 2016, he was further promoted as vice general manager of
Chongging Company and also took up the position of a general
manager of Chongqging China Merchants Jinshan Yiku Business
Management Company* (EERBESILEEHEEIEAA). He
was redesignated as a general manager of Xi'an Company in
September 2017.

Before joining the Group, Mr. He worked in the property
department of Vanke as engineer trainee from August 2001 to April
2002, and joined Sinolink (Shenzhen) as property development
manager from April 2002 to April 2003.

Mr. HE graduated from Southeast University” in June 2001 with a
bachelor degree in professional architectural engineering.

*  For Identification Purpose Only
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Ms. Chen Yan, aged 43, is currently the chief financial officer of the
Company. She had held various positions in CMSK, the controlling
shareholder of the Company. She joined CMSK in October 2009
as a senior manager of the finance department until July 2016. She
was also appointed as the senior financial controller of the finance
department of CMSK from July 2016 to May 2017. From May 2017
to January 2018, she was the deputy chief financial officer of the
Company. She has also been the internal auditor of REIT manager
of CMC REIT since December 2019.

Ms. CHEN Yan was graduated from Sun Yat-Sen University Business
School with a Master’s Degree in Accounting and Business Studies
in 2002. She was qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in the
PRC in 2002.

Mr. NG Ho, aged 33, appointed as Company Secretary of the
Company since 31 May 2019. Mr. Ng holds a Master of Business
degree from Monash University in Australia and is an associate of
both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The
Chartered Governance Institute. He has over 7 years of experience
in compliance and listed company secretarial practice.
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“RUDDER” CULTURE
N 2 SAE B &

The “Rudder” is the icon of the maritime heritage of China Merchants Group.
It rallys strength and guides us to achieve our goals.
It is the guarantee of achieving the goals and the spirit of mustering the power.
Adherence to “China Merchants family and Shekou gene”,

We strive for advancement and excellence as we march forward.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEEN®WE DN

MARKET REVIEW

Economic disruption and uncertainty swept across the globe as the
COVID-19 outbreak continued in 2020. The pandemic prompted
governments to impose lock-downs, causing widespread economic
disruption, soaring unemployment, and a sharp contraction of many
economies in the second quarter of 2020. The Chinese government
was able to contain the outbreak with its timely and robust response
to the outbreak of COVID-19. After the central government began
easing restrictions in mid-March of 2020, industrial activity quickly
resumed and the economy was the first to rebound around the
world. China’s GDP in 2020 was RMB101.6 trillion, up 2.3% year
over year, making it one of the few countries in the world to achieve
positive GDP growth in spite of the epidemic.

As one of the pillars of the domestic economy, the real estate sector
mirrored the overall economy with a moderate level of growth. The
China Real Estate Sentiment Index fell at the start of 2020 but then
rebounded in February to March. In 2020, the real estate investment
amounted to RMB14.144 trillion nationwide, representing an
increase of 7.0% over the previous year, the growth rate was 2.9
percentage points lower than the previous year's growth rate. Of
which, residential investment increased by 7.6% to RMB10.445
trillion, this growth rate was 6.3 percentage points lower than it was
in 2019.

In 2020, the area of trading properties sold was approximately 1.761
billion square meters, an increase of 2.6% over the previous year.
Residential sales by area increased 3.2%, while office sales by area
decreased 10.4% and retail shops sales by area decreased 8.7%. In
terms of value, trading properties sold increased 8.7% to RMB17.36
trillion, representing 2.2 percentage points higher in growth rate
over the previous year. The value of residential properties sold
increased 10.8%, while the value of office properties and retail
shops properties sold fell by 5.3% and 11.2% respectively.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year of 2020, profit amounted to RMB1,513,445,000
(2019: RMB2,699,736,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 44%. The profit attributable to the owners of
the Company was RMB701,260,000 (2019: RMB1,794,470,000),
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 61%. Basic
earnings per share was RMB14.30 cents (2019: RMB36.58 cents),
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 61%.

Equity attributable to owners of the Company was RMB?,500,926,000
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB9,505,741,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 0.05% as compared with that of the end of
last year.

The Group, together with its associates and joint ventures,
achieved aggregate contracted sales of RMB49,874,000,000 (2019:
RMB37,633,312,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 33%. Aggregate contracted sales area was 2,753,576
sg.m. (2019: 2,116,012 sgq.m.), representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 30%. The average selling price was approximately
RMB18,113 per sg.m. (2019: RMB17,785 per sg.m.), representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 2%.

B 7% [E1 B8

RZZTZZFA - m5MAARKE1,513,4450007T(=
T—NE: ARM2699,736,0007T) » [ 44
44% o NN RVEB ARG E R A ARBET701,260,0007T
(ZZ—NF - ARM1,794,470,0007T) @ R T4
61% - BIRERBINEARK14300 (ZF—IF -
ANR#36.585)) + B TFEXI61% °

RIBE-ZTE+_A=+—H8  AAREHAEMN
A AR 500,926,000 ( —FB—HE AR
9,505,741,0007T) + EAXFFEALL RNFEAI0.05% °

REBMEBERABERNARAECEERARHEES
A ANRH49,874,000000( —F—NEF « AR
37,633,312,0007T) * ALK HI33% - & RHER
HHE 42,753,576 F K (ZZE—NF : 2,116,012F
FK) - RIERA30% - FHEBHNATFEHAA
R®#18,113c(ZE—IF : BFHKRKARME17,785
JC) ¢ RILLIEINKI2% °
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TURNOVER

In 2020, the Group recorded turnover of RMB18,956,418,000
(2019: RMB19,453,295,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 3%. In 2020, projects in Foshan, Guangzhou,
Chonggqging, Nanjing and Jurong and Xi'an accounted for
approximately 12%, 17%, 36%, 33%, and 1%, respectively, of the
total revenue of the Group.

GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit amounted to RMB4,719,576,000 (2019:
RMB6,329,628,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 25%. This was mainly due to the relatively
high proportion of project with lower gross profit margin in
the carried forward income and written-down of properties
amounting to RMB849,920,000 in 2020. The gross profit margin
was approximately 25% (2019: approximately 33%), which was
decreased by 8 percentage points as compare to the last year.

SHARE OF PROFITS OF ASSOCIATES

Share of profits of associates was RMB195,728,000 (2019:
RMB433,017,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 55%, which was mainly attributable to the
completion of the projects by Guangzhou Lianzhou Real Estate
Company Limited (BMEMEEBR A F]) and Guangzhou
Liansen Real Estate Company Limited (/N FRE HZEH R A F) in
2019 and contributed share of profits amounted to approximately
RMB287 million and RMB102 million respectively. In 2020, the
project of Gezhouba Nanjing Property Company Limited (&l
HEREXABMRAF]) contributed share of profits amounted to
approximately RMB114 million.

SHARE OF PROFITS OF JOINT VENTURES

Share of profits of joint ventures was RMB13,942,000 (2019:
RMB40,423,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 66%,
carried forward income from joint ventures project in Nanjing as

which was mainly due to the decrease in

a result of Nanjing Hongweisheng Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. (FIRBLEEEEHERZE AR A F) completed its works in 2019,
causing the net profit of the Group attributable to the joint ventures
project in Nanjing reduced by approximately RMB31 million as
compared to 2019.
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ZETF o AEEEETE A AR18,956,418,000
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RABKRAR 2 HB GRS B R 2 5 R4
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EF
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BUSINESS REVIEW X R

Property Development Business P 2E B 35 5 1%

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's portfolio of property RZZEZTF+ZA=+—H KEBEETEN - #
development projects consisted of 41 projects in Guangzhou, U+ EF A% - BR L OREE4EEHER %
Foshan, Chongging, Xi'an, Nanjing and Jurong, with a primary BB ' TEEPHEEEEMEARTEREERE
focus on the development of residential properties, as well as ¥ ERHELBSELAE  JIE - WABERTEEH
residential and commercial complex properties, types of products % ©

include apartments, villas, offices and retail shops, etc.

A breakdown of land bank by cities and a map showing the  TEZIRIEHHEID 2 + i EHRL N A EEIERE
geographical locations and the land bank of the projects of the FEZ MM E R+ tEE N - -_TF+ A
Group in the PRC are set out below. The saleable gross floor areaof =+—H » KESKBEZWEBEH 2 E2LAEA
properties which had not been sold or presold as at 31 December ([ L% |) 55,493,428 F 75K -

2020 (“Land Bank”) was 5,493,428 sg.m..

Land Bank by cities
BT E D 2 T

Guangzhou

&M

29, Nanjing & Jurong
ERkaT

Chongging
S
41%
Xi'an
(=S
29%

Foshan

B
14%
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EROIRE (=)
Property Development Business (continued) P ih ZE B3 K15 (&)

A map showing the geographical location and land bank
of the projects of the Group in the PRC as at 31 December 2020

TEERAEERN -_Z-ZF+_A=1+—RAEPEZEEB 2B E Nt ibf#E

Xi‘an
BAE

Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)
T B ARKRAIEREEmE (FI5K)

Evian Qujiang

8 24,026
RE#T
Merchants Zhenguanfu
137,431
HE
Main Urban Site DK1
IHE DIY Sl
Main Urban Site DK2 504175 Nanjing and Jurong
W EIBDK2 ’ ERRAE
Main Urban Site DK3 304 434 Project Saleable GFA in the future (sg.m.)
— 5T £ BDK3 ' R B KA RS (T 5K)
Eéﬂgqmg Silk Road Center North Block 111 529 China Merchants
HEE R OIEH R g I*rét%r;agn;k E City 49,709
Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.) § B RRE
R B R AT (77K i e A Ey——— o130
U SRV = 3 .
E;l%'ah“' 732,964 Changan Xi 51480 mtjﬁ
il 2 / The Orchid Ravine
Evian River Bay mEE RERAEE >4
TR 133,846 Weiyang Xi 92 368
- AAE | Copup Teonan
’C‘elg;l‘gvenue TR dienJing 162,819 )
nEANE S g Dongwangfu 78630
Jin Xing Hui Xiao Qu RERF !
3 _ 69 Total
BEE/NE @t Tk Xii*;“gﬁﬁ“”“ 200,501
Yongjingcheng 394 907 Cipas:oysi '
25 Shuimu Yongrongfu 72326
Chongging Ideal City AR IT ’
ng 92,067
EEEEM Yongningfu 145,446
Main Urban Site EERT ’
b o 16,739
ZAE= Ninglong Mingzhu 18,465
Park Uptown 92905 ERERE !
NENR Nanjing 2020G13 84380
Total AR FAR2020G13 ‘
st e = '
ijin Intelligence Valley 25347

Foshan Total
1L 5;; 778,949

Project Saleable GFA in the future (sg.m.)

BB ARRAERERE (FI5K) ‘
China Merchants Land Center
N 67,890 (]
BEE AL BN
China M‘irchants Xi'an 111,288 Project Saleable GFA in the future (sgq.m.)
s HA R AT ERERE (F5K)
China Merchants Yuefu .
BRI 203,223 {énlj-lhgv Valley 59,095
China Merchants Yueyuan
B 184,220 }:igu%mbo 156
%\\P%a[gchants Xiyuan 12,403 %\%a?g;r;gams Yongjing Wan 36,058
R RIS
China Merchants Anzhitinglan
P 110,829 Guangzhou Tianju
Sp=i= 3
REFIETH = 31,658
Times Merchants Tianxi
B BRRRE 42106 Total ooy
China Merchants Tianpufi ot '
ina Merchants Tianpufu
24,104
REREA
Total
@t 756,063
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Note: The following table shows the address, existing use, and actual or expected
earliest full or phased completion date of the Group's property development

¥ O

FHER X5 (&)

M TREFMEER -2 -_2F+ - A=+ —-HZHEFRIER
Zini - MEMERERAGFOREZE2HK DO YRR

projects as at 31 December 2020. 8-
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
BE b5
Project Existing usage %R H
EE Address 4k WERE (&/R)
Foshan f#1L
Evian Tianhui Qiandenghu Park, Nanping Road, H Residential and September 2013
REKXE Nanhai District, ERAFHLT commercial —ZE—=FNA
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, E2pEl EEREE
The PRC TR TFEALR
Evian Xicheng No. 3 Keji North Road, # Residential and  June 2013
REBIN Shishan Town, EREHLT commercial —ZE—=4F,NA
Nanhai District, FaEE EEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, IR
The PRC XL & 355
Park 1872 Northern side of Xingye Road and 2] Residential and February 2016
~EN872 eastern side of Longpan West Road, commercial ZZE—XRFZA
Desheng Business District, EEREE

China Merchants
Land Centre

HBEEH L

Evian Yongjingwan

Evian Huafu

KEER

Evian Gongguan
KELR

China Merchants Zhenyuan

AR

Shunde New Town,

Shunde District,

Foshan City, Guangdong Province,
The PRC

Western side of a planning road,
eastern side of Guilan Road,
northern side of a planning road,
and southern side of Haigi Road,
A27 Block of Guicheng Street,
Nanhai District,

Foshan City, Guangdong Province,
The PRC

Northern side of Jihua Bridge,
western side of Tung Ping River,
Chancheng District,

Foshan City, Guangdong Province,
The PRC

"Xinyou Innovative
Technology Industrial Park”, Beihu 1st Road,
Luocun Management Office,
Shishan Town, Nanhai District,
Foshan City, Guangdong Province,
The PRC

Dazheng Road,
Jiujiang Town,
Nanhai District,
Foshan City, Guangdong Province,
The PRC

Eastern side of Wenhua Road and,
northern side of Caihong Road,
Chancheng District,

Foshan City, Guangdong Province,
The PRC

FLZE PRI A £2

BEARTEBE R A

i Commercial November 2016
BRA LT EES ZE—XRF+—A
MmEE
WA EA27EH R
—HREBIERE AR
R R A
—HR BB e
pisE w3k i

AR Residential and March 2016
BERAMILT commercial —E—XRE=H
B FEREE
E=YNERA
R A FE

i Residential and  December 2015
BERAHILT commercial —Z—FAE+_-F
g LA FEREE
BENERR
M —8% [EREXE]
o By

H Residential and December 2015
BEREBLT commercial —ZE—R&F+_-HF
EzpEl FEREE
FUTHE
ANIEBEHIER

=2 Residential and November 2016
BEREBLT commercial —ZZ—XE+—FA
B[R FEREE
ERK A
T2 4T B b A
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ O )
EHEREER(E)

Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
Bl 5
Project Existing usage S&F{ A
EH Address i 41k RERAR (#/R)
China Merchants Xi'an South Jititang Road in the east to Foshan, ‘:F' Residential and January 2019
BrERR 1st Ring in the west, from Tanzhou Water Channel in  E&R & 1T commercial —ZE—NAF—A
the south to Fochen Road B 7 PR 48R FEREE
in the north, wearm Al
Southern side of South Jinchang Road, RESBERAE -
Chencun Town, Shunde District, BAERIL—IR -
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, FAE BN KE
The PRC L EFERRER
China Merchants Yuefu Nan Jin Village Committee Lot, =2} Residential and  October 2019
B Sha Long Road, ERA LT commercial  —Z—NF+ A
Jiujiang Town, [z FERBHE
Nanhai District, JUTHE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, DR
The PRC MAENE SR
China Merchants Yueyuan Plot 1, the western side of Jianshe Yilu, 22l Residential and  January 2020
BEEHE Xinan Street, EREHLT commercial ZZEZTF—H
Sanshui District, =K[E FEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, CiEesp el
The PRC R Al —
China Merchants Xiyuan West of South Cangjiang Road, 2] Residential and  June 2019
e E North of Sanjiang Road, BRAMLT commercial  Z—ZT—HFNA
Hecheng Street, SRR FEREE
Gaoming District, RIS
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, BRI AT
The PRC =T LA
Time Merchants Tianxi Taiping Industrial District Lot, [ Residential and  November 2020
BB XE Taiping Avenue, EREBLT commercial —E-ZTFE+—FH
Dali Town, 2Dl FEREE
Nanhai District, RIEHE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, RIFERE
The PRC RFTEREIE
China Merchants Tianpufu Shuitou Industrial District Lot, =235 Residential and  July 2021
A REERT Dali Town, BERA#ILT commercial  Z—EZ—F+f
Nanhai District, e FEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, AR
The PRC KB T
China Merchants Anzhitinglan  The northern side of Jiangwan 2nd Road, =2 Residential and  June 2020
BEEETE and western side of Wugang Road, BEREHLT commercial  ZZEZTHFINA
Chancheng District, BHE FERBHE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, TEZ bRl -
The PRC 7w B P A
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

¥ O

Property Development Business (continued) P b EE B3 1% (&)
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
BY b5
Project Existing usage &/ A
HE Address st REAR (#£/8)
Guangzhou &/
Jinshan Valley Fei E Ling, H Residential and December 2020
AN Donghuan Street, BRE commercial —ZE-ZTE+_F
Panyu District, B FEREE
Guangzhou City, HBE
Guangdong Province, RIRARIGE
The PRC
Huambo Huambo Business District, 2] Commercial September 2016
B Nancun Town, ERAE [GES —ZT—XRFNA
Panyu District, BT
Guangzhou City, HER
Guangdong Province, FIA R
The PRC BlEETE
China Merchants Yongjing Wan The northern side of No. KS3-2 Gui Hua Road i Residential and July 2019
EEaEsE and eastern side of the northern extension R TR N AN R commercial —Z—hFtA
lane of No. KS4-4 Road, Sino-Singapore BARKS3-2FMENE EFEREE
Guangzhou Knowledge City Southern LAJE - KS4-457 &b
Start-up Area, The PRC JEAFIAR
Guangzhou Tianju Huang Shi West Road, Baiyun New Town, 2] Residential December 2021
BINREE Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, BREAEBMNTAE F= —ZT-—F+—-A4

Chongqing EE
Changjiahui
RzlE

Evian River Bay
KBTS

Central Avenue
NERSE

Jin Xing Hui Xiao Qu
BEE NG

Yongjingcheng

b3

Yundi Xiao Qu
TR/

Main Urban Site
o AnE ]

The PRC

Danzishi Nan'an District,
Chongging City,
The PRC

Eastern side of Babin Road
and northern side of Neihuan Expressway,
Banan District,
Chongging City,
The PRC

Standard Sub-zone F,
Lianglu Zone,
Yubei District,
Chongging City,
The PRC

Eastern side of Yu Ao Avenue
and western side of Jian Bei Si Zhi Lu,
Jiang Bei District,
Chongging City,
The PRC

Sub-zone J,
Lianglu Zone, Liangjiang New District,
Chongging City,
The PRC

Nanping Business Centre,
Nan’an District,
Chongging City,

The PRC

Guanyin Bridge Business Centre,
Jiang Bei District,
Chongging City,
The PRC
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ O )
EHEREES(

V=

£)

=

Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
L YECHD
Project Existing usage &/ A
HE Address syt REAR (£/8)
Ideal City Xiyong Area, R Residential and September 2021
BEHY Shapingba District, BEEM commercial ZZEZ—FNA
Chongging City, DI R EEREE
The PRC Py
Park Uptown Shuitu Town, FE Residential and June 2020
NE Beibei District, EE™ commercial —ZE-ZTENAH
Chongging City, JbiEE FEREE
The PRC g
Nanjing F3X
Zijinshan No.1 Northeast corner of Zhongshanmen Avenue and # Residential and November 2013
ES il Taiyangcheng Road, IERERR™ commercial —ZE—=F+—A
Qixia District, ZER EEREE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, A LP R TR
The PRC RSB RAE B
China Metchants Eastern side of Baosi Road, 2] Commercial and September 2018
International E City southern side of Jingjiu Road, IEHmEaA™m residential —Z—/\ENA
1R BB ESL Baohua Town, TR PR EEREE
Jurong City, Jiangsu Province, - TeaR ]
The PRC
Evian Huafu Western side of Jing 5th Road in phrase 2 i Residential and November 2019
REHERT Maigaogjiao Street, IEEERT commercial —E—AF+—A
Qixia District, EER EEREE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, BRBEEL
The PRC TRk — IR
The Orchid Ravine East of Xing Huo Bei Lu E Residential and September 2018
REEZAER and south of Yong Xin Lu, TEAmMAT commercial ZZ—N\FNA
Pukou Gaoxin Zone, O SR FEREHE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, B ANIbBE AR
The PRC K B LA RS
Century Taoyuan Gulou District, Nanjing City, [ Residential and August 2021
HEtt Jiangsu Province, The PRC IEHA MR Mg commercial —ZE=—%)\HA
EEREE
Dongwangfu Junction between Hedong Road FRE Residential and August 2021
REMF and Siwang Road, TERAMAT commercial —Z-—F/)\A
Qilin Street Jiuxiang, Jiangning District, TEREBGENE EEREE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, R B B 2 R AX [
The PRC
Xijiang Ruifu (G35) Xiangxian Road in the east to Yuanten Road in A e Residential and March 2022
PO FF(G35) the south to a planning road in the west to IHmAEATEARE commercial ZZE-ZF=A
Zi Chuang Road in the north, TTREERERUE - FEREE
02 Land Parcel, north of Zi Chuang Road LB AR 024 358
and east of Jiangpu Street and Puyun Road, REREBEK ®mZE
Pukou District, Nanjing City, E % - EEARE
Jiangsu Province, B EERRRE
The PRC
Ninglong Mingzhu (G52) a piece of land, R Residential June 2021
EIEZ E(G52) east of Rungi Road and south of Tianhuan Road, TEHAmAmsiER F% —E-—FXA

Dongshan Street, Jiangning District,
Gulou District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province,

The PRC
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

¥ O

Property Development Business (continued) P b EE B3 1% (&)
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
B fEE
Project Existing usage J&E{HH
BH Address ik RERAR (£/8)
Nanjing Shuimu Yongrongfu  a piece of land, 2] Residential May 2022
B RAOREELE T eastern side of Bisheng Road, IEREERT F= —E2--%7A
Xijiang Street, Qixia District, MERAEETE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, EA R Al 3R
The PRC
Yongningfu Yushan Xi Road in the east to Jianshe Road 2] Residential October 2021
EERT in the south to an existing in the west to IERAERT *= —ZE-—%+A8
Guangdian Road in the north, O RLEEE
Pujiang Street, Pukou District, REFILFEE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, FIERRE  BE
The PRC Bk - L EEEHR
Nanjing 2020G13 East of Xinpu Road and south of 2] Residential December 2021
9 72020G13 Xinglong Road, Jiangbei New District, IFREER™ = —ZE-—%+=A8
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, STALFT @ FOBES AR
The PRC PR AR
Zijin Intelligence Valley East to Tianma Road, South to Benma Road, 23] Residential December 2021
KEER West to Xianlin Avenue, and TERA = e o |
North to the current industrial park, MRmEER
Qixia District, Nanjing City, REREE -
Jiangsu Province, MEHEK -
The PRC PAE (LA AE -
TERREZXE
Xi'an (AR)
Evian Qujiang South of Jinyang Road, 22l Residential and December 2019
REMT east of Xinkaimen South Road, PRAEART commercial —Z—hF+=A
north of Chuangyi Avenue and, BT R FEREE
west of Xikang Highway, SFRUAE
West Fudao, PR RE LA
Quijiang New District, BlE K& AL
Xi'an City Shaanxi Province, TR S R E LAY
The PRC
Zhenguanfu Northeast of the junction between ity Residential and December 2020
R Tiangu 1st Road and Yunshui 1st Road, KE— A commercial —Z-ZTF+_-H
Gaoxin Zone, Xi‘an, ER—E+FRILA TEREE
China Merchants South of freight line and east of AR ERE Residential and December 2021
Main Urban Site west Gangwu Road, BiEFE commercial —Z-—%+—-A
A e Xi'an International Port District ETEFIREATR EEREE
Xi'an Merchants Silk Road South of freight line and east of P B B R Commercial March 2023
Center west Gangwu Road, EERIAE [EES —ZT-=%F=H
POL BRI A0 Xi‘an International Port District TS TR LATR
Chang'an Xi South of Hangteng Road, east of Hangxin REPRFEEETELTE%L  Residential and December 2022
RLHE Road, north of Hangfei Road and west of MAE MBS AR - commercial —ZZ-&F+_-F
planning road, Xi'an Space Base, MFBELAR - MR EEREHE
Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, The PRC AL - R EIRE AT
Weiyang Xi South of Qiyuan Yi Road and west of Guangyuntan ~ FEIPRFEE AL M AUR— Residential and September 2022
RRE Avenue, Xi'an City, B - FEEE KE A commercial —E-Z—FNA
Shaanxi Province, The PRC fii) FEREE
Zhen Jing Northeast of the intersection of REPRFEE LT =@ Residential June 2023
®iE Wei Er Shi Liu Road and Xitai Road, BT NEEEAKR EE —E-=FXA
Hi-tech Zone, Xi‘an City, Shaanxi Province, EREILA
The PRC
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ O )

Property Development Business (continued) EHERR S (E)

Contracted sales AENE

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group together withits gz -—ZT—=&#+-A=+—Q | FEF  AEEER
associates and joint ventures, achieved aggregate contracted sales  HE& N T R4 LA FEEL FISEMELN A A RK
of approximately RMB49,874,000,000 and aggregate contracted 49 874,000,0007T * 4 [ 34 & B FE 452,753,576
sales area was approximately 2,753,576 sq.m. 5K .

Contracted sales area by region in 2020 (sgq.m.)  Contracted sales amount by region in 2020 (RMB million)

—ETFREREEEBE(F I K) —EoEFwREREECHE(ARERET)
Wenzhou Wenzhou
A , B
6% (153,758) Cho“@)ﬁsmg 4% (1,840)
= Guangzhou
Chongaing Guaé‘-j{ﬁhou 18% (9,224) o
E o (4 18% (8,891)
25% (682.871) 16% (433,468)
NG Xi'an
e mZ
12% (344,862) 10% (4.997)
- han
Nanjing & Jurong Foshan F%;;
BRAR . H
BV e Nanjing & Jurong 10% (4.907)
14% (382,690) RREEE
Newly Acquired Land Bank T 4 i 1R
The newly acquired lands over which the Group has a majority #HEZZ_ZTF+_A=+—HLLFE  FEEHTK
control for the year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows: BHESTEMGIE 2 T
Total Average
Total land Total permissible land
Projects 1BH consideration site area area premium
T E ALER B REE PGB
(RMB million) (sgq.m.) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
(ARBT/
(AR®BET) (F77K) (FFK) FHK)
Xi'an Silk Road Central South Block [lig ootz SaaWN bz 160 19,717 88,727 1,806
Xi'an Main Urban Site DK3 LW EHDK3 827 95,153 232,883 3,552
Xi'an China Merchants Huayu AR BHETRTE
Chang'an Xi 480 27,692 41,538 11,556
Chongqing Park Uptown E-UNElR) 412 61,679 74,015 5,566
Xi'an China Merchants Weiyang Xi ALHREARE 561 38,882 77,764 11,934
Nanjing Zijin Intelligence Valley FAREEEA 131 42,261 50,710 2,583
Nanjing 2020G13 1 ;22020G13 1,770 34,544 77,517 22,834
Xi'an China Merchants AR BBETHRE
Hua Yu Zhen Jing 1,314 42,276 118,440 11,094
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Foshan

In 2020, contracted sales amount in Foshan was approximately
RMB4,901 million and contracted sales area was 382,690 sg.m. As
at 31 December 2020, total GFA of the Group's projects in Foshan
reached 2,382,332 sgq.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 756,063 sg.m..

In 2020, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with its
associates and joint ventures) in Foshan mainly comprised of China
Merchants Xi‘an (88 =)

Introduction of China Merchants Xi’an Project

Located in the northern part of Shunde, Foshan China Merchants
Xi'an is situated at the bridgehead of Guangzhou-Foshan border,
and enjoys a 1.1 million sgq.m. landscape along Binjiang Hua'an in
Chencun. The location of the project enjoys a comprehensive “six
vertical and four horizontal” transportation network, with 30-minute
access to Chancheng district and Guicheng district of Foshan,
Panyu of Guangzhou and the center district of Guangzhou. The
project covers a site area of approximately 69,000 sg.m. with a GFA
of approximately 230,000 sq.m.. Meanwhile, the project has created
a distinctive phoenix-theme garden and is surrounded by scenery.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Guangzhou

In 2020, contracted sales amount in Guangzhou was approximately
RMB8,891 million and contracted sales area was 433,468 sgq.m..
As at 31 December 2020, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Guangzhou reached 1,861,454 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the
future will amount to 126,967 sq.m..

In 2020, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with its
associates and joint ventures) in Guangzhou mainly comprised of
China Merchants Zhenyuan:

Introduction of China Merchants Zhenyuan Project

China Merchants Zhenyuan covers a site area of 86,000 sg.m. with
a total GFA of 300,000 sg.m. and plot ratio of 3.6, demonstrating
the "Adjacent to Xintang Wanda-New Chinese Style Mansion”
developed by the Group. The project is located in TOD
International New City, the core of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area, where is the first place to take the advantage of
Guangzhou's eastward development strategy with the intersection
of seven tracks. The living facilities in the area are already well-
developed.

Retouched image
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Chonggqing

In 2020, contracted sales amount in Chongging was approximately
RMB9,224 million and contracted sales area was 682,871 sg.m..
As of 31 December 2020, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Chongging reached 5,021,703 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the
future will amount to 2,255,330 sg.m..

In 2020, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with
its associates and joint ventures) in Chongging comprised of
Chongging Central Avenue:

Introduction of Chongqging Central Avenue Project

Chongging Central Avenue is located in the Central Park CBD
of Yubei District, Chongging, occupying the east golden area of
the Central Park and enjoying the first completed infrastructure in
the area. Also, it closes to 6 horizontal and 7 vertical and 2 rings
of traffic road network, seamlessly connecting with various places
of Chongging. The project is surrounded and supported by well-
developed living facilities and excellent education institutes.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Nanjing and Jurong of Zhenjiang

In 2020, contracted sales amount in Nanjing and Jurong of
Zhenjiang was approximately RMB20,021 million and contracted
sales area was 755,927 sq.m.. As of 31 December 2020, total GFA
of the Group's projects in Nanjing and Jurong reached 2,717,604
sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will amount to 778,949
sq.m..

In 2020, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with its
associates and joint ventures) in Nanjing and Jurong of Zhenjiang
comprised of Nanjing Yongningfu:

Nanjing Yongningfu: masterpiece project by the Group in Nanjing.
It is proudly located in the prosperous heart of the Yushan Road,
a national new district in Jiangbei, and situated opposite to Hexi
CBD. The project is about 200 meters away from the Yushan Road
subway station and about 1 km away from the Fifth Yangtze Bridge
providing direct access to the south of Hexi District. It is surrounded
by a variety of facilities such as Wonder City, Pukou Citizen's Centre,
G31 plot for business complex, Hankai Academy and Sujie School.
It is only about 1 km away from Lanxi Wetland Park to get close to
the nature. The project is equipped with high-end club-houses with
heated swimming pool, gyms and yoga rooms.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Xi'an

In 2020, contracted sales amount in Xi'an was approximately
RMB4,997 million and contracted sales area was 344,862 sg.m.. As
at 31 December 2020, total GFA of the Group's projects in Xi'an

reached 2,572,448 sgq.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 1,576,119 sq.m..

In 2020, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with its
associates and joint ventures) in Xi'an comprised of Main Urban Site
DK1 Project:

Introduction of Main Urban Site DK1 Project

The China Merchants Main Urban Site Project is located in Xi'an
International Port District with a total site area of 500 mu. The
project is planned to be developed in three phases. The project on
sale in 2020 was China Merchants Main Urban Site Phase |, locating
at south of freight line and east of west Gangwu Road, Xi'an
International Port District, with a total site area of 79,201.49 sq.m.,
equivalent to 118.80 mu. The project has a total GFA of 277,313
sg.m. and is planned to be developed into 12 blocks of 24-story
high residential buildings, 2 blocks of 9-story residential buildings
and 1 block of 8-story residential building, with residential areas
ranging from 90 to 150 sg.m..
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Asset Management Business

Upon the listing of the China Merchants Commercial Real Estate
Investment Trust (“CMC REIT"”) on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 10 December 2019, the
Company has commenced its REIT management business through
China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the REIT manager of the
CMC REIT. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
recorded asset management services income of approximately
RMB18,074,000 (2019: RMB1,361,000).

FINANCIAL AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT
PRINCIPLES

As at 31 December 2020, the net assets attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to RMB9,500,926,000 (2019:
RMB9,505,741,000).

As at 31 December 2020, bank balances and cash was
RMB9,718,815,000 (2019: RMB8,957,799,000). In terms of currency
denomination, bank balances and cash can be divided into
RMB8,888,476,000 in Renminbi, RMB331,337,000 in US$ and
RMB499,002,000 in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$").

As at 31 December 2020, total interest-bearing debt of the
Group was RMB19,492,774,000 (2019: RMB21,961,032,000). In
terms of maturity, the outstanding total interest-bearing debt can
be divided into RMB11,547,575,000 repayable within one year,
RMB6,457,812,000 repayable after one year but within two years and
RMB1,487,387,000 repayable after two years but within five years.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s net interest-bearing debt
(total interest-bearing debt minus bank balances and cash) to
equity (including non-controlling interests) ratio (the “Net Gearing
Ratio”) was 31% (2019: 45%). Although the financial position of the
Group is stable and the potential financing capacity is strong, the
Group will continue to take the relatively stable financial policies
and to control the net gearing ratio at the industry average level.
The capital cost of the Group still remained at industry-low level. As
at 31 December 2020, the weighted average finance costs is 4.90%.

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions of the
Group are mainly carried and conducted in RMB, US$ and HKS$.
The Group maintains a prudent strategy in its foreign exchange
risk management, where foreign exchange risks are minimised
via balancing the monetary assets versus monetary liabilities. As
at 31 December 2020, the Group did not enter into any derivative
contracts to hedge the foreign exchange exposure.
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NON-COMPETITION DEED

To minimise actual and potential competition, the Group and China
Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd.* (A7 B EZEARAK
BHERAT) (“CMPD") (a company later merged with CMSK (as
defined below) in December 2015) entered into a non-competition
deed on 19 June 2013 as amended and supplemented on 4
October 2013 (the “Non-Competition Deed”). On 30 December
2015, the Company, CMPD and China Merchants Shekou Industrial
Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (BEAREAIXEZERENHERA
al) ("CMSK") Nete T had entered into a deed of amendment and
novation, pursuant to which all the obligations, undertakings,
interests and benefits of CMPD under the Non-Competition Deed
were novated to and undertaken by CMSK in replacement of CMPD
as if CMSK has been a party to the Non-Competition Deed in
substitution of CMPD with effective from 30 December 2015. Other
than that, all the other terms of the Non-Competition Deed shall
remain unchanged N2, On 17 December 2018, the Company and
CMSK entered into an amended and restated non-competition
deed which supersede and replace in its entirety the Non-
Competition Deed (the “Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed"), and subsequently entered into a re-amended and restated
non-competition deed (the “"Re-Amended and Restated Non-
Competition Deed”) on 21 October 2019, which supersede and
replace in its entirely the Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed.

Notes:

1. According to the announcements published by CMSK and CMPD on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, on 30 December 2015, CMSK and CMPD had
completed the major asset restructuring and integration exercise pursuant
to which, among other things, all assets, liabilities, businesses, employees,
contracts and all others rights and obligations of CMPD have been taken up
and assumed by CMSK in replacement of CMPD, CMPD was delisted from
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the shares of CMSK became listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, all with effect from 30 December 2015.

2. In the above paragraph under the heading of “Non-competition Deed”, for the
avoidance of doubt, references to CMSK should be construed as referring to
CMPD in the context of any time before 30 December 2015.
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed,
(i) CMSK and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) (“CMSK Group”)
will not compete with the Group in the cities of Foshan, Guangzhou,
Nanjing, and Jurong (the “Four CML Cities”) except for certain
operation transitional assets (“Operation Transitional Assets”)
located in Foshan which would be retained by CMSK Group but
managed by the Group under certain operation agreement entered
into between the Group and CMSK; (i) with respect to Chongging
and Xi'an, the Company is considering to cease to conduct Property
Business (other than participating in property-related investments
on a minority basis across the PRC (the "Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement”)) in and exit from such two cities in due
course, depending on the results of an annual review process;
(iii) CMSK Group will not compete with the Group in the cities of
Chongging and Xi’an unless the Group ceases to conduct Property
Business (other than the Non-Controlling Investment Arrangement)
in such city; (iv) the Group will not compete with CMSK in 46
other cities in the PRC ("CMSK Cities”) except the Group will
have the rights to participate in the Non-Controlling Investment
Arrangement across the PRC (including the CMSK Cities); (v) the
Group will also be entitled to conduct the Asset Management
Business for office premises in Beijing and Shanghai exclusively,
subject to the duly transfer of all equity interest of CMSK Group
in Asset Management Business for office premises in Beijing and
Shanghai to the Group (the “Proposed Transfer 1”); and (vi) the
Company will no longer have the perpetual right of first refusal to
conduct Property Business (the “Right of First Refusal”) for other
cities in the PRC in which neither the Group nor the CMSK Group
has an Property Business as at the date of the Non-Competition
Deed ("Unoccupied Cities”).
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

Pursuant to the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, the Group will have the rights to participate in the REIT
Management Business for REITs with underlying properties
permitted to be situated in or come from all over the PRC on an
exclusive basis. In return, the Company (by itself or through its
subsidiaries) are entitled to receive cash and/or units in the REITs.
Other than the inclusion of the REIT Management Business and
the updates to the terms with respect to the Asset Management
Business for Office Premises in Beijing and Shanghai in order to
reflect the situation at the time of the completion of the Proposed
Transfer |, the other terms with respect to the (a) Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement; (b) Asset Management Business for
Office Premises in Four CML Cities, Xi'an and Chongqging plus
Beijing and Shanghai; and (c) Property Business of the Re-Amended
and Restated Non-Competition Deed remain unchanged
compared to the Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed.

For details of the Non-Competition Deed and Operation
Transitional Assets, please refer to the section headed
“Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in the circular of
the Company dated 10 October 2013.

For details of the Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, the Four CML Cities, Property Business, Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement, the CMSK Cities, Asset Management
Business, the Proposed Transfer |, the Right of First Refusal and
the Unoccupied Cities, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 10 January 2019.

For the details of the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, REIT Management Business and REITs, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 21 October 2019.
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

The independent board committee comprising all the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, had (i) reviewed the
reports prepared by the Company’s management containing
latest information on the respective property projects portfolios
of CMSK Group and the Group; (ii) carried out a review on the
implementation of and compliance with Re-Amended and Restated
Non-Competition Deed by CMSK Group and the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2020; and (iii) confirmed that the terms of
the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed had been
complied with by CMSK Group and the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

The Group will gradually transform into an asset-light property
operator, while continue to operate its traditional property
development business in Guangzhou, Foshan, Nanjing, Jurong,
Chongging and Xi'an (subject to the Company’s plan to exit from
Chongging and Xi'an). Upon the annual review of the portfolio of
the Group's Property Business for the year ended 31 December
2020, taking into account the financial resources available to the
Group at the relevant time and the relevant market conditions, the
Group decides to continue its Property Business in Chongging and
Xi'an for the time being.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

The year of 2021 is the first year of China’s “14th Five-Year Plan”.
It is necessary for the Company to make proper decisions in a
timely basis. COVID-19 pandemic in overseas is still uncontrolled,
the prospects for the world’'s economic recovery are uncertain,
the multi-field game between China and the United States is
intensified, and China’s domestic reform task is arduous and
strenuous. Profound changes in the environment bring not only new
opportunities, but also new challenges.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

In view of the macro situation, the new round of scientific and
technological revolution is booming, and the multipolar pattern
of the world is increasingly emerging during the game of large
countries, especially the epidemic situation may have a far-reaching
impact on the world's political and economic structure. Despite the
obvious rise of various external uncertainties, China is still in and will
be in an important period of strategic opportunities in a long time,
with in-depth development of informationization, urbanization,
marketization and globalization. Domestic and international double
circulation gives birth to new advantages in national competition,
new infrastructure improves people’s quality of life, and the rapid
development of metropolitan areas breeds economic growth
momentum. The fundamentals of China’s long-term economic
development still remain positive.

In view of industry policies, the principle that “houses are for
living not for speculation” has become a national policy, and the
government will focus on “promoting new urbanization with people
as the core” and “promoting urbanization with county towns as the
important target” in the future. These key instructions have pointed
out the direction for the Company'’s future development. The
Group will study in detail and discover the structural opportunities,
adhere to the patience of deep urban development, and grasp the
opportunities for urban reform.

In view of competitors, the real estate market will continue to
improve under the long-term mechanism of “Three Red Lines”,
"Four-Grade Management” and "“Five-Department Coordination”.
It is expected that the trend of industry concentration and
resource integration will be significantly strengthened. Real
estate enterprises are moving towards the era of “management
premium”. The Company will continuously improve its
management and operation capabilities to reach a higher level,
while adhering to prudent financial strategies and continue to
optimize its financial structure, so as to deliver better results.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Taking the responsibilities of implementing the Group's overseas
strategy, the Group will continue to focus on investment
opportunities in Hong Kong and overseas, increase its participation
in high-quality property development in Hong Kong, and
strengthen the existing stock business of the Company in Hong
Kong, then create a brand effect. The Group will fully capitalise on
the advantages of overseas listing to explore a larger market, and
create values for shareholders.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group had no plans authorised by the Board for material
investments or additions of capital assets as at the date of this
Report.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND
RELATIONS

The Group remunerates the employees by reference to their
qualifications, experience, responsibilities, profitability of the
Group and current market conditions.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 814 (2019: 872) employees
in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group determines its staff remuneration based on various
factors such as qualifications, length of service, market conditions
and performance of the individual employees. A share option
scheme was adopted at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 27 September 2011 (the “2011 Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who have contributed to the success of
the Group's operations. No grants under the 2011 Share Option
Scheme were made during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

BIR - HRRKRR

This report covers the environmental, policies and performance
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2020. The
Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Report prepared
in accordance with Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) will be published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in due course.

GREEN CONSTRUCTION

We have combined the community and environment requirements
into the construction process and conducted investigations in
depth with our cooperative partners to improve construction
management and innovate construction technology. We would
consider using materials available from the neighborhood as much
as possible and to reduce the consumption of materials, energy
and water in the course of construction for creating a clear, clean,
comfortable and safe construction environment. Besides, we also
launched a “Harmonious Neighborhood Scheme” to extensively
collect the opinions from the residents who live nearby with an aim
to doing our best to reduce the effects of construction works on the
surrounding natural, cultural and social environments.

GREEN OFFICE

We have formulated the “Green action guide for employee” to
strengthen the daily management of energy saving and emission
reduction and carry out the education in every corner and to every
employee, making the idea of green development deeply rooted in
their mind to develop the habits of saving energy, water, papers, oil
and gas.

CO-OPERATION WITH INTERNATIONAL
ORGANISATIONS

We build up close ties and co-operative connections with
international organisations like UNEP, UNEP-SBCI, UNEP GI-REC,
WWEF to combine each other’s edges to promote the sustainable
development.
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SAFE AND CIVILISED CONSTRUCTION

The Company has set up a Safety Management Committee.
Each project has established its own safety management team to
proactively promote the standardised management of safe and
civilised construction so as to protect the health and safety of
every front line construction workers and back office staff with best
efforts.

REINFORCEMENT OF SAFE AND CIVILISED
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT

We have strengthened the measures to achieve a safe and
standardised construction. We have organised and updated
management requirements and practices for safe and civilised
construction with a precise goal of safe and civilised construction
management. We have strengthened the investigation standard
for hidden dangers on-site. We carry out regular safety check
and introduce the assessment system for subcontractors in order
to ensure the worry-free construction. No fire accident, major
equipment safety and casualty accidents occurred during the year.

PURSUIT OF “ZERO” ENERGY WASTAGE IN
CONSTRUCTION

Following the consolidation process and with many years of
experience, we have gradually forged an ecological and high
efficient green technology system. The development model for
green construction was also upgraded into a comprehensive model
with combination of “Green Planning”, “
and “Energy Saving through Action” from the traditional technique

application. As early as in 2015, the Company built up a green

Technique Application”

research and development and application system named "“Green
Life+"” and issued the "Green Ranking Guide” and "Energy
Efficiency Management Guide” in order to continuously promote
the innovation and breakthrough of the green technology.

PROTECTING THE BIO-DIVERSITY

We have implemented the idea of protecting the bio-diversity
throughout the core process of our development and operation
and pay attention to protecting the original natural vegetation
and the habitats in the development zone during the process
of planning and project construction. Through these efforts, we
systematically repair the eco-system which is degenerated or
damaged by project development. In addition, by building the
landscape water system and seedling transplantation according
to location and situations, we can reduce the effects of project
development on local environment.
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EQUAL EMPLOYMENT AND DIVERSITY

Our recruitment principles are on the basis of fairness, justice and
transparency. We provide every employee an equal employment
opportunity. No employee will face differential treatment for their
gender, age, ethnicity or cultural background. We try our best effort
to provide an ideal career environment for their development.

RIGHT PROTECTION OF CONSTRUCTION
WORKERS

The Company is highly concerned about the right protection of
the front line construction workers. It has incorporated a system to
evaluate the performance of potential suppliers in safeguarding
construction worker’s rights. In selecting partners, we have taken
into account the protective measures with our standard evaluation
system. We conduct regular checks and monitor contractors to
ensure they have complied with protective measures and have
adequately implemented the policies, with a view to safeguard the
rights of construction workers.

Wages Guarantee
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Safety Guarantee
RERE

Require the general contractor to open a specialised
account for depositing of workers’ wages and deposit
the wages in advance
BRIBEXEBHFARIATIERECEF, BFLIE
RED

Implement real-name system management for
workers, establish an alert mechanism for worker's
wage and inspect regularly on the payment of worker’s
wage by the construction cooperation units

B IABRGIERE BYIATEREHT - FH
BESERIEMNTATEERER

Require the general contractor to pay the wages
of its own workers in priority and consider this as
a compulsory check item in the annual review of
qualified suppliers
EXBTRABRBBEIMNMBIATLE  UHEE
REEARHTIELER

Deploy facilities for safety production and industrial
diseases protection pursuant to the requirements and
provide compliant protective equipment for workers
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B ERNSEHI M

Construction unit must execute their works according
to construction practice guidelines on site, and simple
medical facility must be equipped on site

e LB AR T b TAR ST » RIS L AR B
BEMBRERE

Strictly implement the Company’s three-tier safety
education system and prevent the occurrence of
workers attending for work without receiving the
three-tier safety education
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BUILDING UP RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN

As the Company regards supply chain competitiveness as one of
the core corporate competitiveness, we have maintained supply
chain management strategy of balancing between quality and
efficiency. Through the standardised and specialised suppliers’
closed-loop management system and open communication sharing
mechanism between suppliers, we strived to build up a responsible
supply chain, to facilitate and strengthen for mutual interests with
the enterprises in the supply chain.

SAFEGUARD THE INTERESTS OF
SUPPLIERS

We have maintained a concept of purchasing under a transparent
and open regime, and hence we have strengthened tendering
process and enhanced the standardisation and specialisation of
tendering. We have strived to explore new paths for purchasing
information and have stringently complied with the contracts, and
have safeguarded the basic rights of suppliers with fairmness, justice
and openness.

ASSESSMENT AND REVIEW OF SUPPLIERS

We highly recognised a long-term cooperation relationship
with our suppliers and has built up a positive cycle of general
purchasing, annual cooperation and strategic purchasing. We have
enhanced the comprehensiveness and closed-loop management
for certification, selection, examination and assessment towards
suppliers from different levels and types. We have identified and
fostered possible strategic relation with our suppliers through the
ERP Purchasing Management Platform.
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UPGRADE OF SUPPLIERS’ CAPABILITIES

The stable operation of the Company and long-term development
are supported by the high-quality supply chain, which also favors
the core concept of our corporation and implementation of our
social responsibilities. We will help the suppliers to enhance their
competitiveness, achieve a mutual development with suppliers and
create a continuous win-win approach and development through
various measures and activities. From unilateral examination to
bilateral examination, we invite professional consultant agency
to conduct satisfaction research to suppliers from engineering,
marketing, design and properties and put their feedback into the
evaluation of the project management. We also build a monthly
report system for key suppliers and have senior management
conducting on-site visit for key suppliers and regularly invite
outstanding partners to share their sophisticated experience in
order to mutually improve the ability to perform both parties’
duties. Meanwhile, we endeavor to cultivate strategic suppliers
with high quality for long-term cooperation. For those suppliers
with high quality, they will be registered in our selected unit
automatically and entitled to higher percentage of payments upon
goods delivered and awarded with public recognition. For existing
issues, we will sort out corresponding solutions one by one.

REMUNERATION BENEFITS

While ensuring the market competitiveness of our employees’
remunerations, we implement the remuneration system closely
linked with performance to further create an environment where
the interests of the Company and employees are aligned. Under
the principles of complying with the requirements of the laws and
regulations and providing our employees with assurance, we build
a comprehensive benefit system with multiple levels to ensure a
stable growth and development for our employees.

Subject to shareholders’ approval at general meeting, the
emoluments are determined by the Board of Directors of the
Company by reference to the qualification, experience, job duties,
responsibilities and performance and results of the Group and
market conditions. Details of Directors’ and Chief Executive's and
Employee’s Emoluments are set out in note 11 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We embrace the core values of the Company to build an
appropriate talent development strategy and talent promotion
path, comprehensively promote a multi-level employees training
system, strive to provide a broad platform for employee’s
development and achieve the goal of enterprise development on
the basis of employee’s development.

EMPLOYEES’ DEVELOPMENT PATH

We emphasise the professional and occupational growth of
the employees, and we provide the employees with two major
development paths of managerial talent and professional technical
talent. Employees can choose the development path according
to their own career development direction incorporated with
the position requirement of the Company to realise a win-win
situation on both the Company's development and the employee’s
development.

STAFF TRAINING

We have been maximising the inputs on staff training and
accelerating the optimisation of staff training system. After years of
fulfillment, optimisation and innovation, we have developed a staff
training system with three main elements, which are leadership,
professional capability and general performance, in order to
provide a favorable platform for staff's development.

COMMUNICATION WITH EMPLOYEES

With a view to enhance communication between the staff and
the management, the Group requires every project company to
organise different types of face-to-face communication seminar
regularly throughout the year. Our staff can share their ideas and
needs to the management directly while they can get an instant
responses. Furthermore, it was a brilliant time for the management
to point out their objective and vision to their staff. These seminars
can strengthen both parties’ mutual understandings and break any
barriers between them.

SHAREHOLDERS’ AND INVESTORS’
RELATIONSHIPS

Shareholders’ and investors’ relationships are set out in the section
headed "“Corporate Governance Report” on page 93 to 117 of this
annual report.
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OPERATION IN COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

The Company strictly complies with the national laws and
regulations, international practices and business ethics, and fulfills
the theme of the central government and China Merchants Group
— “Three-Strictness and Three-Solidness (=& = &)" to strengthen
the practice of building and establishing the implementation of
responsibility and promote the culture of corruption-free and
prevention and punishment system comprehensively. We will
consciously accept the supervision from relevant authorities and
strive to become a good example of operating in compliance with

the law and with honesty and integrity.

The Company is concerned about the establishment of a corporate
legal advising system and has strengthened the legal culture
and research development. The Company has promoted the
compliance works and integration of operation management, so
as to enable the operation of the Company to be in compliance
with the applicable law requirements and contemporary corporate
governance requirements and interests from relevant parties.

We have introduced specific training programmes that meet with
industry’s requirement, with a view to enhance the legal awareness
of our employees, in particular the frontline staff.

We will introduce two-rounds of on-site inspections and promote
the legal risk awareness while building up the precaution
mechanism of legal disputes and achieving an efficient and in
advance control of legal risks.

STRENGTHENING RISK CONTROL

With a view to achieve strategic targets, we have developed a
risk management system on the basis of forward-looking and
systematised comprehensiveness, which can also serve as a
platform connecting to the risk management system of the
professional departments covering operating level and business
level. Meanwhile, we will gradually incorporate the non-financial
risks management systems, including environmental protection and
anti-corruption, into the comprehensive risk management system
and these can further reduce the potential risks in the operation
processes of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEHRE

ok

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the "Company”, and together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) are pleased to present to the
shareholders their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for year ended 31 December 2020

(the "Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
subsidiaries are engaged in the following principal activities:

()  development, sale, lease, investment and management of
properties;

(i)  assets management; and

(i) investment holding.

SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

Details of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
set out in note 44 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on page 127.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.07 (equivalent to approximately RMB0.057) per share in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2020, representing a
total payment of approximately HK$343,368,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB279,600,000). The proposed final dividend is
subject to the approval of the relevant resolution at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held, the final
dividend is expected to be paid on or about 30 June 2021 to
shareholders.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year, which
includes an analysis of the Group's performance using financial key
performance indicators, a discussion on the Group's future business
development are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on page 26 to 50 of this annual report.
The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.
The principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may face,
particulars of important events affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the financial year, and an indication of
likely future development in the Company’s business are set out in
the section headed "Chairman’s Statement” on page 6 to 9 of this
annual report. A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and relationships with its key stakeholders and investors are set out
in the sections headed "Environmental, Policies and Performance”
on page 571 to page 57 of this annual report. The compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have significant impact on the
Group is set out in this Directors’ report. The reviews form part of
this statement.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 47 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

The Directors consider that the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders amounted to RMB2,360,029,000
(2019: RMB4,237,106,000). Under Chapter 22 of the Companies
Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum and
Avrticles of Association and provided that immediately following the
distribution of dividend the Company is able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
of 2020.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of total purchases.

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers
were less than 30% of total turnover.

As far as the Directors are aware of, neither the Directors, their
close associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules")), nor any shareholders which, to the knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital, had any interest in the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements and restated as appropriate, is set out on
page 292. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The Group has contingent liabilities amounted to RMB5,567,473,000
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB3,148,783,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, land included in properties for sale
and located in Chongging, Foshan, Nanjing and Jurong with
carrying values of approximately RMB3,424,620,000 (2019:
RMB$,348,122,000) and investment properties with carrying values
of approximately RMB1,274,083,000 (2019: Nil) have been pledged
to secure bank borrowings amounting to RMB2,222,409,000 (2019:
RMB1,501,276,000) granted to the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BONDS

Details of the bonds of the Group are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement scheme of the Group are set out in note 36
to the consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of
this report were:

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. XU Yongjun
Mr. HUANG Junlong
Ms. LIU Ning

Executive Directors:

Dr. SO Shu Fai
Mr. YU Zhiliang
Mr. WONG King Yuen

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert
Ms. CHEN Yanping

Dr. SHI Xinping

Mr. HE Qi

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. HUANG Junlong, Ms. LIU Ning, Mr. WONG King
Yuen and Dr. SHI Xinping shall retire at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting ("AGM") to be held on 26 May 2021. All the
above retiring Directors, being eligible, shall offer themselves
for re-election at the AGM. The Company has received annual
confirmations of independence from each of the independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT
LAWS AND REGULATIONS THAT HAVE A
SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON THE COMPANY

Throughout the Year, to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief, the Directors were not aware of any non-compliance
by the Company with any relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Insurance cover in respect of liability against the Directors arising
from their offices and execution of their powers, duties and
responsibilities has been arranged and in force during the Year.
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DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group had not made any donation.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than normal statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executives of the Company in the shares or
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571) of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
"SFO")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions in which he was deemed or taken to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company KAEEBR TR
Percentage of
the Company'’s
Number of issued
ordinary share capital
Name of director Nature of interest shares held EEATE
EENSE ERME L BEREE BITRAB AL
SO Shu Fai Through controlled corporations (Note) 32,054,066 0.65%

g XS 2 RERAE (i)

Note: These shares were directly held by Skill China Limited (“Skill China”), which is
owned as to 90% by Dr. SO Shu Fai, an executive Director of the Company, and
10% by Mr. SO Man Cho, the son of Dr. SO Shu Fai. By virtue of Part XV of the
SFO, Dr. SO Shu Fai is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Skill China.
Skill China is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)

Long positions in underlying shares of associated
corporation

BEENSRNITHABENAD T E AR
EERG  HERORESFEERZR
KRB 4)

MEEE B AR R < iR

Approximately

Number of percentage (%)

underlying in the

Shares associated

involved™ot corporation

Name of director Nature of interest & AE 8 AREEE 2

EEpE EatE gk - 4= BAE D (%)

XU Yongjun Beneficial owner 359,466* 0.00%
FFKE EmMEA

HUANG Junlong Beneficial owner 124,000 0.00%
=E BB A

LIU Ning Beneficial owner 148,601* 0.00%
gl EmfEA

Note*: These are interests in associated corporation, CMSK, an indirect controlling
shareholder.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including the interests and short positions in
which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained
in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS
TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Apart from the information as disclosed under the heading
"DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS", at no time during the Year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors or
their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; nor was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiary corporations or fellow subsidiary corporations a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective
spouses or minor children to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, the following interests of 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO:

RHAEBUBRORES 22 H

B IEFEREMITBRABNARRREREBIEE 2K
D~ BB REFZBERAR IBEZEMS
FREMSEREREMNEETRER B ZABHIRK
FFARHNBERBEARBARNAEFESFN D 2
A WERBETEEMAEERN  AAR - HiEkR
AR RO FNSIEADES = FNCIDI 5 S RVAS
FEELEE B ZRBRARKF F LR EMEMRE
EEESHRBEN ZEMREE -

FTERREEMALTRART KRG K
RO 2 EERAR

REZBZZFF-_A=+—H  NIRARARB#ET
P A 5% Ek LA E#E 5 B AR SRR I 5 R B B 15D
FEIFEARRBFE 2 ERE LA

Percentage of
the Company'’s

Number of ordinary shares held issued share

Capacity and nature ESEEgElE 4= capital
Name of interest Long position Short position  {hARATE BT
£ BORERME wE wRE [N
China Merchants Group Ltd. ("CMG") Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
BRREEERAR([RERER]) HMXEHZ AREE
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone ~ Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK")
BBk TERERBRNOER AT HXEHz AREE
(MMBawn))
Eureka Investment Company Limited Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
("Eureka")
hRRAEEERAR([HE]) MY EHz 2GRS
Success Well Investments Limited Beneficial interest 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%

("Success Well")
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

As at 31 December 2020, approximately 74.35% of the issued share
capital of the Company is directly held by Success Well. Success
Well is 20% and 80% owned by Good Ease Holdings Limited
("Good Ease”) and Eureka respectively. Good Ease was wholly-
owned by Eureka, which was in turn wholly-owned by CMSK. CMG
directly or indirectly owned more than 63% of the issued share
capital of CMSK, and CMG is owned and controlled by the SASAC
of the PRC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, no person other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section "INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS" above, had
registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS AND
DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiary corporations
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has
received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of
a contract made by the Company or a related company with
the Director or with a firm of which he is a shareholder or with a
company in which he has a substantial financial interest.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed "CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” (except for connected transactions at the
subsidiary level), “"CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS”
and “NON-COMPETITION DEED" in this report, there were no
contract of significance between any member of the Group and the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or contract of significance for the
provision of services to any member of the Group by a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted as at the end of the
Year or during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, all Directors declared that they do not have
interests in the businesses, which compete or are likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The 2011 Share Option Scheme was adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 27 September 2011 for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who have contributed to the success of the Group's operations.
No grants under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were made during
the year ended 31 December 2020. Since the adoption of the 2011
Share Option Scheme on 27 September 2011 (“Adoption Date”)
and up to and including 31 December 2020, no share option has
ever been granted under it.

A brief summary of the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme is
set out below:

1. Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the scheme is to enable the Group to grant
share options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2.

Participants of the scheme

The Directors may within a period of ten (10) years
commencing from the 2011 Share Option Scheme make offer
for the grant of options to subscribe for Shares to eligible
participants, namely, (a) any full time employee, executive
or executive director of the Company, its subsidiaries or
any entity in which any member of the Group holds any
equity interest; (b) any non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any
subsidiary or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”); (c) any supplier of
goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (d) any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (e) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business development of
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (h) any
other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth
of the Group, and, for the purposes of the scheme, the offer
may be made to any company wholly owned by one or more
eligible participants mentioned above.

Total number of securities available for issue under the
scheme and percentage

According to the scheme mandate limit approved by
the shareholders on the Adoption Date, the Directors
are authorised to grant share options to subscribe up to
106,846,886 Shares, representing 10% of the total number of
issued shares as at the Adoption Date. As no offer for grant of
share options has ever been made under the scheme, the total
number of Shares underlying the share options available for
grant is 106,846,886 Shares, representing approximately 2% of
the total number of issued shares as at the date of this annual
report. As there are no options granted under the scheme and
hence there are no outstanding options under the scheme, the
total number of Shares available for issued under the scheme

is zero.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

4.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the Options and the options granted
under any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each Grantee in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being.

Period within which Shares must be taken up under an
option

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option shall not be later than 10 years from the date the option
is granted.

Minimum period before an option can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance and period within which
payment must be made

HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the option within 21 days
from its date of grant.

Basis for determining exercise price

The exercise price in respect of any option shall, subject to any
adjustments made pursuant to the terms of scheme, be at the
discretion of the Directors, provided that it shall be at least the
highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or
more board lots of the Shares on the date of grant;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and

(¢) the nominal value of a Share.

Life of the scheme

The scheme has a life of 10 years commencing from the
Adoption Date and will expire on the 10th anniversary of the
Adoption Date, namely, 27 September 2021.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

M

On 27 April 2020, China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone
Holdings Company Limited (“CMSK") and China Merchants
Land (Shenzhen) Limited* (B & B & # OFJI) R A 7))
("Shenzhen Merchants”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement
A, pursuant to which CMSK agreed to sell and Shenzhen
Merchants agreed to acquire 49% equity interests in Nanjing
Xinsheng Commercial Management Co., Ltd.* (F 215 &S
X¥EHAMRATF) (“Nanjing Xinsheng”) at a consideration of
RMB389,052,700. On the same day, Happy City Investments
Limited (#E & EBR A7) (“Happy City”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Shenzhen Merchants
entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement B, pursuant to
which Happy City agreed to sell and Shenzhen Merchants
agreed to acquire 9.66% equity interests in Nanjing Xinsheng
at a consideration of RMB76,699,000. Upon completion of the
Acquisitions, Nanjing Xinsheng will become an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

As at 27 April 2020, CMSK held approximately 74.35% of the
Company's issued share capital and is therefore a controlling
shareholder and connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Therefore, the entering into of the Equity
Transfer Agreement A and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constitute a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is
subject to the reporting, announcement and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

For further details of the above-mentioned transactions,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 27
April 2020 and the circular of the Company dated 11 June
2020.

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

@2

On 13 September 2020, China Merchants Property
Development (Guangzhou) Limited* (BMNBEEHEFRA
A7), as the Vendor, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement
with the China Merchants RenHe Elderly Care Investment
Limited*(HBRABLCMEEZREBR R F), as the Purchaser,
pursuant to which the Vendor agreed to sell, and the Purchaser
agreed to acquire the six properties located at Blocks 7, 8, 9,
10, 11 and 12, No. 139, Dongyi Road, Donghuan Street, Panyu
District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC at a
consideration of RMB527,000,000.

As at 13 September 2020, China Merchants Group Limited (3
HREEABRAF) (“"CMG"), the controlling shareholder of
the Company, is a connected person of the Company. The
Purchaser is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Merchants
RenHe Life Insurance Company Limited* (188 B FIAZRE
R AB R A 7)) (“RenHe Life Insurance”), which in turn is held as
to 33.33% by CMG. Accordingly, the Purchaser is an associate
of CMG and hence a connected person of the Company at
issuer level pursuant to Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing Rules. The
entering into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement between
the Vendor and the Purchaser constitutes a connected
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and is therefore subject to the reporting, announcement
and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details of the above-mentioned transactions,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 13
September 2020 and the circular of the Company dated 6
November 2020.

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

3)

On 23 November 2020, China Merchants Property (Nanjing)
Limited* (BERME (BR) BR2AF) (“Merchants
Nanjing”) (an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company) entered into the Cooperation Agreement with
Sichuan Guida, Jiangsu Poly, Wuhan Sanxing and Nanjing
New Hope for the development of the 2020G15 land in
Nanjing through Nanjing Jinhua Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd.* (A RIBEEXBFR AR (the “Project Company”). The
details of Sichuan Guida, Jiangsu Poly, Wuhan Sanxing and
Nanjing New Hope are set out below:

Sichuan Guida: Sichuan Guida Industrial Co., Limited* (PUJI| &
EBEFEAMRATR)Is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
Sichuan New Hope Property Development Ltd.* (8)1%71% £
FEiEFIZEAR AR, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief having made all reasonable enquiries,
the ultimate beneficial owner of Sichuan New Hope Property
Development Ltd.* is Mr. LIU Yonghao (25K 47).

Jiangsu Poly: Jiangsu Poly Ningsheng Real Estate
Development Co., Limited* (IERFERFEHEREFR
‘A\)) is a company established in the PRC and is principally
engaged in property development in the PRC, and is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Poly Development
Holding Group Limited* ((RFZE RIFREEKRMNFR DA, a
listed company in Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code
600048.

Wuhan Sanxing: Wuhan Sanxing Enterprise Management
Consulting Co., Ltd* (RZ=APEFABTEERARF) is a
company established in the PRC and is principally engaged in
property development in the PRC, and is an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of Langold Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (A& %
f&n BBR AR, a listed company in Shenzhen Stock Exchange
with stock code 002305.

Nanjing New Hope: Nanjing New Hope Real Estate Co.,
Ltd* (AR A LEEFEBR AR is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Sichuan New Hope Property Development Ltd.*
(% B EREFRAR).

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

3)

(continued)

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, Merchants Nanjing,
Jiangsu Poly, Wuhan Sanxing and Sichuan Guida shall bear the
land price of RMB1,060 million in proportion to their proposed
respective shareholdings in the Project Company, being 25%
each, respectively.

According to the Cooperation Agreement, the initial
registered capital of the Project Company is RMB30 million,
which shall be increased to RMB79.5 million and further
increased to RMB318 million upon completion of the
Cooperation Agreement, which shall be contributed and
held by each of Merchants Nanjing, Jiangsu Poly, Wuhan
Sanxing and Sichuan Guida according to their respective
shareholdings in the Project Company. The Group's share of
the total estimated investment is approximately RMB371.87
million.

Poly Jiangsu Real Estate Development Co., Limited* (fR 7]
TEEHEZERARAT]) (“Poly Jiangsu Real Estate”), a
substantial shareholder of the Company’s non-wholly owned
subsidiary, Nanjing Shanjieyi Property Development Company
Limited* (M RENEFBHERZEBR AT, is a connected
person of the Company at the subsidiary level. Jiangsu Poly
is a subsidiary of Poly Jiangsu Real Estate, and therefore, is
an associate of connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level pursuant to Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the entering into of the Cooperation Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details of the above-mentioned transactions,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23
November 2020 and the supplemental announcement of the
Company dated 26 November 2020.

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

@

On 23 November 2020, Chongging Merchants Yi Cheng
Property Development Co., Ltd.* (EE K F tZE
BEHR A A (“Chongging Merchants Yi Cheng”) entered
into the Joint Bidding Cooperation Framework Agreement
with Hongkong Land (Chongging) Development Company
Limited* (EE R ERFMEREERAF]) ("Hongkong Land
(Chongging)”) in respect of their joint bidding of the land
in Chongging, pursuant to which Chongging Merchants Vi
Cheng and Hongkong Land (Chongging) shall (i) establish the
bidding entity in the shareholding proportion of 51% and 49%,
respectively and (ii) pay the security deposit in the amount of
RMB187,618,800 and RMB180,261,200, respectively.

Century Lord Limited (tf#8G R A 7)), a substantial shareholder
of Pride Oasis Limited, an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, is a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level. Century Lord Limited (it
FAHR 7)) and Hongkong Land (Chongqing) are fellow
subsidiaries under the control of Hongkong Land Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability and has a standard listing on the London Stock
Exchange (LSE: HKLD), with secondary listings in Bermuda
(BSX: HKLBD.BH) and Singapore (SGX: H78). Hongkong
Land (Chongging), therefore, is an associate of a connected
person of the Company at the subsidiary level pursuant to
Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the entering
into of the Joint Bidding Cooperation Framework Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details of the above-mentioned transactions,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23
November 2020 and the supplemental announcement of the
Company dated 26 November 2020.

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

©)

On 24 November 2020, Guangzhou Merchants Property
Development Limited* (EMBEFHEFR QA
("Guangzhou Merchants”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Capital Increase
Agreement with the Foshan Qinghao Real Estate Co.,
Ltd.* (BEILTH/BHEEZEBMRAF]) (“Project Company”) and
Poly Southern China Industry Co., Ltd.* ((RFIZEEEXH
[R27]) ("Poly Southern China”) for the development of
the land in Foshan through the Project Company and the
increase in the registered capital of the Project Company
from RMB50,000,000 to RMB3,250,000,000, which shall
be contributed as to 50% by Guangzhou Merchants and
50% by Poly Southern China, respectively. Pursuant to the
Capital Increase Agreement, Guangzhou Merchants has
agreed to make a capital contribution in the amount of
RMB1,625,000,000 in cash to the registered capital of the
Project Company. The Group's share of the estimated total
investment is approximately RMB2,781,730,000.

Poly Jiangsu Real Estate Development Co., Limited* ({f}
FI#FEHEZERBRAR]) ("Poly Jiangsu”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company’s non-wholly owned subsidiary,
Nanjing Shanjieyi Property Development Company Limited*
(ARENEEHEREERAR), is a connected person of
the Company at the subsidiary level. Poly Southern China
and Poly Jiangsu are fellow subsidiaries under the control
of Poly Development Holding Group Limited* ((RFIZ/E
RSB (D AR A 7). Poly Southern China, therefore, is
an associate of connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level pursuant to Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules.
The Project Company is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Poly Southern China as at 24 November 2020, and therefore,
also an associate of connected person of the Company at
the subsidiary level pursuant to Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the entering into of the Capital Increase
Agreement also constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details of the above-mentioned transactions,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24
November 2020 and the circular of the Company dated 16
April 2021.

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

©)

On 25 November 2020, China Merchants Property (Nanjing)
Limited* (HrBHE (B R )BRAF) (“Merchants Nanjing”)
(an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company)
entered into the Cooperation Agreement with Jiangsu Poly,
Wuhan Fanyue, Nanjing Yiju and Nanjing New Hope for the
development of the 2020G16 land in Nanjing through the
Nanjing Yuelin Property Development Company Limited* (Fg
R R B EF AR A R]) (“Project Company”). The details
of Jiangsu Poly, Wuhan Fanyue, Nanjing Yiju and Nanjing New
Hope are set out below:

Jiangsu Poly: Jiangsu Poly Ningheng Real Estate Development
Co., Limited* (T &R H| 285 i E R R 2 7)) is a company
established in the PRC and is principally engaged in property
development in the PRC, and is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Poly Development Holding Group Limited* ({f&
Rz R EBID AR AR, a listed company in Shanghai
Stock Exchange with stock code 600048;

Wuhan Fanyue: Wuhan Fanyue Enterprise Management
Consulting Co., Ltd* (FUEZ N EEBIRZAEBRARF) is a
company established in the PRC and is principally engaged
in management consultation and property investment in
the PRC, and is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
Langold Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (AEIEZERMNBR AR, a
listed company in Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code
002305;

Nanjing Yiju: Nanjing Yiju Construction Co. Ltd.* (B REEE
ZRAER AT is a company established in the PRC and is
principally engaged in property development in the PRC, and
is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Nanjing State-owned
Assets Investment Management Holding (Group) Co. Ltd.* (g
RMBEEEREEEER(ER)BREEAQR), its ultimate
beneficial owner is State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of Nanjing Municipal Government

(FERTARBAEAEEEEEERRS),

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

©)

(continued)

Nanjing New Hope: Nanjing New Hope Real Estate Co., Ltd*
(ARFHLEEABRAA) is a company established in the
PRC and is principally engaged in property development in
the PRC, and is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Sichuan
New Hope Property Development Ltd.* (Z8)11 %1% £ F i ZE F
EARATA), its ultimate beneficial owner is Mr. LIU Yonghao
(5K e 5).

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, Merchants Nanjing,
Jiangsu Poly, Wuhan Fanyue, Nanjing Yiju and Nanjing
New Hope shall bear the land price of RMB1,360 million in
proportion to their proposed respective shareholdings in the
Project Company, being 20% each, respectively.

According to the Cooperation Agreement, the initial
registered capital of the Project Company is RMB20,000,000.
Upon completion of the Cooperation Agreement, the
registered capital of the Project Company shall be increased
to RMB60,000,000, which shall be contributed and held by
each of Merchants Nanjing, Jiangsu Poly, Wuhan Fanyue,
Nanjing Yiju and Nanjing New Hope according to their
respective shareholdings in the Project Company.

Poly Jiangsu Real Estate Development Co., Limited* (fR 7]
TEEHEZRRBRAT]) (“Poly Jiangsu Real Estate”), a
substantial shareholder of the Company’s non-wholly owned
subsidiary, Nanjing Shanjieyi Property Development Company
Limited* (MR ENEFBHERZEBRAT]), is a connected
person of the Company at the subsidiary level. Jiangsu Poly
is a subsidiary of Poly Jiangsu Real Estate, and therefore, is
an associate of connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level pursuant to Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the entering into of the Cooperation Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details of the above-mentioned transactions,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 25
November 2020.

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

)

On 4 December 2020, Chongqging Merchants Yi Ku Business
Management Co., Ltd.* (EEBEEEBEETEBRAR),
as the Tenant, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Tenancy Agreement with the
Chongging Sinotrans Storage & Transportation Co., Ltd.* (&
EINEREERPR AT, as the Landlord, for the lease of the
Property A, Property B and Warehouse C located at Keyuan
No. 2 Road, Shigiaopu, Jiulongpo District, Chongging, the
PRC (the "Premises”) for a rental term of twenty years.

The Landlord is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Merchants Group Limited (BB REBEABRAF]) ("CMG"),
which is a controlling shareholder of the Company and a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the Landlord
is an associate of CMG and hence a connected person of
the Company at issuer level pursuant to Rule 14A.13(3) of the
Listing Rules. The Group, as the tenant, will recognize right-
of-use assets according to HKFRS 16, with the value of such
right-of-use assets to be recognized being approximately
RMB129,538,970. The transaction under the Tenancy
Agreement shall be regarded as an acquisition of asset under
the definition of transaction set out in Rule 14.04(1)(a) and
Rule 14A.24(1) of the Listing Rules. Therefore, the Tenancy
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details of the above-mentioned transactions,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 4
December 2020 and the supplemental announcement of the
Company dated 23 December 2020.

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

@)

On 16 December 2020, Guangzhou Merchants Property
Development Limited* (EMBREAEHEFR QR
("Guangzhou Merchants”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Cooperation
Agreement with Guangdong Poly Urban Development
Co., Ltd.* (ERRFMTERABMRAF) (“"Poly Urban
Development”) and Guangzhou Baosui Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
(BINRIEBEEBMRAR]) (the “Project Company”) for the
development of the land in Guangzhou (the “Land”) through
the Project Company.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, Guangzhou
Merchants and Poly Urban Development shall bear the
land price of RMB4,689,780,000, the initial contribution of
RMB40,000,000, tax, expenses and total investment amount in
connection to the development of the Land in proportion to
their respective shareholdings in the Project Company of 50%
and 50%.

According to the Cooperation Agreement, the initial
registered capital of the Project Company is RMB10,000,000.
Upon completion of the Cooperation Agreement, the
registered capital of the Project Company shall be increased
to RMB4,000,000,000, which shall be contributed and held by
each of Guangzhou Merchants and Poly Urban Development
according to their respective shareholdings in the Project
Company of 50% and 50%.

Poly Jiangsu Real Estate Development Co., Limited* ({f&
MIERFEHEZERABMR AT ("Poly Jiangsu”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company’s subsidiary, Nanjing Shanjieyi
Property Development Company Limited* (IR &RNEFHE
FEHRAR]), is a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level. Poly Urban Development and Poly Jiangsu
are fellow subsidiaries under the control of Poly Development
Holding Group Limited* (R ZERZEREERO ER LD
Al). Poly Urban Development, therefore, is an associate of
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level
pursuant to Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules. The Project
Company is a subsidiary of Poly Urban Development as at
the date of the Cooperation Agreement, and therefore, also
an associate of connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level pursuant to Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the entering into of the Cooperation Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details of the above-mentioned transactions,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16
December 2020.

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

M

OPERATION AGREEMENT

On 30 January 2019, the Company entered into the Operation
Agreement with CMSK pursuant to which the Group will
provide project operational support services to CMSK,
including but not limited to taking charge of land acquisition,
project development and sales, commencing from 30 January
2019 up to 31 December 2021 (both days inclusive). CMSK
is the controlling shareholder of the Company holding
approximately 74.35% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

The annual cap for the transaction under the Operation
Agreement was set at RMB 1 million for the year of 2020.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT MASTER AGREEMENT

On the same date, the Company also entered into the
Property Management Master Agreement with Merchants
Property Management pursuant to which Merchants Property
Management, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMSK, will
provide property management services to the Group’s PRC
operating subsidiaries, commencing from 30 January 2019 up
to 31 December 2021 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the transaction under the Property
Management Master Agreement was set at RMB200 million for
the year of 2020.

Details, including the annual caps, of both Operation
Agreement and Property Management Master Agreement,
please refer to the Announcement of the Company dated 30
January 2019.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

@

Reference is made to and as disclosed in the Offering
Circular of the CMC REIT dated 28 November 2019 that
(i) CMC REIT was constituted by the Trust Deed entered
into on 15 November 2019 between China Merchants Land
Asset Management Co., Limited (the “"CMLAM") (as the
REIT Manager), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the Trustee, and (i) following the completion
of the global offering of the units of CMC REIT, Eureka
Investment Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CMSK, being a controlling shareholder of the Company,
would become a holder of the units of CMC REIT holding
more than 30% of the issued units of CMC REIT. CMLAM
has been providing the REIT Management Services to CMC
REIT pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed. Since CMSK
is a connected person of the Company by virtue of being a
controlling shareholder of the Company, CMC REIT is deemed
as an associate of CMSK under the Listing Rules, the REIT
Management Services provided by CMLAM to CMC REIT
under the Trust Deed constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The annual cap for the transaction under the Trust Deed set for
the year of 2020 was RMB26,630,000.

More details, including the annual caps, are disclosed in
the Announcement dated 28 November 2019 and the
supplemental announcement dated 25 March 2020 of the
Company.

On 7 April 2017, Merchants Guangzhou as landlord and
Guangzhou China Merchants — Colisée Senior Care Services
Co., Ltd. (BEMBEASFEZZZRBEBER A A (“Merchants
— Colisée Senior Care”) (a company established under the
laws of the PRC with limited liability, which is an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of CMSK), as tenant entered into a
tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”) in respect of
a four-storey building located at Block 12, No. 139, Dongyi
Road, Donghuan Street, Panyu District, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC (the “Property”), for a rental
term of three years subject to automatic renewal for three
times, the cap of the aggregate of which will be ten years.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

3)

(continued)

The annual cap of the aggregate maximum amount payable
by Merchants — Colisée Senior Care to Merchants Guangzhou
under the Tenancy Agreement for each of the 11 financial
years ending 31 December 2027 and the detail of the Tenancy
Agreement are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
7 April 2017 for information.

The annual cap for the transaction under the aforementioned
agreement for the year of 2020 was set at RMB6,510,042.

Merchants — Colisée Senior Care is an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of CMSK which is the intermediate
holding company of the Company. Accordingly, the Tenancy
Agreement entered into by Merchants Guangzhou and
Merchants — Colisée Senior Care, and the transaction
contemplated thereby constitutes a continuing connected
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. However, as the maximum annual rental receivable
under the Tenancy Agreement is not expected to exceed
5% of the applicable percentage ratios calculated under the
Listing Rules, the transaction contemplated under the Tenancy
Agreement is only subject to the reporting, annual review and
announcement requirements but exempt from the circular
(including independent financial advice) and shareholders’
approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the
Listing Rules.

Given that the terms of the Tenancy Agreement were
negotiated on an arm’s length basis with reference to the
market standard, the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) consider that the terms of the
Tenancy Agreement are fair and reasonable, on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group, and in the interests of the Group and
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions had been entered into:

(i)
(i)
(iii)

82

in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;
on normal commercial terms or better; and

in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
and on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests

of the Company and the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740, Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The Board has received an unqualified
letter from the auditors of the Company in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules containing the auditors’ findings and
conclusion on the above continuing connected transactions of the
Group, stating that the auditors have not noticed anything that
causes them to believe that any of these continuing connected
transactions: (a) have not been approved by the Board; (b) were
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group if the transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group; (c) were not entered into in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such continuing connected
transactions in all material aspects; and (d) have exceeded the
relevant annual caps for the financial year ended 31 December
2020.

Save as the aforesaid, there were no other discloseable non-
exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules during the Year.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Save as aforesaid, none of the "Related Party Disclosures” as
disclosed in Note 43 the consolidated financial statements for
the Year constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above "Related Party Disclosures” constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in the Listing Rules, the company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
during the Year.
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MAJOR TRANSACTION

M

On 16 June 2020, China Merchants Property (Nanjing)
Limited* (B BHE (B =) BRAF]) (“Merchants Nanjing”),
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the Cooperation Agreement with Nanjing Huade
Real Estate Co., Limited* (I RS EHERZEER QA
("Nanjing Huade") for the development of the Qinhuai land in
Nanjing through Nanjing Huayao Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (F X
HEREHER AR A F) (the “Project Company”).

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, Merchants
Nanjing and Nanjing Huade shall bear the land price
of RMB6,910,000,000 in proportion to their respective
shareholdings in the Project Company of 45% and 55%.

As at the date of the Cooperation Agreement, the registered
capital of the Project Company is RMB20,000,000. Upon
completion of the Cooperation Agreement, the registered
capital of the Project Company shall be increased to
RMB4,000,000,000, which shall be contributed and held by
each of Merchants Nanjing and Nanjing Huade according to
their respective shareholdings in the Project Company.

For further details of the above-mentioned transactions,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
16 June 2020 and the circular of the Company dated 18
December 2020.

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.

84 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2020

Y

M

FEXRS

RZZ-TFERATRAE  AREIEEIERE
MEARBERBE(BR)BRAB(HEE
R EERESEMERZARAR ([FERH#
BRI AR - LEBR RERE 1 ER
BARAB([RER AR RBERMEBLE

REGEH A BAEERARERESRLAS
BRIEE R B 5 R45% 5 55% 2 15 & H %
iz AR ¥6,910,000,0007T 2 (8 -

REERBHBE  BEARZEMERABAR
#20,000,0007T ° R&{EH TR E - THE A A
2 A E A5 E A R #4,000,000,0007T ¢
YHmBEE AR R ESREESANIER
NRAZEBERETEREE -

LR G2 E—FFHE  FL2HARQFH
HAE—ZT-_ZTFAA+ANHZAERBHAS
ZoTFF+ AT NHZBEK -



MAJOR TRANSACTION (continued)

@2

On 28 October 2020, China Merchants Land (Shenzhen)
Limited* (a8 R E # ORI BRAF)) (“Shenzhen Merchants”)
(an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
entered into the Cooperation and Development Agreement
with Minmetals Shengshi Guangye (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* ( fi
TEEx &% (I =) BR QA (“China Minmetals Beijing”)
in relation to among other things, the formation of the
Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co., Ltd.* (F& /N /1 % 2 &
& BB AT ("JV Company”) for the purpose of acquiring
interest in and the joint development of the project land in
Guangzhou. Pursuant to the Cooperation and Development
Agreement, the shareholding proportion of China Minmetals
Beijing and Shenzhen Merchants in the JV Company shall
be 51% and 49%, respectively and the registered capital
of the JV Company shall be RMB2,500 million. The total
amount of capital to be injected into the JV Company shall
be approximately RMB4,547 million, of which Shenzhen
Merchants shall contribute approximately RMB2,228.03 million.

For further details of the above-mentioned transactions,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28
October 2020 and the circular dated 18 December 2020.

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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MAJOR TRANSACTION (continued)

3)

On 24 November 2020, Guangzhou Merchants Property
Development Limited* (EMBEFEHEFR QR
("Guangzhou Merchants”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Capital Increase
Agreement with the Foshan Qinghao Real Estate Co.,
Ltd.* (BILTIEREE ZE AR 2AR]) (“Project Company”) and
Poly Southern China Industry Co., Ltd.* ((RFZEMEXHA
[RA7]) (“Poly Southern China”) for the development of
the land in Foshan through the Project Company and the
increase in the registered capital of the Project Company
from RMB50,000,000 to RMB3,250,000,000, which shall
be contributed as to 50% by Guangzhou Merchants and
50% by Poly Southern China, respectively. Pursuant to the
Capital Increase Agreement, Guangzhou Merchants has
agreed to make a capital contribution in the amount of
RMB1,625,000,000 in cash to the registered capital of the
Project Company. The Group's share of the estimated total
investment is approximately RMB2,781,730,000.

For further details of the above-mentioned transactions,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24
November 2020 and the circular of the Company dated 16
April 2021.

Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purpose only and
should not be regarded as the official English translation of the Chinese names.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed below, the Directors are not aware of any
circumstances which would be required to disclose herein pursuant
to the requirements under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

e On 13 June 2018, the Company as a borrower has entered
into a facility agreement with a bank in relation to a term loan
facility of up to RMB1,000,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term
of 3 years commencing from the date of the facility agreement.

° On 15 June 2018, the Company as a borrower has entered
into a facility agreement with a bank in relation to a term loan
facility of up to RMB1,000,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term
of 3 years commencing from the date of the first drawdown.

e On 12 December 2018, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent, pursuant to which the placing
agent agreed to act as placing agent, on a reasonable effort
basis, for the purposes of procuring placees to subscribe in
cash for the bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
up to RMB1,900,000,000. The bonds has a term of 3 years
commencing from 18 December 2018.

e On 28 March 2019, the Company has entered into a facility
agreement with a bank in relation to a term loan facility of
RMB400,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term of 3 years
commencing from the date of the first drawdown.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

On 28 March 2019, the Company confirmed its acceptance of
a committed term loan facility relating to a RMB1,000,000,000
committed term loan facility with a bank. The term of 36
months was commencing from the date of Facility Agreement.

On 16 April 2019, the Company has entered into a facility
agreement with a bank in relation to a loan facility of up to
RMB1,000,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term of 3 years
commencing from the date of the Facility Agreement.

On 10 June 2019, the Company has entered into a Facility
Agreement with a bank in relation to a committed term loan
facility up to RMB1,000,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term of
3 years commencing from the date of first drawdown.

The following events (among other things) would trigger breach of

one or more of the above mentioned loan agreements:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
40% of the issued share capital of the Company;

CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
50% of the issued share capital of the Company;

CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
51% of the issued share capital of the Company;

CMSK ceases to directly or indirectly own or hold at least
50.1% of the issued share capital of the Company;

the shares of CMSK ceases for any reason to be listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its successor) or such listing is
suspended for more than 15 consecutive trading days due
to non-compliance with the rules of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (or its successor) or breach of any undertaking given
to the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its successor);
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

(vi) China Merchants Group Limited ("CMG") ceases to be the
single largest shareholder of CMSK (beneficially owned,
directly or indirectly, the largest proportionate shareholding or
ownership interest in CMSK from time to time) and ceases to
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least 40% of the entire
shareholding or ownership interest in CMSK;

(vi) CMG ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
50% of the entire shareholding or ownership interest in CMSK;

(viii) CMG ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
50.1% of the entire shareholding or ownership interest in
CMSK; or

(ix) CMG ceases to be controlled by The State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council of the PRC or any other similarly empowered
authorities of the PRC government.

Certain loan agreements mentioned above contain cross default
provisions so that if the Company or any of its subsidiaries commits
a default under any other loan agreement(s) to which it is a
borrower that entitles any creditor to declare any borrowed monies
under such loan agreement(s) due and payable and the amount
in aggregate exceeds US$15,000,000, or its equivalent in other
currencies it will also constitute an event of default under those loan

agreements.

Details of the above mentioned loan agreements made pursuant to
the requirements of Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules were disclosed in
the announcements of the Company and the subsequent internal/
annual report of the Company respectively.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

The placing agreement dated 12 December 2018 mentioned above
contained the clause that it is an event of default if (i) any other
present or future indebtedness of the Company, CMSK or any of
their respective subsidiaries for or in respect of moneys borrowed
or raised becomes (or becomes capable of being declared) due
and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any actual or
potential default, event of default or the like (howsoever described),
or (i) any such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case
may be, within any originally applicable grace period, or (iii) the
Company, CMSK or any of their respective subsidiaries fails to pay
when due any amount payable by it under any present or future
guarantee for, or indemnity in respect of, any moneys borrowed
or raised provided that the aggregate amount of the relevant
indebtedness, guarantees and indemnities mentioned above in this
condition have occurred equals or exceeds RMB100 million or its
equivalent. There are also certain events of default under the terms
and conditions of the bonds which may be triggered by, amongst
other things, the Company, CMSK or their principal subsidiaries
becoming insolvent, bankrupt, or dissolved. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 12 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate outstanding principal
of loans owed by the Group under the above agreements were
approximately RMB7,300 million.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Year, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosure in this report, the Company has not entered into
any equity-linked agreements for the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of three members, two of whom
are independent non-executive Directors and one of whom is non-
executive Director. During the Year and at the date of this report,
the Audit Committee comprises the following members:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)
Ms. LIU Ning
Dr. SHI Xinping

The Audit Committee carries out its functions in accordance with
and the Listing Rules, including the following:

(i) reviews the audit plans of the internal and external auditors
of the Company, and reviews the internal auditor’s evaluation
of the adequacy of the Company’s and the Group's system of
internal accounting controls and the assistance given by the
Company's management to the external and internal auditors;

(i) reviews the annual financial statements of the Company and
of the Group before their submission to the Directors of the
Company and the external auditor’s report thereon;

(iii) reviews the half year results announcements on the financial
performance and financial position of the Group before their
submission to the Board;

(iv) makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
external and internal auditors;

(v) meets with the external auditor, other committees and
management in separate executive sessions to discuss any
matters that these groups believe should be discussed
privately with the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
convened three meetings during the Year. The Audit
Committee has also met with the Company’s external auditor,
without the presence of the Company’s management, at least
once a year. The Audit Committee has recommended to
the Board the nomination of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for
reappointment as independent auditor of the Company at the
forthcoming AGM.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company is committed to maintaining a sound system of
internal controls. Corporate Governance Details of the corporate
governance are set out in the section headed “"Corporate
Governance Report”in this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu audited the Group's consolidated
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2020
and 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in the
auditors of the Company during the past three years.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has expressed its willingness to
accept re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for their re-
appointment as auditor shall be proposed at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
with the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital as at the date of this report.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
XU Yongjun
Chairman

Hong Kong
18 March 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TXRERB®SE

The Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group")) are pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group's annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year").

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board considers that a sound corporate governance of
the Company is the core to safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhancing the performance of
the Group. The Board reviews its corporate governance practices
from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations of
shareholders and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

During the Year, the Company has adopted, for corporate
governance purposes, the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "HK CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(collectively, the “Listing Rules”).

The Company has complied with the HK CG Code (to the extent
that such provisions are applicable) except for below deviations
from code provisions A.4.1, A.5.5(2), A.6.7 and E.1.2 of the HK CG
Code which are explained in the relevant paragraphs of this report.
The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its businesses
and to review such practices from time to time to ensure that they
comply with the HK CG Code.
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The primary role of the Board is to lead and control the Company'’s
operations and affairs and to protect and enhance long-term
value of shareholders. The Board oversees the management of
the businesses and affairs of the Group and is responsible for the
overall performance of the Group.

The Board monitors the financial performance and the internal
controls of the Group's business operations.

The Board is in charge to promote the success of the Group by
directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible and effective
manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith in the best
interests of the Company. The Directors are aware of their collective
and individual responsibilities to all shareholders of the Group
for the manner in which the affairs of the Company are managed,
controlled and operated. A Director is required to keep abreast
of his responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for providing guidance to overall
management of the businesses and affairs of the Group. To
facilitate effective management, certain functions have been
delegated to various Board committees, namely Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, each
of which has its own written terms of reference and whose actions
are reported to and monitored by the Board. The effectiveness of
each committee is also constantly monitored.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in Code Provision D.3.1 of the HK CG Code. During the Year,
the Board has reviewed the corporate governance policy and
the Company'’s internal codes for securities dealing. The Board
will review, consider and determine the appropriate policy for
corporate governance of the Company from time to time.

Non-executive Directors have the same duties of care and skill
and fiduciary duties as executive Directors. The functions of non-
executive Directors have included the functions as specified in the
code provision A.6.2(a) to (d) of the HK CG Code.
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THE BOARD (continued)

EEE(H)
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Board meetings ===
The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the FR -  KEEERNEEE  ERZEE  RELZEEK
Board, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the  HEE & 2 HFE L& 0T -
Remuneration Committee during the Year are set out below:
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
Exg EREES® REZEE FMEEE
Number of meeting held during the Year F£R2{TEEHEZRE 4 3 1 1
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
Mr. XU Yongjun (Note 1) FKB R E(MFET) 1/4 - 11 -
Mr. HUANG Junlong (Note 2) =B LA (H7F2) 2/4 - - 11
Ms. LIU Ning 2B+ 4/4 3/3 - -
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai EEE L 4/4 - - -
Mr. YU Zhiliang (Note 2) RERKE(HE2) 2/4 - - -
Mr. WONG King Yuen ERREE 4/4 - - -
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHITEE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert ToEEL 4/4 3/3 - il
Ms. CHEN Yanping REE L+ 4/4 - 71 il
Dr. SHI Xinping LHITEL 4/4 3/3 11 -
Mr. HE Qi s 4/4 - - -
Notes: Bt -
(1) Due to business affairs, Mr. XU could not attend three of Board meetings held (1) HBREBER FREREEERFARTH=ZAESTES

during the year. Mr. XU had appointed Mr. HUANG Junlong or Ms. LIU Ning to
act his alternate to attend the Board meetings held.

(2)  Due to business affairs, Mr. HUANG Junlong and Mr. YU Zhiliang could not
attend two Board meetings held during the Year.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Board meetings (continued)

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee were recorded in
sufficient details of matters considered at the meetings and
decisions reached including any concerns or dissenting views raised
by the Directors. All the minutes are kept by the company secretary
and are open for inspection at any time on reasonable notice given
by any Director.

Directors can access to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that Board procedures and applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

In addition, all Directors are regularly updated on corporate
governance and regulatory matters. On a continuing basis,
Directors are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters
relevant to the Group and attend briefings and seminars as
appropriate. Guideline is available for Directors to obtain
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company
in the furtherance of their duties. The Company has also arranged
appropriate liability insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. XU Yongjun, a non-executive Director, is the chairman of the
Board. The chairman is responsible for leading the Board to ensure
its effectiveness on all aspects of its role and set its agenda.

Mr. YU Zhiliang, an executive Director who has been re-
designated from the chief financial officer to general manager
of the Company since 18 August 2016 is currently responsible
for the Group's strategic development and operational plans,
and in particular, the day-to- day operations of the Company's
business, which are as same as the duties discharged by a chief
executive officer. Therefore, the Company considers that the
division of responsibilities between the chairman and the role of
a chief executive has been achieved within the Company’s written
guidelines.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are responsible for their own training needs and
report to the Company. The Company will provide suitable training
course for the Directors at the Company'’s expenses.

EERITHRAR
EMTEFKEREAEFRLR c TRARAY
EEE  RRHAWETE ARG - LHETLH

2 e

HITEFRERAEEB_E—R"FNAATN\BREAR
NRAPMBELRTRELIE - BATAEAREEEKE
RN EERE  CEARREBHATELE 81T
REFTEITEEMER - Bt - ARRR/RANER
REHIECER T TFERTHRAESBE 2D -

EEE]
SREFERRSARETLEHE  REREH
AR o BB RS ENEE A TREES
IEHH A FTS 2 BB -

BEHIEFTNERZAFERE2E - EAKHY
BRI EEFENRERM - HRKPARDANER
FEF - e T MRIE EmARR RAREEE R ER
RERZANBENREE -

EXAFASMFEZBIILAARA®RSE - ARFH
RAERRRSEZBIRE  BRABRARFN -

“EOTFEEHR BERBEMARAR 97



TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

The Directors are continually updated on the legal and regulatory
developments, as well as business and market changes, to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. During the Year, all Directors
have complied with code provision A.6.5 of the HK CG Code to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills by attending seminars, in-house
briefings or reading materials on the following topics:
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Attending seminars/
Reading materials

SRERE BEME
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. XU Yongjun KB R E v
Mr. HUANG Junlong =R LE v
Ms. LIU Ning BlEL+ 4
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai EREE L v
Mr. YU Zhiliang RERKE v
Mr. WONG King Yuen "EERIREE v
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTESE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert FoxiEELT v
Ms. CHEN Yanping PRI 2+ 4
Dr. SHI Xinping SEETE L v
Mr. HE Qi AL v

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated functions that are necessary and
incidental to carrying out the decision of the Board or to facilitate
the day-to-day operation of the Group in the ordinary course
of business to the senior management and divisional heads of
different units.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the
Board to senior management include execution of business
strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation
of adequate internal controls and risk management procedures,
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules and
regulations.
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SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Directors are provided in a timely manner with appropriate
information in such form and of such quality as will enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable in all
other cases, an agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent in
full to all Directors in a timely manner and at least three days before
the intended date of a Board meeting.

Management is aware that they have an obligation to supply
the Board and its committees with adequate information in a
timely manner to enable them to make informed decisions. The
information supplied must be complete and reliable. The Board
and each Director have separate and independent access to the
Company'’s senior management for making further enquires where
necessary.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised of three members:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. XU Yongjun (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Director:

Ms. CHEN Yanping (Member)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee is regulated by a set of terms of reference.

The Group has a formal, considerate and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Director to the Board. The Group
has adopted a nomination procedure and the Board, based on
the criteria established, evaluate and select candidates for the
directorships.

In assessing, selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship to the Board, the Nomination Committee will give due
consideration to the factors including but not limited to:

(@) reputation for character and integrity;
(b) accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries

in which the Company’s business is involved and other
professional qualifications;
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

()  commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

(d) diversity in all aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional
or otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service;

(e) contribution that the candidates can potentially bring to the
Board; and

() plans in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The Nomination Committee has considered the effectiveness
of the Board as a whole and its board committees in addition to
the contribution by the chairman and each individual director
to the effectiveness of the Board on an annual basis. The
performance evaluation criteria include an evaluation of the
structure, composition and size of the Board, the Board's access to
complete, adequate and timely information, Board's procedures
and accountability. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company.

The Nomination Committee will ensure that Directors appointed
to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and
knowledge to enable balanced and well-considered decisions
to be made. The performance criteria that the Nomination
Committee will consider in relation to an individual Director
include the Director’s industry knowledge and/or expertise, time
and effort dedicated to the Group's business and affairs, work
commitments, attendance and participation at the Board and
Board committee meetings. Each member of the Nomination
Committee shall abstain from voting on any resolutions and making
recommendation and/or participating in respect of the matters in
which he is interested.

The Nomination Committee shall hold at least one regular
meeting in a year. Additional meetings shall be held as and when
required. The independence of each Director is reviewed annually.
The Nomination Committee satisfied that the independence
of the Company’s independent non-executive Directors meets
the requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee has assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and is satisfied that there are
no relationships which would deem any of the independent non-
executive Directors not to be independent. The Board is able to
exercise independent judgment on corporate affairs and provide
the management with a diverse and objective perspective on
issues.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board
representations, the Nomination Committee and the Board are
satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the
Directors to the affairs of the Group.

The Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects
of its business. The Board Diversity Policy was adopted since
September 2013.

Diversity of board members can be achieved through consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to professional
qualifications and experience, cultural and educational
background, race and ethnicity, gender, age and length of service.
In forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also take
into account factors based on its own business model and specific
needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee would review
the measurable objectives under the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress of attainment, so as to ensure effective implementation.
The Nomination Committee is satisfied that the current board
composition has achieved a diversity and would enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting and
the committee has performed the following duties:

- reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

- recommended re-election of the retiring Directors after
assessing their contribution and performance, and has
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the board in
accordance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules; and

—  reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and made
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Code provision A.4.1 of the HK CG Code stipulated that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject
to re-election. The non-executive Directors and all the independent
non-executive Directors do not have specific terms of appointment
which is a deviation from the said HK CG Code. However, all of
them are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting ("AGM") according to the Company’s Articles
of Association. The Board considers that the requirement has the
same effect of accomplishing the same objective as a specific term
of appointment.

Code Provision A.5.5(2) of the HK CG Code stipulates that if the
proposed independent non-executive Director will be holding their
seventh (or more) listed company directorship, the reason why the
Board believes the individual would still be able to devote sufficient
time to the Board should be set out in the AGM circular. The
Company did not immediately include the reasons of supporting
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert to be re-elected in the AGM, but a
supplemental announcement dated 24 April 2020 was issued to
provide the reasons in more details.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of
the Group.

The Remuneration Committee comprised of three members:

Independent non-executive Director:

Ms. CHEN Yanping (Chairman)
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Member)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. HUANG Junlong (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal function of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure
that a formal and transparent set of policies and procedures are
in place for determining executive remuneration and for fixing the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and that no Director
should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year,
the Remuneration Committee covers all aspects of emoluments,
including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, options, benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment. In setting
remuneration packages, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration the pay and employment conditions within the
industry and in comparable companies, as well as the Group’s
relative performance and their individual performance. The
Remuneration Committee will seek expert advice on remuneration
of all Directors as and when necessary.

The Remuneration Committee is regulated by a set of written terms
of reference. Its key functions include:

* reviewing and recommending to the Board the Company’s
policies and structure for all Directors and senior
management’s remuneration as are competitive and
appropriate to attract, retain and motivate Directors and
senior management of the required quality to run the
Company successfully and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration

policy;

e reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives;

e  ejther determining (with delegated responsibility) or making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management;

° reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

e reviewing and approving compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year
and has performed the following duties:

— reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and the remuneration packages of the Directors;

and

- reviewed the remuneration packages of all Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted its code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors of the Company on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry to all Directors, the Company confirms that all Directors
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities for
overseeing the preparation of the financial statements for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group, and of results and cash flow for the period.
In preparing the financial statements for the Year, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made prudent
and reasonable judgments and estimates and have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors also
warrant that the Group's financial statements will be published in a
timely manner.

In presenting the interim and annual financial statements and
announcement to shareholders, it is the aim of the Board to
provide the shareholders with a detailed analysis, explanation and
assessment of the Group’s financial position and prospects. The
management currently provides the Board with monthly update on
the Group's performance, position and prospects.

The senior management of the Group has provided to the Board
such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s
financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company is set out in
the “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 118 to 126.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 24 January 2019,
pursuant to which in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account
the following factors:

(@) the Articles of Association of the Company;

(b) the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of
the Cayman Islands;

(c) any banking or other funding covenants by which the
Company is bound from time to time;

(d) the investment and operating requirements of the Company;
and

(e) any other factors that have material impact on the Company.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and shall be subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles of Association of the Company. The Dividend
Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there can
be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or declared in any
particular amount for any given period.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate
internal control system to safeguard the assets of the Group
and the interests of shareholders and consider the governance
of risk. Annual review on the adequacy and the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems of the Group
has been conducted by the management and reviewed by the
Board. The Audit Committee is satisfied that nothing has come
to its attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that the
internal control system is inadequate. Review will be made at least
annually to monitor the adequacy and the effectiveness of the risk
management and the internal control system of the Group.

The finance department carries out annual risk assessment on
each audit area and derives an annual audit plan according to their
risk rankings. During the Year, the Company has outsourced its
internal audit function to an independent accounting firm, Deloitte
Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited to perform a review of the internal
control system of the Group with a focus on the property business.
During the Year, the Group has complied with code provision
C.2 of the HK CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its
duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management
and internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

e Identification: |dentify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

e  Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the

residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2020, no significant risk
was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Internal Control System

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group maintains sound
and effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the Group's assets.

The internal control system will cover all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The components of the framework are shown as follow:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be
managed.

e Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

¢ Information and Communication: Internal and external

communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

*  Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and
implemented an inside information procedure. Certain reasonable
measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group, which include the maintaining of a good
control environment with defined organisational structure, limit of
authority, reporting lines and responsibilities in accordance with
the Company’s guidelines and the regulatory requirements. An
effective information platform has been created to enable relevant
and timely information are sent to the Board for decision making.
Appropriate control measures have been taken place to facilitate a
good control environment for handling and dissemination of inside
information. The access of information is restricted to a limited
number of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality. Confidentiality agreements
are in place when the Group enters into significant negotiations.
Where necessary, Directors to speak on behalf of the Company
when communicating with external parties such as the media,

analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in the year of 2020,
no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted at least
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board's
review, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and
the Group's ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; (ii) the scope and quality of management's
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprised of three members:

Independent non-executive Director:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

Non-executive Director
Ms. LIU Ning (Member)

Most of them are independent non-executive Directors. Dr. WONG
Wing Kuen, Albert has the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Board considers that Dr. SHI Xinping and Ms. LIU Ning have
sufficient financial knowledge and experience to discharge their
responsibilities as members of the Audit Committee. None of
the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company's existing external auditor.

The Audit Committee adopted its revised terms of reference in
January 2019 which is applicable to the Company’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Audit Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Group's corporate governance,
financial reporting, internal control and risk management.

Its key functions include:

* reviewing the audit plans and results of the external auditor
of the Company and the internal auditor’s evaluation of the
adequacy of the Company's system of internal controls, the
audit reports and management letters issued by the external
auditor and the co-operation given by the Company’s
management to the external auditor;

e making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor and internal
auditor, and to review the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

reviewing the nature and extent of non-audit services provided
by the external auditor;

reviewing cost effectiveness and the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor;

reviewing the significant financial reports so as to ensure
the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and
focus in particular on the changes in accounting policies and
practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting
from the audit and compliance with financial reporting
standards;

reviewing interim and annual financial statements and
announcements before submission to the Board for approval;

and

reviewing effectiveness of the Company’s material internal
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management and reviews the findings of the
internal auditor of the Company.

The Audit Committee shall hold at least two regular meetings

in a year. The Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact

of the changes in accounting polices and practices but also on

the compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and

relevant legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has not taken a different view from the Board

regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of

the Company’s external auditor.

The Company's annual results for the year ended 31 December
2020 published on 18 March 2021 was reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee held meetings thrice and has
performed the following duties:

- met with the executive Directors and management of the
Company to review the interim and annual results, the interim
report and annual report and other financial, internal control,
corporate governance and risk management matters of the
Group and made recommendations to the Board;

- considered and discussed the reports and presentations by
the senior management and the external auditor, with a view
to ensure that the Group's consolidated financial statements
are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong;

—  met with the external auditor without the presence of
management and discussed about the interim financial report
and its annual audit of the consolidated financial statements
and key audit issues;

-  assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
evaluating, establishing and maintaining effective systems of
internal control;

—  carried out the annual review on the continuing connected
transactions of the Group;

- reviewed the adequacy of resources qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget; and

- reviewed and discussed significant audit findings in a meeting
with the external auditor.

The Audit Committee also examines any other aspects of the
Company's affairs, as it deems necessary where such matters relate
to exposures or risks of regulatory or legal nature, and monitors the
Company’s compliance with its legal, regulatory and contractual
obligations.

The Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee
have sufficient accounting or related financial management
expertise and experience to discharge the Audit Committee’s
function.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board on any material
issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of professional
services provided by the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, is set out as follows:

12 5 i 5 A
RER - AR TS « BRI B TR
BRI FMEFIT

(RMB'000)

(AR®ET )

Audit services EAZ RIS 2,583
Non-audit services IEEZRTE 1,464
Auditors’ remuneration 1% £ B 5 B 4,047

Non-audit services include the professional services rendered in
connection with the continuing connected transactions review,
reporting accountant for major transactions and internal controls

assessment.

The Audit Committee had considered the Independent Auditors’
independence and objectivity as required under the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accounts, reviewed the terms of their engagement,
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the findings of their review
of the engagement process, effectiveness, independence and
objectivity of the Independent Auditor.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board and the
Board has concurred with the nomination of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, for reappointment as independent auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming AGM.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY THE
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

Under the Code Provision A.6.4 of the HK CG Code, the Board has
established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for Directors and relevant employees in respect of
their dealings in the Company’s securities. “Relevant employee”
includes any employee of the Group or a Director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the issuer, because of such office
or employment, is likely to be in possession of inside information
in relation to the Group and its securities. Having made specific
enquiry to all Relevant Employees, the Company confirms that all
Relevant Employees have complied with the written guidelines
regarding securities transactions during the Year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the company secretary, Mr. Ng Ho, undertook at
least 15 hours of relevant professional training, was an employee of
the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Details of Directors’ attendance records of the general meetings
held during the Year were as follows:
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WONG
XU HUANG Yu WONG Wing Kuen, CHEN SHI

General Meetings Yongjun  Junlong  LIUNing SOShuFai  Zhiliang King Yuen Albert  Yanping  Xinping HE Qi
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SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of
the views of shareholders. Mr. XU Yongjun, the non-executive
Director, Ms. CHEN Yanping and Mr. HE Qi, the independent non-
executive Directors, did not attend some of the general meetings
of the Company during the year of 2020 due to other business
engagement. However, there were sufficient executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors
present to enable the Board to develop a balanced understanding
of the views of the Company’s shareholders.

Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the Board
should attend the annual general meeting. Mr. XU Yongjun,
chairman of the Board, could not attend the annual general
meeting held on 20 May 2020 due to other business engagement
which was a deviation from Code Provision E.1.2. However, he had
appointed Mr. HUANG Junlong, a non-executive Director as his
alternate director who chaired that annual general meeting and
answered questions for shareholders of the Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group's business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decisions.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

The Company established different communication channels
with shareholders and investors, including (i) printed copies of
corporate communications (including but not limited to annual
reports, interim reports, notices of meetings, circulars and proxy
forms and other corporate information) required under the Listing
Rules; (i) the general meetings of the Company provide a platform
for communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as the respective chairman
of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Audit Committee or, in their absence, other members
of the respective committees are available to answer questions
for shareholders and stakeholders at the general meetings;
(iii) the Company's registrars deal with shareholders for share
registration and related matters; and (iv) the Directors and/or
investor relationship team of the Company handles enquiries from
shareholders and investors generally.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

The Company is committed to pursue active dialogue with
shareholders as well as to provide disclosure of information
concerning the Group’s material developments to shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders.

AGM of the Company serves as an effective communication
platform between shareholders and the Board. Notice of the
AGM together with the meeting materials are despatched to all
shareholders not less than 21 days and not less than 20 business
days prior to the AGM.

The chairman of the Board and of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their absence, other
members of the respective Committees, are invited to the AGM
to answer questions from shareholders. External auditors are also
invited to attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

The Company’s last AGM was held on 20 May 2020 and
extraordinary general meetings were held on 30 June 2020 and
26 November 2020 respectively. All the resolutions proposed at
these meetings were approved by shareholders of the Company
by poll. Details of the poll results are available under the
"Announcements and Notices” section of the Company’s website
at http://ir.cmland.hk.

Vote of shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll
in accordance with the Listing Rules, unless otherwise required
and permitted. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will
be explained to the shareholders at the inception of general
meeting to ensure that shareholders are familiar with such voting
procedures. Separate resolution will be proposed by the chairman
of general meeting in respect of each substantial issue. The poll
results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange on the same business day of the general meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, general
meetings can be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more members of the Company deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at:

Room 2603 to 2606, 26/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company. General meetings may also
be convened on the written requisition of any one member of the
Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong as set out above specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If the
Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

The Group should announce its annual results and interim results
in a timely manner before the time limits set out in the Listing
Rules. Separate resolutions are proposed at the annual general
meetings on each separate issue, including the election of
individual Directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll
at the annual general meeting will also be included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with this report.

The Group maintains a website of http://ir.cmland.hk which enables
shareholders of the Company, investors and the general public to
access to the information of the Group on a timely basis. Financial
information and all corporate communications of the Group are
made available on the Group’s website and updated regularly.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar:
Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's
Road East, Hong Kong.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A% B R E

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 127
to 291, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A% B RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

B ELEE
FAREZFALSRBRMANEXHE - RAHAHME
HAMBHBRIBECRRERZEHE - ZFFENK
MERGAMBRRAMLABAREE - MM TE
IZEFEREHEBER

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter
HRELER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BERRBLENAEESER

Net realisable values of properties for sale

R EY K2 5 FE

We identified the assessment of the net realisable values
of properties for sale as a key audit matter due to the
management judgement involved in the determination
of the net realisable values and the estimation of future
costs to completion. As at 31 December 2020, the
carrying amounts of the Group's properties for sale are
RMB50,168,069,000, representing 45% of total assets of the
Group.
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B -M-_ZE-TFE+-_A=+—HB  BESEAIHLHEDE
ZREEASARYS0,168,069,0007T - 1f EXEEEREBEZ
45% °

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the properties
for sale included:

BMARHEENEHENRZF ST

e Obtaining an understanding of the rationale of the
management in estimating the net realisable values
and writing down the amounts of properties for sale;

s MEHEBREMGAZRFERMBEIELEENENS
BEERERZ TR

®  Evaluating the reasonableness of the management's
estimation on the costs to completion for properties
under development for sale by reconciling the costs to
completion to the budgets approved by management
and, on a sample basis, examining the signed
construction contracts or comparing the estimated
costs to the actual costs of similar completed
properties of the Group and to relevant market
information;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRERER

FEBEREAAEIE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EARBRENAEESER

As disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company conducted a
review of the Group's properties under development for
sale and completed properties for sale as at 31 December
2020. Due to a decrease in the expected selling price as
referenced to the actual contract selling price during pre-
sale of the relevant properties or the recent prices of similar
properties during the year, the directors determined that
the net realisable values of certain of the Group's properties
for sale, located in Foshan and Chongging, the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC"), are lower than their carrying
amounts. Accordingly, the carrying amounts of the relevant
properties for sale are written down by RMB849,920,000, in
aggregate, to their net realisable values.
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Comparing a selection of completed properties for
sale with the sum of selling prices estimated by the
management or actual contract selling prices and the
estimated selling expense to assess whether their net
realisable values are higher than their costs;
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Assessing the appropriateness of the selling prices
estimated by management, on a sample basis, by
comparing to the market prices achieved by the same
project or comparable properties with similar size,
usage and location; and
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Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated
selling expense by comparing, on a sample basis,
to the actual selling expenses of similar completed
properties of the Group in recent years.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRERER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BARBELENAEESER

Impairment assessment under expected credit loss
model on amounts due from joint ventures and
associates
REBHEEEREXHERSELCERBEE LA EELT
B 1B A

We identified the impairment of amounts due from joint
ventures and associates as a key audit matter due to the
management judgement involved in determining the loss
allowance on the amounts. As at 31 December 2020, the
carrying amounts of amounts due from joint ventures and
associates are RMB6,844,894,000 and RMB8,128,328,000,
respectively, as disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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The Group measures the loss allowance on amounts
due from joint ventures and associates by estimating the
amount and timing of future cash flows and the assessment
of whether a significant increase in credit risk exists. These
estimates are driven by a number of factors, such as the
market condition, financial information and budgets of the
joint ventures and associates.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, allowance of
expected credit losses of RMB187,294,000 is recognised in
profit or loss in respect of amounts due from associates and
joint ventures.
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Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of amounts
due from joint ventures and associates included:
BMBEREEY S L REERRIFIEN A KEIERE 2 EFE
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e  Obtaining an understanding of the management'’s
process for estimating the expected credit losses for
amounts due from joint ventures and associates;
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e Evaluating the reasonableness of the individual
assumptions made by management in estimating
the expected credit loss of the amounts due from
joint ventures and associates by reference to the
current financial information and budgets, of property
development projects held by the relevant joint
ventures and associates;
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e  Evaluating the reasonableness of the parameters, such
as the expected properties’ market prices used in the
budgets by comparing, on a sample basis, to market
information achieved in the same projects and other
comparable properties; and
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e Assessing the reasonableness of management'’s
assessment on whether there are significant increase
in credit risk by reviewing the operating result of the
relevant joint ventures and associates, on a sample
basis, and taking into account of adverse changes in
the real estate industry in the PRC, if any.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EARBRENAEESER

Accuracy of land appreciation tax (“LAT") calculation

T EH ([ LB EH )it H 2 ERE

We identified the accuracy of LAT calculation as a key
audit matter due to the management estimation on the
applicable land appreciation value and the estimated
deductible expenditures involved in the LAT calculation.
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The Group has property development projects in a number
of cities in the PRC and is subject to LAT in the PRC. As
disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements,
the provision for LAT of RMB1,044,035,000 was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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Our procedures in relation to the accuracy of LAT
calculation included:

BAIERR LR ENE 2 ERE 2R F 81

e  Obtaining an understanding from the management of
the Group about the basis adopted by management of
the Group in arriving at the provision for LAT;

o B ERMERETRESHENCE L EREE R
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e  Assessing the correctness of the Group's computation
of the provision for LAT with reference to relevant rules
and regulations with the assistance of our taxation
specialists;
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e Evaluating the judgements applied by the
management in estimating the amount of deductible
expenditures by comparing their estimates made in
previous years to actual results as well as current year's
estimates; and
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Checking the correctness of financial information,
such as land costs, borrowing costs and the relevant
property development expenditures, being used in
the calculation of provision for LAT to the Group's
historical financial data.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE REMREZGS M ERRARKEZE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL {F(#)

STATEMENTS (continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the o
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the o
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the e
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

REEERAFELEQTERZREN - X
REBEESZEREE  BESOHFERESNH
HERNEEZERTHMER - AJges &%
B2 FHEKERNBRERE - MEFISLER
RRFEERTHBARE - HFIANXEED &
SHRRFEAEIBRE MBI A Z BB
EIfMBERARETIR  MBITRMAZER -
B zatmABRERBMEE A RMES 2E
BB RER - A - RRBHARBERATEE
B EEETBRERSE -

HERAMBRRZERER  RERAT(E
BREER)  URGEEMBEREREBEAAR

RIAER 5 R =M -

P ERERNERAXRBED MIEENES
FRNEEZERRE  UARREHBRRE
RER - HMAEEE EBEHT HEE
ZEZTIE - AR Mz ERE R AELY
Bff-

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, KSR EB(EPEE)BZIIEZTEI&HE -
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit B R EARFZEE - 25 LR BERMREZIAME
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies P Bl 2 R BFESIE 2 (T (A E A BREE ©

in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mak Chun Bon.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

18 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
) Htt 2@ W& R

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T_TF{_A=+—HLFE

2020 2019
—T-%F —NF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
it ARBTT ARBTT
Revenue & 5 18,956,418 19,453,295
Cost of sales SHE AR (14,236,842)  (13,123,667)
Gross profit E7 4,719,576 6,329,628
Other income HAb U A 7 268,044 370,897
Net foreign exchange gains M 5 W e 3 HE 72,902 44,482
Selling and marketing expenses SHE R ZHT N (673,586) (507,007)
Administrative expenses TS H (202,843) (247,011)
Allowance of expected credit losses on amounts JEIEEE N R A EDEFIE 2
due from associates and joint ventures TEHE BEIERHE (187,294) =
Fair value gain on financial asset at fair value BATEFABR(HERAFE
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") .;I‘)\TE' s eRMEEZ
N EWRE 2,407 3,031
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HESERE MR 34 - 18,013
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME A Rz e 32,33 81,577 204
Share of profits of associates DG R E 2 m A 195,728 433,017
Share of profits of joint ventures DMEEERE BT 13,942 40,423
Finance costs & RS 8 (685,307) (733,006)
Profit before tax s 75 51T Y ) 10 3,605,146 5,752,671
Income tax expense FrisfiFA X 9 (2,091,701) (3,052,935)
Profit for the year REEm A 1,513,445 2,699,736
Other comprehensive (expense) income, E{ﬂ’i\ﬁ( FZWA - Bk
net of income tax FTiS i
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to ~ BE#E A& 7282
profit or loss: ZIHEE -
Exchange differences arising on translation of &GN EFRK B REK
financial statements of foreign operations EECZERERE (44,011) 14,190
Total comprehensive income for the year REEZEBALRE 1,469,434 2,713,926
Profit for the year attributable to: AT ALTRIERER R
Owners of the Company NATES A 701,260 1,794,470
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR M = 812,185 905,266
1,513,445 2,699,736
Total comprehensive income for the year UTALTEEREEZEEA
attributable to: AR
Owners of the Company NATES A 657,249 1,808,660
Non-controlling interests FEE IR RS 812,185 905,266
1,469,434 2,713,926
RMB cents RMB cents
AR A AL
Earnings per share B Z A 13
Basic HAR 14.30 36.58
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE B R R

At 31 December 2020
R-E—ZTF+-F=+—H

At 31 December

Rt+t=A=+—H
2020 2019
—EBCEF —h&E
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
BtaE ARBTT ARETT
Non-current assets FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment VI - BB KRG 14 272,778 289,943
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 202,910 32,275
Investment properties TEME 16 3,266,458 4,065,318
Goodwill RS 17 160,210 160,210
Interests in associates iR NCT 18 8,102,901 2,232,629
Interests in joint ventures REEDE 2R 19 3,551,133 3,528,493
Financial asset at FVTPL RAVEFABENEREE 20 106,899 104,492
Other receivables Hth E W 2kE 23 4,583,367 3,200,762
Deferred tax assets RETIB & E 21 953,844 1,022,890
21,200,500 14,637,012

Current assets MENEE
Properties for sale Al E 3 22 50,168,069 47,057,932
Deposits paid for acquisitions of land use rights W& 1 o AT (S S 444,838 -
Trade and other receivables TS R H A FE WK IR 23 28,059,097 17,191,986
Contract costs B HIRKA 5 371,470 72,942
Prepaid income tax BT HR 1,063,094 504,240
Bank balances and cash RITHBRRE S 24 9,718,815 8,957,799
89,825,383 73,784,899

Current liabilities RERE
Contract liabilities AHaE 5 23,798,352 14,288,848
Trade and other payables X REMENFE 25 31,289,620 18,338,632
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 31,980 22,521
Loans from non-controlling interests FEIE R B R 27 1,722,334 736,546
Loans from an intermediate holding company — E#E % 2A B] &K 28 1,796,823 3,098,298
Bank borrowings RITEE 29 6,128,418 1,289,292
Bond payable & & 25 30 1,900,000 -
Income tax payable JESFTIS L 4,197,466 4,350,852
70,864,993 42,124,989
Net current assets RBEEFEE 18,960,390 31,659,910
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAEBERRBERS 40,160,890 46,296,922
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e Bk &

At 31 December 2020
R-F_FF+_A=1—H

At 31 December

BR+=—BA=+—H
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
k=3 AR¥T T ARETIT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Loans from non-controlling interests IR HE TR B AR 27 765,817 3,262,640
Loans from an intermediate holding company  F#iER AR ER 28 200,000 200,000
Bank borrowings RITEE 29 6,979,382 11,474,256
Bond payable ERES 30 = 1,900,000
Lease liabilities HESE 26 410,939 254,813
Deferred tax liabilities BXERIBEE 21 537,918 375,646
8,894,056 17,467,355
Net assets EEFE 31,266,834 28,829,567
Capital and reserves BEAR G
Share capital N 31 39,132 39,132
Reserves (e 9,461,794 9,466,609
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR RI#EH A E(h iR 9,500,926 9,505,741
Non-controlling interests JEVERR R = 45 21,765,908 19,323,826
Total equity R 31,266,834 28,829,567

The consolidated financial statements on pages 127 to 291 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18

March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

YU ZHILIANG
RER
Director

EF

WONG KING YUEN

EHR
Director

EF

BI2IZ2N BB BREAETEN T —
FEA+TN\BHERKETNERHATERARE
=0
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

e == N/
mEER

28 %

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HBE_FT_FF+_FA=+—HIFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ARRERAEE
Equity Non-
Share Share Other transaction Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserves  reserve  reserve profits Total interests equity
kx  RHEE HURE BEGRE RERE  REEN a FEREE RREE
RMB000  RMB'O00 ~ RMB'0C0  RMB'0000  RMB'O00 ~ RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
AEETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
(Note ii) (Note i)
(Hitii) (i)
At 1 January 2019 R=F-N&-A-H 30132 554560 (2402195 (940,361) 3659 58471230 8102025 15663597 23,765,622
Profitfor the year RERAT = - - - - T9AT0 1794470 905260 269973
Other comprehensive income for REEEMZAYA :
the year.
- Exchange differences arising on -REENEREERE
translation of financial EEERER
statements of foreign operations - - - - 14190 - 14,190 - 14190
Total comprehensive income for the year AEERENAES - - - = 14190 1794470 1808660 905266 2713926
Acquisition of additional interest in WE—-HRBAF NS
a subsidiry (Note 33) BR(H233) - - - = - T3 (4909 (9449
Deemed acquisition of a subsidiary RIENE-RHBAR
(Note 34) (Wits4) - - - - - - - MM MW
Capital injection by non-controlling interests ~ FEifiER =& = - - - - - - 3309845 3,309,845
Dividend declared to non-controlling interests  [FI3EERIER S KRS - - - - = = - (831193 (831,193
Dividend declared (Note 12) EERRE M 12) - (8 - - - - (35208 - 3
At31 December 2019 RE-NE
t-A=1t-H 39132 579,352 (2,402,195) (1,000097) 47,849 7,641,700 9,505,741 19,323,826 28,829,567
Profitfor the year RERAT - - - - - 701,260 701,260 812,185 1,513,445
Qther comprehensive expense for AEREMRERY :
the year.
- Exchange differences arising on -REBNEBATS
translation of financial BEREELZER
statements of foreign operations bt ] - - - - (44011) - (44011) - (44011)
Total comprehensive (expense) income AEERE(RR)
for the year N = = - - (44011) 701260 657,249 812,185 1,469,434
Acquisition of additional interest in I — MR 2wy
asubsidiary (Note 33) BOER (N7 - - - (39,066) - - (39.066) (349,987) (389,053)
Partial disposal of interest inasubsidiary ~ 2HETEZG THH
without change of control (Note 37) HE-HREARR
Ri(Hitn) - - - 26 - - 2206 92700 94906
Acquisition of a subsidiary accounted kE-ANBARLNE
for as asset acquisition (Note 35) W CINRRY) - = = = - = - 3622 3,622
Capital injection by non-controlling interests ~ JF2HER T4 - - - - - - - 1762,09 1,762,096
Dividend declared to non-controlling interests  [F3EH 2R %5 TR & - - - - - - - (196,534) (196,534)
Dividend declared (Note 12) EERREHZ12) - (625.204) - - - - (625,204) - (625,204)
At 31 December 2020 N\ZF_%
TZA=1-H 39,132 4,554,148 (2,402,195) (1,036,957) 3,838 8342960 9,500,926 21,765,908 31,266,834

130 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2020



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

%
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ERERD

For the year ended 31 December 2020

EHE—

FoFFEF - —HIFE

Notes:

@

Included in retained profits of RMB1,315,219,000 (2019: RMB1,171,420,000)
represents statutory reserve of the subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). According to the relevant laws in the PRC,
wholly foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer their net
profit after tax, as determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to a non-
distributable reserve fund before the distribution of a dividend to equity owners.
Such reserve fund can be used to offset previous years' losses of the relevant
subsidiary, if any, and is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

The other reserves comprise:

(@)  The deemed consideration from the immediate holding company arising
from the completion of restructuring in prior years;

(b)  The consideration of the sales shares arising from the restructuring in prior
years as deemed distribution to the shareholder; and

(c) The difference between (i) the consideration of the restructuring; and (ii)
the paid-up capital of the entities involved in the restructuring contributed
by an intermediate holding company at the date of restructuring,
deducted by the share capital and share premium of China Merchants
Land Limited (the “Company”) at the date of restructuring.

Kt

(i)

SHARD RN ARKE,315,219,0007T (ZFE—hF : ARK
1,171,420,0007T ) R EARFEME ([HFE ) KZ 2 HEA
Bl ZRTE S o IBIBFRBMERER - RABEZ/MEBEECER
AEHFBADRBER  BEBERBEEFNFIBE(RFPHRS
SHEBIFEE ) ET A DIRFEEES - BRRBEESTAEER
SHERAM B A RBEFE 2 BE(NE) - BRIEER - TRIZ
FEEES ARSI

HAebf#ERE

(a) BEFESETHKAEEAREEEERARZBER
g

(o) BEFEEMAMRESHERND ZBIEMBRDIRRE
K

(@ (EAZRE: R()I2EHBEZERAFIEZEEE

BZEBRNEARPZEGBRAZEZR - HREBERE
WERRR([AAEDRERB B2 RAER D EE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_—F_FTFE+-A=+—HAIFE

2020 2019
—g-%% -T hf
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Profit before tax [ %54 BT Y Al 3,605,146 5,752,671
Adjustments for: KRR
Depreciation of investment properties B ETE 167,433 160,187
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE - BENMERETE 29,729 21,934
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 23,778 17,095
Fair value gain on financial asset at FVTPL BRATEGFABRZeREELZ
A EWRER (2,407) (3,031)
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HESBNE I - (18,013)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries LEME ARz W (81,577) (204)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BE &EE 2 Ka
equipment (8) 4)
Impairment losses on properties for sale A EEYE 2 RERRE 849,920 358,710
Allowance of expected credit losses on amounts (S N T R A S ERIE L
due from associates and joint ventures TBEHEEBERE 187,294 =
Finance costs A& 685,307 733,006
Interest income FLESA (240,226) (337,415)
Share of profits of associates DG E R E]Zm A (195,728) (433,017)
Share of profits of joint ventures DMEEERE BT (13,942) (40,423)
Unrealised foreign exchange losses, net REIRE F EEERE (41,225) 17,166
Operating cash flows before movements in BEESBEBAI v REESRE
working capital 4,973,494 6,228,662
Increase in properties for sale A E Y 0 (1,782,275) (7,042,942)
(Increase) decrease in deposit paid for W B + Hb (PR RE P3RS (38 00) B 4>
acquisition of land use rights (444,838) 290,228
Increase in trade and other receivables 6 I H Aty B U GRIE IS I (1,158,994) (942,822)
(Increase) decrease in contract costs B A AS (0) Rk > (298,528) 2,683
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities adaEEmcHRY) 9,509,504 (597,490)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables BEFE N H At fE A R IE O ) 22N (732,101) 6,474,058
Cash generated from operations REMRSHRE 10,066,262 4,412,377
Income tax paid B FEH (2,571,596) (1,485,450)
Interest received =2 U FI 2 175,440 353,012
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES BETHMERESTE 7,670,106 3,279,939
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEREREBER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

2020 2019
—E-EF  —ZThE
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
Hiat AR¥FT ARETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFS
Advances to associates Bk ESYNEIEZEN (10,677,346) (930,988)
Repayment from associates b N EIEK 4,022,160 293,911
Advances to joint ventures M& &K (1,393,237) (3,310,832)
Repayment from joint ventures B EREENR 3,790,616 841,546
Advances to non-controlling interests Al FE4E B R 2R B R (8,439,700) (3,560,281)
Repayment from non-controlling interests FEPERRHE 2R I8 TN 2,603,048 1,196,192
Advances to fellow subsidiaries EIEEI N IEPNGIEE:N (1,437,372) (31,770)
Repayment from fellow subsidiaries BENBATER 841,600 1,659
Advances to intermediate holding companies Btz NI E-EN (766,737) (963)
Repayment from intermediate holding companies £ A FEK 926 208
Advance to an investee M—ZREHRBNR (2,491) (15,000)
Capital injection to associates mEEENREE (5,917,818) (1,351,291)
Capital injection to joint ventures MEErFEFE (130,240) (477,918)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of EXalE—ENEL R
a subsidiary accounted for as asset acquisition WAEEWE AR Z
R mbiFeE 35 (111,862) -
Cash inflow arising on acquisition of a subsidiary &4 & Y88 — R E 2 5137 LA
accounted for as asset acquisition BEWRBARZESRA 35 23,169 —
Net cash inflow (outflow) arising on disposal of EEAHE—RHWEAR
a subsidiary resulting in loss of control (BEREESIE) 2RER
A ) #58 33, 32 743,731 (7,090)
Cash inflow arising on deemed acquisition of RAIEWEE— KB 2 A
a subsidiary FTEARREMA 34 - 6,539
Dividend received from associates )= INZ I N = 268,300
Dividend received from joint ventures BEPEWERKE 126,442 300,000
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BWEMEE (12,699) (89,105)
Proceeds received on disposal of property, HEME « BE R&E
plant and equipment FTiSR0E 193 191
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHERARESER (16,737,617) (6,866,692)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERETME R

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

2020 2019
—s-%% —he
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Btat AR¥TFT ARETT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES R E EE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEE 2B A 3,217,811 7,769,010
Repayment of bank borrowings BiBiIR1TREE (2,873,559) (1,920,332)
Advances from associates it NI E ¢ 1,682,870 603,495
Repayment to associates B A AR (329,182) (153,780)
Advances from joint ventures SEBDER 660,419 82,268
Repayment to joint ventures AA SRR (313,011) (45,900)
Advances from non-controlling interests FEFEAR RS TR 3,744,438 3,169,419
Repayment to non-controlling interests A FEFE IR R ES i X (4,669,252) (1,779,018)
Advances from intermediate holding companies R A T@ 10,518,418 4,315
Repayment to intermediate holding companies [ 5%?)’( (2,301,227) (1,516,020)
Advances from fellow subsidiaries ﬁ%m%’&f 2,923,992 156,665
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries RIEES =N 75&%’( (621,089) (161,116)
Interest paid 2FE (1,186,138) (1,217,786)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE (28,828) (22,833)
Dividends paid BRI E (1,311,734) (686,403)
Cash inflow arising on partial disposal of interest in {2 Hl#EW EE &) 2o HE

a subsidiary without change of control —EM B R M =T

EENREERA 32 94,906 -

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary Ut B — &8 A FIAIREIMERS 33 (389,053) (94,645)
Capital contributed by non-controlling interests of AL E M E R 7] 2 FEFE RS

subsidiaries of the Group FE 1,056,704 1,504,845
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BETHRAEREFEHE 9,876,485 5,692,184
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRERBESEEHEMFE

CASH EQUIVALENTS 808,974 2,105,431
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHRLRERELEA

THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 8,957,799 6,866,261
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE EXSHE

CHANGES (47,958) (13,893)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRESRZERRELER -

THE END OF THE YEAR,

represented by bank balances and cash EIRTTHEBNES 9,718,815 8,957,799
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as a
limited liability company and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the “"Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
44,

The Company’s immediate holding company is Success
Well, a limited liability company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). One of its intermediate holding
company is China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holding
Co., Ltd. (“China Merchants Shekou”), which is established
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange Limited. The ultimate
holding company of the Company is China Merchants Group
Limited (“"CMG"). CMG is a PRC enterprise regulated and
directly managed by the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council and is owned
and controlled by the PRC government.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

— AR
ARBRRASESEMAILZBERAR - H
BONEEBERXHMBR AR ([BRAHA])E
RET o RRB ZFEMMFRE R EEEFEE
RER [ ARER | —HREE
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EEXRBESINHI TS -

ARBZEFER AR SKE (RN EE R LR
ERBRZES DEMKIZBRRR) - H
Heh —BEZZERARRBE RO TEEE
R ERAR([HBEEn ) (RRPEARK
AME([HREDKZZ AR RRRNESFR S
FARRALT) - ARBZHRERRR S
BREEARAR(HHREERE]) - BERE
EoHBEEREEEEEEEERE BT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_—F_FTFE+-A=+—HAIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Company, together with its
subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the "Group” has
applied the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

2.

EREEEEMBRELZN(E
BB HREZED )

RAFERBERZ BETEEMBERE
2R

RAEE » ARAE) - ERENERE (G [
SEDERRUGEYBRRENEABEE
S AG([BEGFMAE ) BEMHEE
IR &R B2 HER 8 5 A9 EET ) T3
RETEBVBREER - BRABINR_F=
TE—A— B2 RRAKRZFERARBRBIER :

ARG EAFEIREERE BEAUNER
BRERIFESIE ZERT

BEMBMELNERZ EBNES
fE&T

B GRELERFINR -
A ERFEIM R
EEMBREERNETHRZ

E S

f&&]
Except as described below, the application of the B TRt & o - RN S JE R &5 A1 7 3

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments
provide a new definition of material that states “information
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific reporting entity.” The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the
nature or magnitude of information, either individually or
in combination with other information, in the context of the

financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments clarify that while businesses
usually have outputs, outputs are not required for an
integrated set of activities and assets to qualify as a business.
To be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and
assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs.

2.

EARETEAVMBEREEN([H
B EREED ] @)
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OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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FoFFEF A= —HAILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
(continued)

The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of replacing any missing
inputs or processes and continuing to produce outputs. The
amendments also introduce additional guidance that helps to
determine whether a substantive process has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional
concentration test that permits a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. Under the optional concentration test, the acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in
a single identifiable asset or group of similar assets. The gross
assets under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects
of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether to apply
the optional concentration test is available on transaction-by-
transaction basis.

The Group has elected to apply the optional concentration

test on the acquisitions as detailed in Note 35 and concluded
that such acquisitions do not constitute a business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T_TF{_A=+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and
the related Amendments'
Amendment to HKFRS 16  Covid-19 — Related Rent
Concessions*
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework?
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, — Phase 2°

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Amendments to HKAS 16  Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018 — 20207

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_—F_FTFE+-A=+—HAIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments:

e  update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations so
that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “"Conceptual
Framework”) instead of Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010
issued in October 2010);

. add a requirement that, for transactions and other events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business combination; and

e add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not
recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have

significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B %% ¥Rk MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

gtj::f

TEF A=t —ALEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of

liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender
does not test compliance until a later date; and

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2020, the application of the amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REMBHRRCEREERTRS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 3.1 FEMBRR 2 MEELE

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Lease, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

EUBBRCFEREERTES
TR (#)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &A
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FEEFTHHEXR

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

© has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group's
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

e the size of the Group's holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

e  potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

®  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

e  any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_—F_FTFE+-A=+—HAIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FREUBKBRRZGEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTHER (2)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 FESHBRE)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components
of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries according to the Group's and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
9 Financial Instrument or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 January 2020, the Group can elect to
apply an optional concentration test, on a transaction-
by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business. The concentration test is met if substantially
all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group
of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred
tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of
deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies
and recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price
first to financial assets/liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price
is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the
date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFERE)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October
2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively; and

e |ease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the
lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition
date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value.
Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms
of the lease when compared with market terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree over the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition
date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree, the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ﬁii

BEF—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an
operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-
generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of associates and joint ventures is described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. If the associate and joint venture uses
accounting policies that differ from those of the Group
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
appropriate adjustments have been made to conform the
associate’s and the joint venture's accounting policies
to those of the Group. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate or joint
venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in
the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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ﬁii

BEF—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

EE—

F_FFE+-_A=+—HIUFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes
an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement
to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate or joint venture
are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate
or joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group; and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or

service.

A receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

ﬁii

BEF—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value of the Group’s performance completed to
date for service contracts in which the Group bills a fixed
amount for each month, the Group recognises revenue in
the amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer
or the Group with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In
those circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing
is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T_TF{_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 TEDHBRE)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) HEFENNE(E)
Existence of significant financing component (continued) FHEEAGEK S (E)
For contracts where the period between payment and AR E Mok AR 2 X B8 B i D
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than —FZEHME AEERERNEATE
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of OB ABRSERZAITERE A °

not adjusting the transaction price for any significant
financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before MREBBAREE D B EMEAFE 82
the transfer of the associated goods or services in A RNESRZEEE MRS R B
which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of BERPWEB s BNRIENS - NEEER
consideration for a significant financing component, the MAEEEZ S 2 BRNE Q5 2 B 5
Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected BRGHPRRZITHEE « RIBURIRE
in a separate financing transaction between the Group T AR & an N AR 7% R & AR 2 AR R A BB
and the customer at contract inception. The relevant X IREAEEKAEREEARK -

interest expenses during the period between the
advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services are accounted for on the
same basis as other borrowing costs.

Contract costs B RIE AR

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract BISEH 2 SRR

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs BEAHNZEERAERAEERNEEF,E
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer HFEEZRA - WARESZELH - BT
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not SEABBKA °

been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as BT EB KA (HEME) « BIAR
an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so SEERZERNER—HEE - IERE
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on EREERARNTPEREBZEELEm
a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to HRI— Bz R BRI EE -

the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

ﬁii

BEF—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment and motor
vehicles that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTBER#E)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

®  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property or inventory
as a separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property and inventory
are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties for sales” respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFERE)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost
of right-of-use assets. The directors of the Company
considered that such adjustment has no material impact
to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTBER#E)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease incentive from lessor by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-
use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the modified contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFERE)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Initial direct costs (other than those
incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included
in the initial measurement of the net investments in the

leases.

Rental income derived from the Group's ordinary course
of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
The directors of the Company considered that such
adjustment has no material impact to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T_TF{_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFBRE)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or for administrative purposes are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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ﬁii

BEF—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets”. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets upon
application of HKFRS 16 and subleased by the Group
under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CREE N

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ﬁii

BEF—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Properties for sale

Properties for sale under current assets are properties
(under development or completed properties) held for
future sale in the ordinary course of business. Except for
the leasehold land element which is measured at cost
model in accordance with the accounting policies of
right-of-use assets, properties for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation of
the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value is determined based on the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, which is estimated
based on prevailing market conditions, less applicable
selling expenses and the anticipated cost to completion,
if any.

The Group transfers a property from properties for sale
to investment property at cost when there is a change in
use to hold the property to earn rentals or land for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of
business, which is evidenced by the commencement of
an operating lease to another party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities, other than
those classified as FVTPL, are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

ﬁii

BEF—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is not held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “fair value gain on financial
asset at FVTPL” line item.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

ﬁii

BEF—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables and bank balances
and cash) and financial guarantee contracts which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on trade receivables is assessed
individually for all debtors.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T_TF{_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instruments as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

e significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

®* an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial
instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a financial
asset to have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per
globally understood definition.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitments is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

e when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred. Evidence of credit-impairment
includes observable data about the following
events:

e significant financial difficulty of the borrower or
issuer;

e  abreach of contract such as a default or past
due event;

e the lender of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession that the lender would
not otherwise consider; or

e jtis becoming probable that the borrower

will enter bankruptcy or other of financial

reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder,
the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risk
are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTBER#E)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debts and equity instruments issued by the Group
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFERE)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
loans from non-controlling interests and an intermediate
holding company, bond payable and bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
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liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

e the amount of the loss allowance determined in o REBFBUBREENFIRETZ
accordance with HKFRS 9; and EBiEREESRE &

e the amount initially recognised less, where o USRS FR(WER)ERANME

appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised RZ Rt -
over the guarantee period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and contract costs

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets and contract costs to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

CREE N

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ﬁii

BEF—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and contract costs (continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporates assets are allocated to individual cash
generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for
assets capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15,
the Group assesses and recognises any impairment
loss on other assets related to the relevant contracts in
accordance with applicable standards. Then, impairment
loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract costs is
recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for related goods or
services less the costs which relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not been recognised
as expenses. The assets capitalised as contract costs
are then included in the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit to which they belong for the purpose of
evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and contract costs (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_—F_FTFE+-A=+—HAIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FREUBKBRRZGEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTHER (2)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 FESHBRE)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes/
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme ("“MPF Scheme”)
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS require or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T_TF{_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFBRE)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company (i.e. RMB) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

ﬁii

BEF—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income because items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of (other than in a business
combination) assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, and interests in joint ventures and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ﬁii

BEF—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue recognition from sales of properties

Under HKFRS 15, control of the asset is transferred over time
when the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date. Significant judgement is required in determining
whether the terms of the Group’s contracts with customers
in relation to properties with no alternative use create an
enforceable right to payment for the Group. The Group
has considered the relevant local laws that apply to those
relevant contracts. Based on the assessment of the Group's
management, the terms of the relevant sales contracts do
not create an enforceable right to payment for the Group
and accordingly, the sales of properties is considered to be
performance obligation satisfied at a point in time.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated write-down of properties for sale

The Group records properties for sale at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Net realisable value of properties
for sale is determined based on the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, which is estimated based on
prevailing market conditions, less applicable selling expenses
and the anticipated cost to completion, if any.

The Group writes down properties for sale to net realisable
value. If there is an increase in anticipated costs to completion
or a decrease in estimated net sales value, the net realisable
value will decrease and this might result in write-down of
properties for sale to net realisable value. Write downs are
recorded where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be realised. The identification of
write downs requires the use of judgements and estimates.
If the expectation is different, it will impact the carrying value
of properties for sale in the period in which such estimate is
changed.

The carrying amount of properties for sale of approximately
RMB50, 168,069,000, net of write-down of RMB1,171,760,000
(2019: carrying amount of RMB47,057,932,000, net of write
downs of RMB674,419,000) as at 31 December 2020 are set out
in note 22.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of amounts due from joint ventures and
associates

The Group assesses impairment of amounts due from joint
ventures and associates individually. The measurement of
ECL of amounts due from joint ventures and associates under
HKFRS 9 requires judgement, in particular, the estimation of
the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase
in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of
factors, such as the market condition, financial information
and the budget of the joint ventures and associates. The
Group has obtained the budget of the associates and joint
ventures at the time when advances are requested. The Group
reviewed and assessed the profitability of those investees,
the future economic outlooks and the timing of the collection
and assessed a credit risk rating to those investees. Changes
in these factors can result in different levels of allowances. At
each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk for exposures since
initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring
over the expected life, which is associated with the budget
of respective joint ventures and associates, between the
reporting date and the date of initial recognition.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of amounts
due from joint ventures and associates are RMB6,844,894,000
and RMB8,128,328,000 (2019: RMB9,325,568,000 and
RMB1,414,999,000) respectively. During the year ended 31
December 2020, impairment loss of RMB 187,294,000 (2019: nil)
is recognised in profit or loss in respect of amount due from
associates and joint ventures, and the information about the
ECL on these amounts is disclosed in note 38.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC, of which the
implementation varies amongst different tax jurisdictions in
various cities of the PRC. LAT is levied at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the land appreciation value.
The Group determines the land appreciation value as the
proceeds of sales of properties less the estimated deductible
expenditures including cost of land use right, borrowing costs
and the relevant property development expenditures.

The Group recognises LAT in its consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when
properties are delivered to the buyers, at the time when the
final amounts of LAT payments have not been approved by
the local tax authorities in the PRC. The Group recognised the
LAT based on management's best estimates on the applicable
land appreciation value and the estimated deductible
expenditures. The final tax outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences
will impact the income tax expense and the related income tax
provisions in the period in which such tax is finalised with local
tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets of RMB953,844,000 (2019:
RMB1,022,890,000) mainly in relation to tax losses and LAT
have been recognised at 31 December 2020 as set out in note
21. The utilisation of the deferred tax assets mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. The directors of
the Company determine the deferred tax assets based on
the enacted or substantially enacted tax rates and the best
knowledge of profit projections of the Group for coming
years during which the deferred tax assets are expected to
be utilised. The directors of the Company will review the
assumptions and profit projections by the end of the reporting
period. In cases where the actual future profits generated
are less than expected or there is a downward revision of
estimated future profits, a reversal of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the period in which such a reversal takes place.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

5. W&
REBMNAERE 2 WA DT T -

5. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

2020 2019
—ECEF —FE-NF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
By types of goods or services BB sk AR AE A
Asset management segment EEEESE
Asset management services income BEEERBBA 18,074 1,361
Properties segment /EFaR:
Sales of properties for sale SHER M HEYE 18,629,867 19,143,720
Properties operation income LYEZ SN PN 32,454 36,257
Rental income from investment properties TEMENAS WA (Ha£10)
(Note 10) 276,023 271,957
18,938,344 19,451,934
18,956,418 19,453,295
By timing of revenue recognition Wk TERR A B (BT
At a point in time A —BE 2L 18,629,867 19,143,720
Over time i B ] 50,528 37,618
Revenue from contracts with customers HRBE &R 18,680,395 19,181,338
Rental income from investment properties KEYENES WA 276,023 271,957
18,956,418 19,453,295

The Group enters into a sale and purchase agreement at the
stage the construction of the properties is still ongoing. Upon
completion of the negotiation with the customers, the Group
receives certain percentage of contract value as deposits from
customers and recognised as contract liabilities under HKFRS
15. The Group may provide guarantee to banks in connection
with mortgage granted to the customers to finance the
advanced payment to the Group and the directors consider
the amount of consideration allocated to this performance
obligations not significant and no transaction price is allocated
to this performance obligation.

For contracts entered into with the customers on sales of
properties, the Group recognises the revenue from sales of
properties for sale at a point in time when the completed
property is transferred to customers, being at the point that
the customer obtains the control of the completed property.

AEERYERRDELETIERTILEE R
& TEERFERE - AKERTFPENA
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BHREENESRERRANEE - AKEH
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REVENUE (continued)

Contract costs

5. WHE®)

BRI

2020 2019

—E-EHF —E-NF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARBET T

Incremental costs to obtain contracts EEAS LML ER AN 371,470 72,942

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2020 and 2019
relate to the incremental sales commissions paid to property
agents whose selling activities resulted in customers entering
into sale and purchase agreements for the Group's properties
which are still under construction at the reporting date.
Contract costs are recognised as part of selling expenses
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which revenue from
the related property sales is recognised. The amount of
contract costs amortised in profit or loss during the year
was RMB72,942,000 (2019: RMB72,376,000). There was no
impairment in relation to the costs capitalised during the year
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The Group applies the practical expedient and recognises the
incremental costs of obtaining contracts relating to the sale
of completed properties as an expense when incurred if the
amortisation period of the assets that the Group otherwise
would have recognised is one year or less.

Contract liabilities

R-ZE_EFR-_FT-—NAF+_A=1+—HHN
BAREAEHRANEZA FHEEHNEHET AR
REAHRAEEEEYEIVEERANY
ERENESHEMASEH -  SOKAERER
HEMEEERSPENGABERREME2®
KR ERAHERAIN—H5 - FR ' B
BaPEENE KA SRR ARKT2,942,000
T(ZE—NF : AR¥T72,376,0007T) - HZE
—ECEFRZZE-NEFFZRAR=+—HILSF
[E BB AR A F R 2 RIE

AEBRAATERERE  MAKRERAEA
HAERNZEZEENBHA/ —FHIUAR -
AREEARKREGEBEECRINENANE
BN ERAERRHAX
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)
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2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREETTT

Deposits received in respect of pre-sale of BREEMFEZS
properties 23,798,352 14,288,848
As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to R-ZE—NFE—B—H BB AEARE

RMB14,886,338,000.
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W& ®)
Contract liabilities (continued) BREEE)
Contract liabilities are classified as current as they are WEaENBEREARAEE —REERPAL
expected to be settled within the Group’s normal operating & BlesfEAeRE -
cycle.
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRENRAFEARREHEBENEEL
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward WaerE -

contract liabilities.

2020 2019
—B-2F —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETFT
Revenue recognised that was included in the FIHE A HEEWETA
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of  F1& 4 & E#E s 2 D RS
the year in respect sales of properties for sale 12,415,851 14,054,150
Leases HE
2020 2019
—B-BRF T NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
For operating leases: MCEHEMS :
Fixed lease payments B EMERK 276,023 271,957
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments, which
requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal report about the components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision makers
("CODM") in order to allocate resources to segments and
to assess their performance. The CODM is the Company's
executive directors.

For the management purpose, the Group is organised into
the following two operating and reportable segments: (i)
Development and sales of properties and property leasing
("Properties Segment”); and (ii) Asset management for
office premises and shopping malls (“Asset Management
Segment”). Each of which was considered as a separate
operating segment by the CODM.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments.

7 EBE R
AEECRABTEVBRELERFSRLL S
B REAREREDHRERLERRE
([EBEERREANIEEREE D B R
HEXRBEMENEHNARES MM <A BHRE
REETUZR - TRLERRERLRFH
TEE -

RTEEMBEN  AREEDATMELE &
A2H/DE - VIERBELHERMEAE(TY
ENE])  RONMAEVMELBYBESNEE
ER(EEEESHM]) - ZEDBZERER
BERRERRBLIEEDN

D EBU e KA
NTRIZAERNBED BE D 2 AR B W E
NEBDT

Asset
Management Properties

Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEES M MED B oy
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TRT AR%¥®TR AR®ETRT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=-Z=-FF+=f

=Et-—HLEFE
Segment revenue D EBU R

— external customers —INEBER 18,074 18,938,344 18,956,418
Segment results DEBFELE 10,962 4,144,956 4,155,918
Unallocated net foreign exchange losses 7 7 fic [ 5 &5 18 /5 28 (72,131)
Unallocated income ROBLUA 51,364
Unallocated expenses Ko (47,191)
Unallocated finance costs KD BB KA (482,814)
Profit before tax R B AT s A 3,605,146
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment  Consolidated
BEEEDH Y2 5 &6 wa
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTIT ARBTT ARBTT
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HEZ=-Z—HAE+=A4
Et-—HLEFE
Segment revenue ok s
— external customers —NERE P 1,361 19,451,934 19,453,295
Segment results DEPFELE 589 6,374,952 6,375,541
Unallocated net foreign exchange gains 7% fic [ i, Uk 25 /% 48 68,980
Unallocated income ROBUA 3,835
Unallocated expenses AOB S H (62,143)
Unallocated finance costs RO B E KA (633,542)
Profit before tax R 75 AT 2 A1) 5,752,671

There was no inter-segment sales during both years.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the

same as the Group's accounting policies described in note

3. Segment results represent the profit earned by each

segment without allocation of unallocated corporate costs,

certain finance costs, certain interest income and certain net

foreign exchange gains/losses. This is the measure reported

to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.
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B %% ¥R 3k MY &

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DELER ()
Segment assets and liabilities DEEENEE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities NTRIZAZH|MREEDHE D 2 A EEEE
by reportable and operating segments: RBEIN
Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEED B MEDH wa
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AR¥BTRT AR%®TR
At 31 December 2020 R-BZBF+=A=+—H
Segment assets DEEE 28,076 107,136,755 107,164,831
Goodwill 5k 160,210
Other unallocated assets HEMRDBEEE 3,700,842
Total assets BEAE 111,025,883
Segment liabilities DEEE 8,580 55,866,952 55,875,532
Other unallocated liabilities RO A E 23,883,517
Total liabilities BEMRE 79,759,049
Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment  Consolidated
BEEEDH Y25 &b NSy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTT ARBTRT
At 31 December 2019 R=ZB-hFE+=A=+—H
Segment assets DEEE 12,091 86,540,096 86,552,187
Goodwill [EES 160,210
Other unallocated assets Hib R D BELEE 1,709,514
Total assets BEME 88,421,911
Segment liabilities DERE 1,320 43,971,881 43,973,201
Other unallocated liabilities HthAoBL AR 15,619,143
Total liabilities BE®TE 59,592,344
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

. all assets, other than goodwill and assets of the

investment holding companies, are allocated to

reportable and operating segments; and

e all liabilities, other than bonds payable, loans from an

intermediate holding company of the investment holding

companies and bank borrowings of the investment

holding companies, are allocated to reportable and

operating segment.

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or

segment assets.

DEER (&)
DEEEREEE)
REESBEBENSBEIREERS

s MBEEMTERERBERKREZRARE
E)ODPREF2RELENE R

s MBREBE(IBREEMES  REZERAQF
ZHEERARERRREZER QD ERT
EE)GNEEA 2MBMEEDED -

H it 7 &+
FHED BN K ERE D JEEMT RZFA

Asset
Management Properties

Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEES M MED we
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR¥®TR AR®BTRT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—Z_ZF+_=H

=t+—HLEFE

Addition to non-current assets (Note) ERBEENE (KaF) 11 6,260,059 6,260,070
Interest income F 2 U A 148 216,532 216,680

Depreciation of property, M - BERBEITE
plant and equipment 4 29,725 29,729
Depreciation of investment properties REYEITE - 167,433 167,433
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE - 23,778 23,778
Write-down of properties for sale WOR AT S 3 - 849,920 849,920

“ZOTFEEHR HEREMARAR 197



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Other segment information (continued)

DEE R (#)
Hfth 5 BB R ()

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment  Consolidated
BEEEDH MEDE A
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETET ARETRT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ=_ZF—h%E+=4

=Et-RLFE
Addition to non-current assets (Note) ERBEENE (Wit)
Interest income AEYA
Depreciation of property, YE - HEMREITE

plant and equipment
Depreciation of investment properties KEMENE

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRHEEERE
Write-down of properties for sale WOR RIS 3

12 1,926,512 1,926,524

- 345,509 345,509
- 21,934 21,934
- 160,187 160,187
- 17,095 17,095
- 358,710 358,710

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets.

The Group's revenue from external customers is derived from
the PRC, including Hong Kong. No single customer of the
Group contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue for
both years.

Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
deferred tax assets and financial instruments) are located in
the PRC.

Geographical information

The Group's Properties Segment is located in Foshan,
Guangzhou, Nanjing and Jurong, Chongging, Xi‘an and Hong
Kong.

Information about the revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the operations. Assets
of Properties Segment and Asset Management Segment are
presented based on the location of the assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information (continued)

6. DEBER )
W3R B R (4)

Revenue from

external customers Segment assets
RENEEF 2 Wz DHWEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
— i “BNF i —BNF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT AR®TR ARBTT

Foshan 10
Guangzhou =0
Nanjing and Jurong BREAOA
Chongging e
Xi'an Piikre
Hong Kong Bt

2,256,500 3,449,775 12,512,447 15,548,423
3,273,038 4,896,172 14,201,823 10,433,847
6,260,611 5,441,516 37,671,676 30,782,681
6,844,746 3,440,677 22,451,407 22,101,689
255,343 2,164,456 11,045,427 3,777,265
66,180 60,699 9,282,051 3,908,282

18,956,418 19,453,295 107,164,831 86,552,187

7. OTHER INCOME 7. Hibugk A
2020 2019
—E-EF —ET-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBET T
Bank interest income IRITAEUA 78,084 72,305
Interest income from associates REBE RN T ZFBUWA 64,786 39,414
Interest income from joint ventures RESETEZFBEWA 97,356 225,696
Government grants BT 6,247 2,229
Others Hib 21,571 31,253
268,044 370,897
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F-_FF+-A=+—HAULFE

8. FINANCE COSTS mLE AL A
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBT T
Interest on: F A
—bank borrowings —iRITEE 811,909 611,084
— lease liabilities —HHE&aE 16,649 13,919
— loans from an intermediate holding company — — 1R A Rl 2 B3 140,304 204,379
— loans from non-controlling interests —JEEERE S 2 B 162,660 209,560
—bonds — (&5 87,400 97,961
Total borrowing costs B EE R 1,218,922 1,136,903
Less: Amounts capitalised in the cost of qualifying & : E& AL AE BREEKLZ
assets RIE (533,615) (403,897)
685,307 733,006

Borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development
for sale were determined by the contracted interest rates of
respective borrowings as disclosed in notes 27, 28, 29 and 30.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE =i

Frigfti &z i
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®BTR AR®BTE

The income tax expenses (credits) comprise of:  FTEFiFSZ (R ) BHE ¢

Hong Kong Profits Tax BBMEB 2,160 129
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") REIEMER (T REMSEH])
— Current year —REE 814,188 1,628,795
— Underprovision in prior year —BEFEREETE - 15,209
LAT 4 IR E 1,044,035 1,600,752
1,860,383 3,244,885
Deferred tax (Note 21) RIERIA(Afat21) 231,318 (191,950)
2,091,701 3,052,935

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
statutory EIT rate of the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC
is 25%. Further, 5% or 10% withholding income tax is generally
imposed on dividends relating to profits earned by the PRC
entities that are owned by non-PRC entities within the Group.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less estimated deductible expenditures including
cost of land use right, borrowing costs and the relevant
property development expenditures.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
2019.

R ER E B RA( R EMBRE]) R
RS BOEE IO o B A2 BB
AR ZEFRCERGHBER5% « o - &
EEETHFEERFRAZ PEEE—RA
3 2L B R 2 PR 5% 55,1 0% 2 TR
8% -

TR AR T IR E (B EY R 2 RIS 5R
WA TIRR (B ERERAN - &
ERAREBMEZERFA ) IRDEEREN T
30% ZE60% UKL

ARREERR  BITMESHMARSPE R
SRHGSVBBREMSLTER - BE-T
—EERZE-NFTA=ZT—HILEFE -
B EME BRI R ERTURT#16. 5% & -
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N |

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REZFREH A
RARTADENEERAT

profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2
At

9. FRERi<H

B EERE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETTT
Profit before tax 4 Bt BT v2s A) 3,605,146 5,752,671
Tax at the income tax rate of 25% (2019: 25%) BZZS%(_ = — N5 : 25%)
(Note) BRI RtE 2\ (fa) 901,287 1,438,168
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for T—HD Mz > 2 B2
tax purposes 211,270 258,708
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes  HZERF 2 WA 2 Fi 550 2 (88,110) (78,472)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously — EHfBERER 2 FHIBEE 2 FH5
not recognised 2 (423) (682)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIEE B 2 MIBETE 203,326 32,585
LAT T I E R 1,044,035 1,600,752
Tax effect of LAT TR ER 2 B R (261,009) (400,188)
Underprovision in prior year BEFERETR - 15,209
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences  REER A O B b =58 2 TG &
not recognised 250,154 164,523
Tax effect of utilisation of deductible temporary BB BERER Z Al L =58
differences previously not recognised Z%/ﬁ%a" (157,872) (57,278)
Dividend withholding tax (credit) expense STEMA(ER) R (10,063) 80,182
Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions Eﬁﬂ AR TRME 22 (894) (572)
Income tax expense PS> 2,091,701 3,052,935

Note: 25% represents the tax rate where the operation of the Group is

substantially based.
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e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

10. BRBE AR A

2020 2019
—BRHF —E-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging & AlaE FI & & (5T &) T71&
(crediting): HBSH
Employee benefits expenses EERMNAX (BEEEHH)
(including directors’ remuneration):
Salaries and other allowances ¥ M2 387,200 399,824
Pension scheme contributions RINEFTEIHR 21,305 30,416
Total staff costs B IR 4E%E 408,505 430,240
Less: Amounts capitalised to properties under and & : B &AL ARt &
for sale BERAPYEZRIE (218,202) (256,628)
190,303 173,612
Gross rental income from investment REWFEBSWA(HEES5)
properties (Note 5) (276,023) (271,957)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred W TEEZBEEKLERX 339,360 345,267
63,337 73,310
Cost of properties for sale recognised as expenses RIERT 2 B EMEMRASN 13,857,762 12,777,650
Depreciation of investment properties "EMENE 167,433 160,187
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 23,778 17,095
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BENMREITE 29,729 21,934
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEB & 4,047 4,062
Write-down of properties for sale WOR AT B S 3
(included in cost of properties for sale) (B &R EWERKA) 849,920 358,710
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  H&E¥E - BE M&E W= (8) (4)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F-_FF+-A=+—HAULFE

1. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 1. EERES 2 FHM
EMOLUMENTS
(@) The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ten (2019: (a) BENSENTR(ZZE—NEF : +R)ESF
ten) directors were as follows: EEZHEMAT ¢
For year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z-ZF+-A=+—HLEE
Dr. So Mr. Yu Mr. Wong
Shu Fai Zhiliang King Yuen Total
HEhEE L REREE ERRLE @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT R ARBT ARBT ARET

A. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: A. BTES:
Fee paid or payable in respect of a RERA AR RA
person’s services as a director, WEARESA
whether of the Company and its REZRBEZEHN
subsidiaries FEMEE - = = -
Emoluments paid or payable in REBALEREH
respect of a person'’s other services ARRREHE
in connection with the management INGIE-S ikl
of the affairs of the Company and its Hih s 2 BAT3K
subsidiaries & S M
Other emoluments: HihF -
Salaries and allowances e RoEh 34 1,022 34 1,090
Performance related incentive FIREBEREN
payments bonus (Note (i) TAEAL
(B=E()) - 1,451 = 1,451
Retirement benefits scheme RINENEE
contributions R = = 2 2
Sub-total NE 34 2,473 36 2,543
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

11.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

For year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

1. EFREEZHFMN =)

(@) (#&)
BE-Z-EF+-A=1+—HILEFEE)

Mr. Huang Mr. Xu Ms. Liu
Junlong Yongjun Ning Total
EYEAE FKERE gEL+ @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBTT
B. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B. FHTES:
Fees paid or payable in respect of RIEARREIRE
a person's services as a director, WERRAIEEM
whether of the Company and its Rtz R 2B
subsidiaries FEMNEE 34 34 34 102
Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Ms. Chen Dr. Shi
Albert Yanping Xinping Mr. He Qi Total
IXEET RE¥YZ:  EHVET AR K E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR AR®T:
C. INDEPENDENT NON- C. BUFHTES:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Fees paid or payable in respect SHERARAT
of a person’s services as Rt
a director of the Company FRis 2 BAT3K
g 115 115 115 115 460
Total emoluments aE 3,105
—ZEZFFH HEREMARAR 205



OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_—F_FTFE+-A=+—HAIFE

1. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ N EBREEZFHFMN =)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(@) (continued) (a) (&)
For year ended 31 December 2019 BE-Z-hAF+-A=+—HLFE
Dr. So Mr. Yu Mr. Wong
Shu Fai Zhiliang King Yuen Total
HEBET RERLE BRREE w@st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETTL ARBTTL ARBTT

A. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: A BTES:
Fee paid or payable in respect of RIEBARR RE
a person's services as a director, WERRIEEM
whether of the Company and its Rt 7 R BT
subsidiaries FEMNEE = = - -
Emoluments paid or payable in HERALEEEH
respect of a person’s other services ARRREHE
in connection with the management INGIES Sk ol
of the affairs of the Company and its Hh R B3k
subsidiaries iARE!
Other emoluments: Hoth % -
Salaries and allowances Ba ki 35 1,003 35 1,073
Performance related incentive KA RBERE
payments bonus (Note (i) AIEAL
(Hizt() = 1276 - 1,276
Retirement benefits scheme BINETEE
contributions R - - 2 2
Sub-total INE 35 2,279 37 2,351

Mr. Huang Mr. Xu Ms. Liu
Junlong Yongjun Ning Total
BBEL AKERE =Lt st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TT AR¥ETR ARETR ARETR

B. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B. ¥HTES:
Fees paid or payable in respect of a RERADAIRA

person’s services as a director, BARESAH
whether of the Company and its Rt 2 R 2 B AT
subsidiaries FEMNEE 35 35 35 105
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

1. EFREEZHFMN =)

(@) (continued) (@) (&)
For year ended 31 December 2019 (continued) BE-_Z—NF+-A=+—HLEFEE(#E)
Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Ms. Chen Dr. Shi
Albert Yanping Xinping Mr. He Qi Total
FoxgEEL REELT  LHTEL /% e A w5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTr AR®Tx
C. INDEPENDENT NON- C. BUFHTES:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Fees paid or payable inrespect of ~ F{EARATF
a person’s services as e
a director of the Company R BT
EffHe 119 119 119 119 476
Total emoluments ki 2,932
Notes: Mt -
(i) The discretionary bonus was determined with reference to the (i) BYIBTEAL TR A A RIBETE ©
individual performance.
(i)  The Company does not have any chief executive for which the (i) AR EEMITRAR (KBRS BRTE
functions are carried out by all the executive directors. £ET) °
(i) There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed (i) MRREFEAR  HEEFHELNEXRZRET

to waive any remuneration for both years.

(iv)  No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.

(iv)

Sz 25k o

AEE R EEMEENEHH - AMESEMA
R IARE B 2 SRR ERERARE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F-_FF+-A=+—HAULFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

1. EFREEZHFMN =)

(b) The five highest paid employees of the Group during the (b) AFEEARKELEESFMALTHBIE—
year included one director (2019: one director) whose Z(ZE-NF: —R)EF HHHN L
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 11(a) XK E(@)HEE AFEHRTHOEZ(ZF
above. Details of the emoluments for the year of the —NE : MR mEmH ALz HFMFER
remaining four (2019: four) highest paid employees are as I
follows:

2020 2019

—2-2F _ThF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTT

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 4 R R HMETR 3,489 3,028

Contributions to retirement benefits schemes RRkigH &2 5% 272 382
Discretionary and performance related 15 R R IR AR RE 22 R 1< 3k

incentive payments 6,129 6,731

9,890 10,141

208 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2020
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REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

11.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ N E=REEZHM @)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(b) (continued) (b) (&)
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five AEBERERAERN AR R T MA LT
highest-paid employees as inducement to join or upon W MERBEMASKRIMARERERZ
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. BEN S IEREBERAE
Their emoluments were within the following bands: REFHMN FLATHE :

Number of employees

EaAY
2020 2019
—2=%F  -ThF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARBTT

Hong Kong dollars (“"HK$") 2,000,001 to
HK$2,500,000 (2020: approximately
RMB1,779,001 to RMB2,223,750;
2019: approximately RMB1,763,401 to
RMB2,204,250)

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
(2020: approximately RMB2,223,751 to
RMB2,668,500; 2019: approximately
RMB2,204,251 to RMB2,645,100)
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000
(2020: approximately RMB3,558,001 to
RMBA4,002,750; 2019: approximately
RMB3,526,801 to RMB3,967,650)

SR ([ 1)2,000,001 T2 B

2,500,000t (=T =—F4 :

#ANERH1,779,001TE

AREE2 22375000+ —T—NEF:

HANRE,763,401 TE

AR#2,204,2507T) 2 2
752,500,001 70 £ 7 #3,000,0007T

(ZZ2=ZF : HARE2,223751 08

AREE2 6685007 : —ZE—NF: 4

ANE#2,204,251TF AR #E2,645,1007T) 1 1
784,000,001t & 7% 4,500,0007T

(ZE=ZF : Y AR¥3,558,001 L

AR#4,002,7507C : —E—HE 4

AR#3,526,801 70 AR 3,967,6507T) 1 1
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CREE N

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ﬁii

12.

13.

BEF—A=+—HIFE

DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a final dividend of
HK$0.14 per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31
December 2019 (2019: HK$0.08 per ordinary share in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2018) was declared and paid
to the shareholders of the Company. The aggregate amount
of final dividend paid from share premium of the Company
during the year amounted to approximately RMB625,204,000
(2019: RMB345,208,000).

Subseqguent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of HK$0.07
(equivalent to approximately RMBO0.057) per share has been
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject
to approval by the shareholders of the Company in the
forthcoming general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

12.

13.

R
RRE-F-SF+-ASt—ALRE &

ARBERBE_ZE-NAF+_A=+—HILF
B2 REIRE SRk EBBAER014T(ZF—A
FBE_Z-N\E+-_A=+—HIFESE

BE BB 0.0870) » W MAA R RRIKN
RAHBEBREBENHARY 625,204,000 (=F
—NEF : AR¥345,208,0007T) IR FRE K
REIBODEEIRN ©

A ¥ & B *%EI??: ARREEFCZFH RN
FRBE—_T _TF+ _A=t—HLFEZ
ﬂi,ﬁﬂﬁx%Hx/a”ﬁ”ﬁo‘Oﬁt(*ﬁ?éE(\%’J/\E%O.ow
JT) v WERFFAR BN RERE R R KNG 4t E
& TAMERE -

BREF
RAFHE AN T REREF TR T 8E
i

2020 2019
—2-2F —nE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
Earnings BZF
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per  stE&IREARZEF| 2 2 F|
share, being profit for the year attributable to ~ (BIARRQFHEA A (S
owners of the Company F AR A ) 701,260 1,794,470
2020 2019
et g 32 —ENEF
Number of shares R7EE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B SREARRZF| 2 L@
for the purpose of basic earnings per share InAE 8L 4,905,257,860 4,905,257,860
No diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 HE_Z_ZTFR_ZF-NAF+HA=+—H

December 2020 and 2019 were presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—

EoTE A+ —ALFE

B %% ¥Rk MY RE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% - BEKRRME

Owned Leasehold Motor Office
properties improvements vehicles  equipment Total
FEENE BENERE RE BAERE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBT R ARETR AR®T R
COST KA
At 1 January 2019 RZFE-nF—FA—H 28,453 213,880 8,984 16,134 267,451
Additions WNE - 85,703 658 2,744 89,105
Disposals HE - - (1,322) (591) (1.913)
Deemed acquisition of a subsidiary B {EWEE—EMB AR (H734)
(Note 34) - - - 12 12
At 31 December 2019 and RZBE-NE+-R=1+—-H
1 January 2020 k—Z-_ZF—-f—H 28,453 299,583 8,320 18,299 354,655
Additions NE - 7,170 2,097 3,432 12,699
Disposals HE - - (1,054) (2,010) (3,064)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 35) Ui — B A 7(fi3£35) - - = 107 107
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 33) (& —FINIB2R A(#1:£33) = = (252) (192) (444)
At 31 December 2020 “Z-TF+-A=+—-A 28,453 306,753 9,111 19,636 363,953
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  RitifE
At 1 January 2019 R=F-n&F—F—H 7,265 20,652 5,887 10,700 44,504
Provided for the year FREE 1,026 17,440 1,220 2,248 21,934
Eliminated on disposals RNHEEEH - = (1,243) (483) (1,726)
At 31 December 2019 and - ‘—jLi-I-: =+—H
1 January 2020 “Z-Z%-f-H 8,291 38,092 5,864 12,465 64,712
Provided for the year EW%% 1,026 23,970 1,536 3,197 29,729
Eliminated on disposals REER 4 - - (968) (1,911) (2,879)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 33)  H& Kt BAR(H:233) = = (240) (147) (387)
At 31 December 2020 —Z-TF+-A=+—-A 9,317 62,062 6,192 13,604 91,175
CARRYING VALUES Eﬁﬁfﬁ
At 31 December 2020 “E-TF+-A=+-A 19,136 244,691 2,919 6,032 272,778
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+=-A=+—H 20,162 261,491 2,456 5,834 289,943
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—T-_TF+_A=+—HALFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.

(continued)

The Group's owned properties are erected on land located in
the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line basis, after taking into
account of their estimated residual values, at the following
rates per annum:

Owned properties 5% or over the lease terms of the
relevant land, if shorter

Leasehold improvements ~ Over the lease terms of the
relevant properties

ME  BERSRE®)

AEEMHEENYEERNTE LML

b - BB RRERBEEBEMGF R
BEREATEMNEUEROETENE

JE1E7 SRS 5%k (fH#5E ) Fe AR B -3
Gkt
HEWMERE  RAEDEHES

Motor vehicles 15% — 20% T 15% —20%
Office equipment 15% — 20% N ] 15% —20%
15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. FREEE
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
+ih RAEF E HET
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBETTT
As at 31 December 2020 R-—ZE-_ZEF+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount BRTEE 202,669 241 202,910
As at 31 December 2019 R-EB—-hA&E+=-HA=+—8H
Carrying amount BRTEE 31,810 465 32,275
For the year ended 31 December #BZE—-Z_-_ZF+_-A=+-—H
2020 IEFE
Depreciation charge eEEH 23,279 499 23,778
For the year ended 31 December &HZE=-Z—AF+=-A=+-—H
2019 IHFE
Depreciation charge HEEH 16,607 488 17,095
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

15.

16.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 15. FREEE®)
2020 2019
—BoRF —TNF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETET
Expense relating to short-term leases FHARHESENZH 6,271 3,816

Total cash flow for leases (excluding leasehold  FAEIR &R S &%

lands for properties for sale) (TBEEAHEEYEHE L) 51,748 44,384
Additions to right-of-use assets NEEREEE 194,413 3,124
For both years, the Group leases various offices, and vehicles RREFE  AEBBEEZERAZERTE -

for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 3 months to 20 years (2019: 4 months to 14 years).
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for motor
vehicles and office equipment. As at 31 December 2020
and 2019, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants to the
Group.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various apartments and retail stores
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 15 years (2019: 1
to 12 years), with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond
initial period held by lessees only. Majority of the lease
contracts contain market review clauses in the event the lessee
exercises the option to extend.

16.

REREE -l EANME - HIRAHEE
RIEAE20F(ZF—NF  MEAE14F) -
MEGRFTIZERNEEER - BREZBATRK
R - REEHRB LA T RERN K
B AEEERAANNEEREEANN
HMITH

AEEEeFEHIYAEBRERRAZTREHENE
HHEE BHE—_ZT_TFR_ZT—NF+_A
=t+t—HB EHAENHEASEEEENREH
FETHNEBAEHaEEM -

& 175 5% X B [7) A SR B e AN (] B2 4)

REYE
AEEREBELKEHEHHAZEAAERTER
o mBESESASN HELEVH AT
BI5FE(ZE—NE 1E2126) - REEBAAR
BHEKECEAEVHOER - XKBLHEE
EHNEEMSEBER(WEBEATFEEREE
HER) o
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

16. REWZ &)

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result AEEVERNEEZHEMEBGINS R - RE
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in ATEHELHNSEEEMNE@EIEE ST
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The B - HEANLTEEFREEERRE P
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/ AR HA T AR B MR RER -
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.
Total
gt
RMB'000
AR¥TT
COST A
At 1 January 2019 R-ZE—NF—H—H 2,871,802
Transfer from properties for sale EE At e 1,419,663
Exchange realignment B o FE =8 23,098
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 RZZE—NF+-_A=+—H8BK
—E-TF—H—H 4,314,563
Transfer from properties for sale EETEHEE 107,145
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 33) HE—HEBAE (A33) (793,842)
Exchange realignment FE 34 3 2 (63,874)
At 31 December 2020 RZZEZZEF+-_HA=+—H 3,563,992
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZETHE
At 1 January 2019 R-ZE—hF—H—H 88,230
Provided for the year FNEE 160,187
Exchange realignment ERzEE 828
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 R=EBE-NAF+-_A=+—HK
—ZET-TF—H—H 249,245
Provided for the year FARE 167,433
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 33) & — R E AT (A7:E33) (115,636)
Exchange realignment PE W FH 2 (3,508)
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-ZEF+=A=+—H 297,534
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2020 R-E-_ZEF+—-_HA=+—H 3,266,458
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE—NF+-_A=+—H 4,065,318
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16.

TEF A=t —ALEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group's investment properties are erected on land
located in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The fair values of investment properties as at 31 December
2020 and 2019 of RMB3,671,600,000 and RMB4,418,000,000,
respectively, have been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out on the respective dates by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (“Jones Lang”), an
independent qualified professional valuer, not connected to
the Group.

As at 31 December 2020, the fair values of investment
properties of RMB1,089,000,000, RMB85,000,000,
RMB1,334,600,000 and RMB1,163,000,000 (2019:
RMB1,728,000,000, RMB101,000,000, RMB1,308,000,000 and
RMB1,281,000,000) in Nanjing, Guangzhou, Chongging, the
PRC and Hong Kong respectively, are determined based on
the income approach and direct comparison approach. The
fair value based on income approach is determined by taking
into account the net rental income of a property derived from
its existing leases and/or achievable in the existing market with
due allowance for the reversionary income potential of the
leases which have then been capitalised to determine the fair
value at an appropriate capitalisation rate. The fair value based
on direct comparison approach is determined by assuming
sale with the benefit of immediate vacant possession and by
making reference to comparable sales evidence as available
on the market.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Group had changed the use of certain properties, of which had
commenced the operating lease to outsiders during the year.
Accordingly, it results in a transfer from properties for sale to
investment properties.

The fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 of
the investment properties of the Group are at Level 3. There
were no transfers between fair value hierarchies during both
years. There has been no change to the valuation technique on
the investment properties in Guangzhou, Nanjing, Chongging,
the PRC and Hong Kong, used in the prior years. In estimating
the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use. The fair values of certain
investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid
or accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

16. REM=(#)

AEBREMEEZNPEARFE LM E

BEMEZAFERZZE_ZFR_T—NF
+ZA=+—A55AARS3,671,600,0007T
& AR #4,418,000,0007T © Jhi% B2 A £ 6] 3
MEZBIABREXGHEMMPEHITEET
HREAER AR ([HEHT]) AEE A8
{EHEER -

RZZBE-_TFE+-_A=+—HB FEHER  E
N EEREALREMELATES R AARE
1,089,000,0007T * A K #85,000,0007 * AR
% 1,334,600,000 7© & A & ¥ 1,163,000,000 T
(ZZ— N5 : AKR#¥1,728,000,0007T * AREE
101,000,0007¢ + A R #1,308,000,0007t & A R
#1,281,000,0007T) * JHIRWAE R B L EBOA
BT  MIRAKHAENAFEDNLTR—EY
ERAEBRBAER SHRIEE TS LA E
ZHEWANFEEE  UZEHREZERK
ANBHEEEEE  BEREREEENMEL
EFTUNERCABEAFE - REELE AR
ENRAFEIBREANEIEER T HEL
SLEMG LREMNTELRHEREMETE -

BE_T_ZFR_FT-NFT_-_A=1+—H
LEFE - $%@EE€E&%¥%%H’JH@L E
RERNEIRALFTZREHE - Bty - BE
HAHHENEER/RENE -

$EI%§E;§%%Z RFERIN_F_TFR
jli‘f— A=T—BRE=H - NME

iEW NFERR B ESR - BEFE
RAEBEMN AR EEREBREWMENMA
ZIEERMITEES o HEREWEZAFE
%’x#%%@ﬁZ%L%E = k&ER

HETREMENRFEDER/E - AME
%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁéﬁi‘«éﬁﬁiﬂw\ R e B E o
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, investment properties with carrying
values of approximately RMB1,274,083,000 (2019: Nil) have
been pledged to secure bank borrowings amounting to
RMB780,000,000 (2019: Nil) granted to the Group (see note
29).

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and Over the shorter of lease terms or

16. REWHE &)
RZZE=TF+=-_A=+—8  AEECEH
BRE{E A A R1,274,083,0007T(—E— N4
EIZREYE  URBTFASEZRITEEA
R #780,000,0007T( =& — N4 : 8)(EHIER
(R FsE29) o

PR EYRBA T ENRAEREAEIE

HETHRET REPRSFREZRES

building 25 years
17. GOODWILL 17. BHE&
RMB'000
AR® Tt
COST AND CARRYING VALUE AR REE
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and E/\Zg—ﬂi—ﬂ—ﬁ T—hF+=A
31 December 2020 =t—HE_E_F i‘f’ A=+—H 160,210

Goodwill was arising from the restructuring during the year
ended 31 December 2013. Goodwill has been allocated to
the group of CGUs comprising the Properties Segment, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition in
prior years.

The directors of the Company have performed the assessment
on impairment and determined that the recoverable amount
of CGUs was higher than the carrying amount of goodwill
based on the profitability of the CGUs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REEE N B 2 &
2020 2019
—E-EF —T—N&F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR AR®BTE

Costs of investments in associates KEEE N A Z A 7,581,098 1,685,046
Share of post-acquisition results, net of AMEWERER - MREBKRE
dividend received 521,803 547,583
8,102,901 2,232,629
Details of the principal associates as at 31 December 2020 and RZEZZER-Z-NF+_A=+—HzZ
2019 are as follows: TEMLERAFBEHINNAT
Proportion
Place of of effective Proportion
establishment/ Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
AREREZ
ATEH R/ EEHY HRRA BRERRERELA FERERMA  TEXRH

2020 2019 2020 2019
ZECEE CE3-NEF CZEZEE IR

% % % %
Guangzhou Liansen Real Estate The PRC RMB200,000,000 34 U 34 34 Property development
Company Limited* i AB#200,000,0007C NER
BMBARHERRAA
Guangzhou Lianzhou Real Estate Company ~ The PRC RMB200,000,000 34 3 34 34 Property development
Limited* (*Guangzhou Lianzhou") hE AB200,000,0007 NEER
BMBHEbERRAR(TRARN )
Nanjing Shizhaoguansheng Property The PRC RMB250,000,000 49 49 49 49  Property development
Company Limited* G A&#250,000,0007T WEER

EREREREZERAT
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REtE N Rl 2 (@)
Proportion
Place of of effective Proportion
establishment/ Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
A5EREL
AREH R/ EX8% HRRA BRERRRELA fEReRtl  TEXE
2020 2019 2020 219
ZEIEE CRNE ZBCEE CRNE
% % % %
Gezhouba Nanjing Property Company The PRC RMB50,000,000 30 30 30 30 Property development
Limited (*Gezhouba Nanjing" e AR50,000,0007 NEER
EMEERERERAR(EMEER])
Nanjing Merchants Ningsheng The PRC RMBA0,000,000 - 3 - 31 Property development
Property Development Limited* il AEH60,000,0007 ESE
("Nanjing Ningsheng") (Note |
BRABERRHERRAR(ERER])
(Witi)
Nanjing Merchants Xingsheng Property The PRC RMBS0,000,000 31 3 31 31 Property development
Development Co,, Ltd.* HE A&50,000,0007 ESHE
BRABRBRHEERAR
Xian Wocheng Property Development The PRC RMB10,860,000 3 3 3 33 Property development
Co,, Ltd* alei ARE10,860,0007 EE
BZRZRHEREERAT
Plenty Thrive Investment Limited British Virgin sland  US$86,900,000 25 5 25 25 Investment holding and
RERARRAT ABRUEE 86,900,000 ¢ property development
REERRMFER
Joy Origin Holdings Limited (*Joy Origin") Hong Kong HK$10 30 30 30 30 Investment holding and
HREEERAA(HR]) B B0 property development

REBBRNRER
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REEE N R 2= ()

Proportion
Place of of effective Proportion
establishment/ Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
15EREL
ATEH R/ EX8% R ERERERLLD FERERLl  TEXE
2020 2019 2020 219
SRORE TN CRORE ZEAR
% % % %
Nanjing Shansheng Property Development ~ The PRC RIMB900,000,000 2 2 20 20 Property development
Limitec* E ARH900,000,0007C nEER
ERENFHERSERAR
Xixian New District Wenmao Properties The PRC RMB10,000,000 50 30 50 50 Property development
Limited* (“Xixian Wenmao”) (Note i G ARE10,000,0007 NEER
ERHR R ERRARN BRG] (fati)
Guangzhou Eslite Real Estate Co. Ltd.* The PRC RMBB840,000,000 25 - 25 - Property development
EMARERERAT " ARH840,000,0007C nERR
Guangzhou Kuangrong Real Estate The PRC RMB1,000,000,000 49 - 49 - Property development
Development Co. Ltd.* HE ABH1,000,000,0007 NEER
BNERFHERSERAR
Nanjing Zhaoying Real Estate The PRC RIMB530,000,000 27 - 27 - Property development
Development Co. Ltd * B ARE530,000,0007 ESE
BRAREHERSERAR
Foshan Qinghao Real Estate Co. Ltd* The PRC RMB3,250,000,000 50 - 50 - Property development
(*Foshan Qinghao") (Note i EF ARE3,250,000,0007C NEER
Pl E R ARAR ([ Bhliat ) (Fati)
Nanjing Shixin Real Estate Co. Ltd * The PRC RIVB800,000,000 49 - 49 - Property development
BRTOEHERRAT h AR 800,000,007 NRER

“E-TEFR RAERERARAR
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BE—F-_FF+-A=+—HAULFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REFE AR 2 (4)
Proportion
Place of of effective Proportion
establishment/ Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
F5EREL
AREH RI/EXH% R ERERERLLA fEReRtl  TEXE
2020 2019 2020 2019
SRR TN CRORE AR
% % % %

Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co. Ltd* The PRC RIMB2,500,000,000 49 - 49 - Property development

ENTREREABRAR ﬁF AEH52,500,0000007 NRER

Nanjing Huayao Real Estate Co. Ltd.* The PRC RIB4,000,000,000 45 = 45 - Property development

(Nanjing Huayao") (Note iv) fh ABRH4,000,000,0007% NERER

ERERFHERSBRAR R ) (i)

CITIC Jinghi - China Merchants Shekou The PRC RMB274,500,000 49 - 49 - Property development

Shopping Center Private Equity e AR%274,500,0007T HIESE
Investment Fund*

hESh- e N HEETHEEE

* Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. * FEHEXEE  EH2E -

Note i: Nanjing Ningsheng was deregistered on 17 November 2020 with ez - MRAERR-_FT_TF+—A+LAEE L&
no gain or loss recognised. TERER -

Note ii: The Group is able to appoint one out of three directors in the board Bt < REE i&ﬁWY&ﬁ%AE%E%EPEEP =
of Xixian Wenmao and relevant activities of Xixian Wenmao require & BRI E BN ARG AR K E S
consent with more than half of the directors in the board of Xixian SHAFHESNRE - EWK%@ ESE TR
Wenmao, thus the Group is able to exercise significant influence in REREAZE - At - EARRAREBE R
Xixian Wenmao. Accordingly, it is accounted for an associate of the Al e
Group.

Note iii: The Group is able to appoint two out of five directors in the board Htaiii < AEEREZERILERESFERRETTHEPR
of Foshan Qinghao and relevant activities of Foshan Qinghao & LB AR BB RS ILBEHES
require consent with more than half of the directors in the board SHRAYHESNRE - RARBERHGELEZ
of Foshan Qinghao, thus the Group is able to exercise significant HEEREATE - At - EABRRAKEBREA
influence in Foshan Qinghao. Accordingly, it is accounted for an Al
associate of the Group.

Note iv: Nanjing Huayao, in which 45% equity interest was indirectly held Hitativ : REBEEFE4% BB RERARAS

by the Group, was accounted for as a joint venture as the decision
making process about the operating, investing and financing
activities of Nanjing Huayao requires unanimous consent from
the shareholders pursuant to the signed cooperation agreement
dated 16 June 2020. Subsequently in December 2020, the relevant
activities of Nanjing Huayao require consent with more than half of
the directors in the board of Nanjing Huayao, thus the Group is able
to exercise significant influence in Nanjing Huayao. Accordingly, it
is accounted for as associate of the Group as at 31 December 2020.
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. MEEE N Al ZfEwm (4)
The associates are accounted for using the equity method in ZEMERNINZE RV BRRERERE
these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of the AR RRBIESERE  REBEEZZ_ZFRK
directors of the Company, Guangzhou Lianzhou, Gezhouba “E-NAETZA=+—BLEFE - EIME
Nanjing, Nanjing Huayao, Foshan Qinghao and Joy Origin M~ BNHEER - R R - B R R
are material associates of the Group for the years ended 31 HEAEBzERBMERNT - NEEEKKE
December 2020 and 2019. Summarised financial information RRAIZMBEMBZHINN T (RBREAEES
of the Group's material associates are set out below, which SBRGRE SHMERBMBHRERANZ L) °
represented amounts shown in the respective associates’
financial statements prepared in accordance with the
accounting policy of the Group.
Guangzhou Lianzhou J& JH B M
2020 2019
—E-BE  _TNF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTFT
Current assets BB E 1,035,079 1,628,518
Non-current assets FEMENE B 644 99,602
Current liabilities mEBEE 52,868 750,387
Revenue e 36,978 3,246,199
Profit and other comprehensive income for F g A I E b 2 E UL A
the year 5,122 844,783
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EX 252 B %A BT B N BN A 2
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in FREEHRSEINWT
Guaugzhou Lianzhou was set out below:
2020 2019
—EIBFE  _TNF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
Net assets of Guaugzhou Lianzhou BB = & B R A 982,855 977,733
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest ZNER (B BT JE M Bt N R 7S
in Guaugzhou Lianzhou Ayl 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AN B AT E N BN S 2
Guaugzhou Lianzhou fRmE(E 334,171 332,429

“ETFEER BEREMARAR 221



OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F-_FF+-A=+—HAULFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REFE NR 2 xR (®)
Gezhouba Nanjing EMBRER
2020 2019
—B-8F _—T-hfF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETRT

Current assets mENEE 2,304,000 4,616,893
Non-current assets IERmEEE 3,436 5,833
Current liabilities mEAaE 1,876,576 3,990,651
Revenue Wz 2,844,691 1,379,826
Profit and other comprehensive income P A S B 2 A

for the year 379,435 203,321
Dividend received from associate FRN A E D R WEUR S

during the year 174,195 =
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXE2INzHBERSEZEREMNEE A=
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in ZEREEHREINWT

Gezhouba Nanjing was set out below:

2020 2019
—E-%F —TNF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETRT

Net assets of Gezhouba Nanjing EMERmRZ BEFRE 430,860 632,075
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest A& B P E N R A i

in Gezhouba Nanjing W= L B 30% 30%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in NEBEFBEENEERERZ

Gezhouba Nanjing BREE 129,258 189,623
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REFE QA 2 (%)
Nanjing Huayao R R
2020
—EBECEF
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Current assets MENE E 7,381,865
Non-current assets FEMENE B 842
Current liabilities mEAR 3,430,272
Non-current liabilities SEmBEE 10,000
Revenue Wz 35
Loss and other comprehensive expense for the year FREEREMEZE S E (2,437)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXE2FNZHEERRE BN R RS
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in REEHEREHINOT
Nanjing Huayao was set out below:
2020
—BIBF
RMB’'000
AR T T
Net assets of Nanjing Huayao R 2 B EFRE 3,942,435
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in N8 [ P i R R S A e L D)
Nanjing Huayao 45%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in REE P R R R 2 REE
Nanjing Huayao 1,774,096
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REE QA 2 ()
Joy Origin =
2020 2019
—g-2f —hé
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETTT
Current assets RENVEE 11,567,570 12,981,984
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,476 -
Current liabilities mEAE 2,750,157 3,261,435
Non-current liabilities ERSEFE 5,409,236 6,310,296
Revenue W5 _ _
Loss and other comprehensive expense for FABEREMMEEST T
the year (600) (59)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXENZHBERBBENE SR 2 RE
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in Joy ELREIIT
Origin was set out below:
2020 2019
—ECEF —NF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT
Net assets of Joy Origin Rz BEFE 3,409,653 3,410,253
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest 7N @A #5455 B A2 2 171
in Joy Origin 30% 30%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in REB PR S 2 R E
Joy Origin 1,022,896 1,023,076
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. MEFE N A 2wk ()
Foshan Qinghao #8115 A
2020
—EBECEF
RMB’'000
ARBT T
Current assets mENE E 3,250,199
Current liabilities nEEE 1,713
Revenue g -
Loss and other comprehensive expense for the year FABEREEMEES (1,514)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXE2YHBEERSEER GBS RS
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in IREELRETINT
Foshan Qinghao was set out below:
2020
i
RMB'000
AR¥ET T
Net assets of Foshan Qinghao BB 2 BEFE 3,248,486
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in ANEE B BT LB M R A R RE RS L 1D
Foshan Qinghao 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in REBRFHRIL S ER 2 RAE
Foshan Qinghao 1,624,243
The financial information and carrying amount, in aggregate, AREFEAFERMS Y AEARIRERSEARY
of the Group's interests in associates, that are not individually BN RN EARBEN L REEEES
material and are accounted for using the equity method are BT
set out below:
2020 2019
—B-BRE —ZTNF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
The Group's shares of profit and total AEEDHRF R EEBRALEEE
comprehensive income 34,877 84,813
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBERFEERBERNRERZ
interests in immaterial associates BREEERE 3,218,237 687,501
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REERE R
2020 2019
—g-2f —he
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
Costs of investments in joint ventures WEESEBE KA 3,478,899 3,343,759

Share of post-acquisition results, net of R 248 - KRB WK E

dividend received 72,234 184,734
3,551,133 3,528,493

Details of the principal joint ventures as at 31 December 2020 RZEBEZTFER-_ZT-NFT_A=+—HZ
and 2019 are as follows: FESEDEF ZZHT
Place of Proportion of effective
establishment/ Registered ownership interests Proportion of
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group voting power held  Principal activity
AL/ FEBERL
AIER E3 HERRA ERERRERLA FeRERLA  TEEH
2020 2019 2020 2019
SRORE TN CRORE AR
% % % %
Nanjing Aojian Property Company Limited* The PRC RMB2,000,000,000 6 6 6 6 Property development
ARRARERERAA E ARH2,000,000,0007 VES T
Nanjing Zhaoyang Property Development The PRC RMB200,000,000 46 4 46 46 Property development
Company Limited* i AR#200,000,0007 WEER
BrAEREREERAR
Nanjing Hullong Real Estate Company Limited*  The PRC RMB1,500,000,000 33 3 33 33 Property development
(*Nanjing Huilong’) e ABRH1,500,000,0007% NEER
BREERNESRAD(GRER])
Foshan Dingtu Property Development Co,, Ltd* ~ The PRC RMB1,100,000,000 50 30 50 50 Property development
BleERERRAR hE A&1,100,000,0007C NRER
Guangzhou Xinhe Property Development The PRC RMB100,000,000 34 R 34 34 Propertydevelopment
Company Limited * bt AR100,000,0007T NRER

EMHaRHERRARAR
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

19. REELEZERT @)

Place of Proportion of effective
establishment/ Registered ownership interests Proportion of
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group voting power held  Principal activity
R/ AEEREL
AIER XY AR ERERRERLh FeRERLl  TEEH
2020 2019 2020 2019
SRCRE CENF CRCRE CEAE
% % % %
Nanjing Hongweisheng Property Development  The PRC RMB765,000,000 34 kKl 34 34 Property development
Co,, Ltd*("Nanjing Hongweisheng) i ABR#765,000,0007C MEER
BRI AARHERSERAR (BRLFR])
Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan Property Development - The PRC RMB3,000,000,000 34 R 34 34 Property development
Limited* ("Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan") i AR E3,000,000,0007 MRER
ARERERHERSRRAR(FEREEE )
Chongaing Hanzhi Merchants Property The PRC RMB440,000,000 50 50 50 50 Property development
Development Co,, Ltd.* hE A 440,000,000 NELRE
ERBERERERLARAR
Nanjing Huhe Zhiye Co., Ltd.* The PRC RMB1,000,000,000 14 14 14 14" Property development
HRERERARAA ok AB#1,000,000,0007 NRER
Nanjing Tiesheng Business Management Co,, Ltd.* The PRC RMB10,000,000 % % 55 55 Property development
HRERRRERARAA i ARH10,000,0007C nEER
Nanjing Ximao Zhiye Co,, Ltd* The PRC RMB20,000,000 13 13 13 13 Property development
ARERERARAA i ABH20,000,0007 MEER
Nanjing Zhaohui Place Management Co, Ltd* ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 | 51 51 51 Property development
HRAEARERARAA " ARH10,000,0007C nEER
Guangzhou Runjia Real Estate Co,, Ltd * The PRC RMB50,000,000 30 30 50 50 Property development
BMERERARAA i AR 50,000,007 MEER
Guangzhou City Suiyun Property Limitea* The PRC RMB40,000,000 25 5 25 25 Property development
RAMBEERARAR " NRH40,000,0007C nEER
Foshan Baohua China Merchants Real Estate The PRC RMB200,000,000 51 51 51 51 Property development
Company Limited* i AR E200,0000007T MEER

FUABEERHERRAT
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REEEZ#ERR &)

Place of Proportion of effective
establishment/ Registered ownership interests Proportion of

Name of company operation share capital held by the Group voting power held  Principal activity
Ry/ AEEREL

AEH EXUY R RRERERLLA FERERLA  TEXE

2020 2019 2020 2019
ZECEF “3-NF CBCEE —E)F

% % % %

Nanjing Yuening Property Development Limited®  The PRC RMBS0,000,000 3 3 33 33 Property development
BrfEREREERAT ﬁF AR 50,000,000 NRER
Nanjing Jinhua Real Estate Development Co. Ltd* The PRC RMB79,500,000 2 - 2 - Property development
BRHZEFARAT G ARE79,5000007 UES
Nanjing Jinsheng Real Estate Co. Ltd* The PRC RMB420,000,000 19 - 19 - Property development
HREEHERFERAT Gt ARE420,0000007 UESES
Nanjing Yuelin Property Development Company ~ The PRC RMBE0,000,000 2 - 2 - Property development

Limited* il AR 60,000,000 NRER
ARUREHERSRRAR
Chongaing Wanzhao Real Estate Co. Ltd.* The PRC RMB10,000,000 49 - 49 - Property development\
ERERERARAT E ARH10,000,0007C VEST
* Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. * EEHETEE  EHeE -
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BE_FT_FF+_F=+—HIFE
19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continved)  19. RE & 2 Z % (@)
The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method SEPERZEREVBRREAERIEA
in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion NN =7 7% REBEZEZZT_TFR=
of the directors of the Company, Nanjing Hongweisheng, T-NFT+_A=ZFT—BLEFE  BRAHK
Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan and Nanjing Huilong are the B EARERBERERERHAAEEZEXN
material joint ventures of the Group for the years ended 31 BEME AEEERGELEZHBERE
December 2020 and 2019. Summarised financial information ZHFINW T (BREASES T BERRR 2 &5
of the Group's material joint ventures are set out below, ERAIEIMERAZ )
which represented amounts shown in the respective joint
ventures' financial statements prepared in accordance with the
accounting policy of the Group.
Nanjing Hongweisheng PRGN ;12
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Current assets RENVEE 906,131 1,626,836
Non-current assets EMENEE 13,093 1,791
Current liabilities mEEE 96,658 444,534
Non-current liability ERBAE 4 -
The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the FEERBEZSEBFEUATIER ¢
followings:
2020 2019
—ECBE —TNF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTF T ARETTT
Cash and cash equivalents HeNERIESER 67,257 230,910
Non-current financial liabilities FERBERMEE
(excluding trade and other payables) (T BIEHEG R H M ERFRIE) 4 =
Revenue W zs 32,965 2,227,407
Profit and other comprehensive income P ) S B 2 A
for the year 8,469 449,434
Dividend received from joint venture FABEEEWIARE
during the year 125,800 -
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
Nanjing Hongweisheng (continued)

The above profit for the year included the followings:

19. REELEZET @)
ERGINGETE D)
FEREFEELTIES

2020 2019

—B-%HF —NEF

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

Depreciation and amortisation EREH 6 8
Interest income T B2 A 1,421 3,133
Interest expense FERZ 39 26
Income tax expense FrfSfiFA = 2,456 141,638

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in
Nanjing Hongweisheng was set out below:

EXZ25 2 FEE R R B R oA B A R e

ZAREESRRE T

2020 2019

—B-%F —NEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

Net assets of Nanjing Hongweisheng M RGAE R 2 BEFRE 822,562 1,184,093
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest AR [B FTHEF R ok B B A

in Nanjing Hongweisheng R a Ll 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest N6 (B PR oA BB iR 2

in Nanjing Hongweisheng BRI E 279,671 402,592
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan

19. REELEZERT @)
M REEE

2020 2019
—ECEF —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Current assets RENEE 12,283,325 11,208,194
Non-current assets EmEEE 29,556 15,968
Current liabilities mEAE 8,698,657 7,840,962
Non-current liabilities EmBEE 700,380 428,012
The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the FEERBECSESENTER
followings:
2020 2019
—2-BfF —TNF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREET T
Cash and cash equivalents B RERIKESER 538,680 26,754
Non-current financial liabilities RBERmBE
(excluding trade and other payables) (T BIEER K A e FRIR) 700,380 428,012
Revenue s - -
Loss and other comprehensive expense FABEREMEEST T
for the year (41,344) (30,880)
The above profit for the year included the followings: BRFERENBEATER
2020 2019
—TEHF —E—NF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Depreciation and amortisation e Y 232 192
Interest income FE YA 389 323
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REEEZ#ERR &)

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan (continued) ARREERE)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXEINZHBEHB RN RETEER
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in ZEREEHREIN AT

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan was set out below:

2020 2019
—7—735 :?—j‘l_}f‘i
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREET T

Net assets of Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan MRRERZEETFE 2,913,844 2,955,188
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in 784 B Fr#5 F R 5% & B A 1

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan WS LB 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AEBMFARERERERZ

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan RHEE 990,707 1,004,764
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. RE&E X 2EZH (&)
Nanjing Huilong R ERE
2020 2019
— ? — ¢ :ﬁ_ﬂﬁ
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREET T
Current assets mENEE 1,883,248 3,174,721
Non-current assets EMENEE 11,339 7,400
Current liabilities mEAE 270,207 1,671,424
The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the B ERABzBBENATIER -
followings:
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREET T
Cash and cash equivalents RERZERESER 145,813 478,059
Revenue W25 2,167,288 2,114,922
Profit and other comprehensive income for FREAMEE A2 A
the year 113,683 13,818
The above profit for the year included the followings: EMFERNRFBEATIER
2020 2019
—EEHF —ET-NF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%T ARBTIT
Interest income FE YA 2,800 929
Income tax expense FriSfif = 29,391 4,629

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in
Nanjing Huilong was set out below:

EX2NZHBERBERRNEREEES 2
FREEHREHIIOT

2020 2019

et et 23 —ZE-hHF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Net assets of Nanjing Huilong ARER EEFE 1,624,380 1,510,697
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest NEE FTHE R R E R A

in Nanjing Huilong REZS I 33% 33%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest ZNER B P R AR [E R A 2
in Nanjing Huilong BREE 536,045 498,530
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

The aggregate information of the Group's interests in joint
ventures that are not individually material that are accounted
for using the equity method are set out below:

19.

REeEELEERT®)
AEBMPNERITE L FEARIZEREAEY
ABDEER T EBERBIIMOT -

2020 2019
—EIEE —ZE-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETTT
The Group's shares of losses and total REESHEEREES HERE
comprehensive expenses (15,866) (106,446)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REERFERGELEERZ
interests in immaterial joint ventures AREE AR 1,744,710 1,622,607
20.FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL 20.BAFEFAESNEMERE

21.

The amounts represented the Group's investment in 15%
equity interest in the registered capital of an unlisted company
incorporated in the PRC, which is engaged in property
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a fair value gain of

ﬁ%@%%ﬁ?‘ézﬁﬁ@F*Fﬁ&qﬂlé‘fﬂﬁ&jm#
ETRAIGEMARAN15%RENIRE - ZA
HEMEER -

BE_T-_ZHF+_A=+—BLLFE " B

RMB2,407,000 (2019: RMB3,031,000) has been recognised. a/m/\E”iﬁZAOZOOOTEH’J AFERE(ZE—N
F : AR¥3,031,0007T) °
DEFERRED TAXATION 21. IREFRIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement HEAMBRAKRNZIIME - & TIERERE
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities BENBEEEEE UTNAREHELESRZ
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred DITAVER Rk 2 A -
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:
2020 2019
e —NhE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR¥EFTT
Deferred tax assets RIETIEE B 953,844 1,022,890
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHIESE (537,918) (375,646)
415,926 647,244
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21. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) IRIEBLIE ()
The followings are the deferred tax assets (liabilities) NTARENBERZBELEHEEE(BE)RE
recognised and movements thereon during the year: AR
Temporary  Temporary
differences differences  Temporary
Fair value ondeposits  relatedto differences
Temporary adjustment receivedin  rightofuse  related to
differences onproperty  Dividend  respectof  assetsand allowance
on LAT Tax under withholding  pre-sale of lease ~for expected
provision losses ~ development tax  properties liabiliies creditlosses  Otherst Total
HERE
THIEEH BHRE EEREE HEERS
(. ECELEYS hEkez SEEB. EEAREE
EREE  REEE ATESR  REEMR  EREE  ERER  CEREE Hpx it
RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RWB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARRTn  ARBTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARETR
At 1 January 2019 A=3-nE-A-A 51001 95417 - (180,104) 135693 9573 - - 510590
Deemed acquisition of a subsiciary BN -ERER MY
(Note 34 - 6 (11530 - - - - - (1529
Crealt charge) to profitorloss (Note ) B A(HIE ) H29) 27,005 (16457) - (80,182 53083 2899 5,602 - 191,950
At 31 December 2019 RZB-NETZA=T-H 137,016 19024 (1153600 (260,286) 188,776 12412 5,602 - 647,44
Crealt charge) to profitorloss (Note ) B3 A (IR )(H29) 141,488 (44,.291) - 10,063 (160,348) 3,059 56438 (231721)  (231,318)
At 31 December 2020 R-B-RET-RA=1-H 878,504 U733 (1153600 (290223 28428 15,531 02040 (87721 415926

* Others mainly included tax effect of temporary differences arising from

contract costs and deduction of construction costs of certain property
development projects.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately RMB1,120,582,000 (2019: RMB486,132,000),
available to offset against future profits. Deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of such losses of
RMB138,931,000 (2019: RMB316,093,000) at 31 December
2020. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the remaining RMB981,651,000 (2019: RMB170,039,000)
as at 31 December 2020 due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of RMB490,017,000 (2019: RMB34,982,000) as at 31 December
2020 that will expire in five years from the dates they were
incurred. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

* Hib X2 REETHEMEREIER 2 & QKA EREEK
AMBEEZERERLRBTE -

R-E-_ZF+-_A=+—H A&EBEEEX
BT IEEE L A R%1,120,582,0007t (==
—hF : AR#486,132,0007T) @ A #EK 55 B
#mAl - HREE AR 138,931,000 (=&
—NLE - ARB316,093,0000T)  ER T
TFEF+_A=1+—"HBERBELEHIEEE - B
RARITERIAR IR AR - AR =2 =T F
TZA=+T—BIXERHKT ARKK981,651,000
T(ZZE—h%F : AR¥170,039,0007T) ERIE
EHRBEEE -WN_E-_TF+-_A=+—H0HH
RERMIBEBESD - B8 A KE490,017,0007T
(ZZ—NF : AR¥34,982,00070) BREE
HHEARBR A& Em - Hi/SEn ER LS o
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21. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

22.
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BEF—A=+—HIFE

21.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had unrecognised
deductible temporary differences of RMB660,041,000 (2019:
RMB788,257,000) attributable to the capitalised interest
expenses arising from the intra-group borrowings and
RMB1,171,760,000 (2019: RMB674,419,000) attributable to
the impairment losses on properties for sale. No deferred tax

asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future

profit streams.

ELEFRIE (#)

RZZE—TF+=-A=+—HB AEEERE
SRA] T AR E R AR A R 660,041,000 (=

—hE : ARM788,257,0007T) * It T 55 A
REEARBMEEELEZERLFEFAS @
AR#1,171,760,000c (ZF—NF : ARK
674,419,000 ) Al BB AR A H E W ¥ 2 RE
E18 o A7 B] BB R 2R F SRR ¢ i R
RIEEFHIBEE -

PROPERTIES FOR SALE 22, AR EYE
2020 2019
—EDEE —ZE-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETTT
Completed properties for sale DB TRt &3 9,268,866 7,227,926
Properties under development for sale At EEREPYE 40,899,203 39,830,006
50,168,069 47,057,932
RMB’'000
ARBTT
Analysis of leasehold lands: HET b2 D4 :
As at 31 December 2020 R=B=Z2F+=A=+—H
Carrying amount FREE 34,507,576
As at 31 December 2019 R=-ZB-NAE+=A=+—H
Carrying amount ARHEE 34,822,563
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_E-_EF+-A=+—HLEE
Total cash outflow for leasehold lands HETMIRG ML ARE 4,520,042
Additions RE 4,075,204
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-Z-NAF+-A=+—HLFE
Total cash outflow for leasehold lands FAE LIRS R HAE 11,370,056
Additions NE 11,370,056




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

?\5—;4\

B %% ¥Rk MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

gtj::f

22.

TEF A=t —ALEE

PROPERTIES FOR SALE (continued)

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured under
HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated depreciation, after
taking into account of residual values, and any impairment
losses. The residual values are determined as the estimated
disposal value of the leasehold land component. No
depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands taking
into account the estimated residual values as at 31 December
2020 and 2019.

Included in the properties under development for sale as
at 31 December 2020 is carrying value of approximately
RMB20,738,443,000 (2019: RMB23,011,465,000), which
represents the carrying value of the properties expected to be
completed and available for sale after twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2020, land with carrying values of
approximately RMB3,424,620,000 (2019: RMB6,348,122,000)
have been pledged to secure bank borrowings amounting to
RMB1,442,409,000 (2019: RMB1,501,276,000) granted to the
Group (see note 29).

As at 31 December 2020, the directors of the Company
conducted a review on the net realised value of the Group's
properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale. Due to a decrease in the expected selling
price as referenced to the actual selling price during pre-
sale of the relevant properties or the recent prices of similar
properties during the year, the directors of the Company
determined that the net realisable values of certain of the
Group's completed properties for sale and properties under
development for sale, located in Foshan and Chongging
(2019: Foshan), the PRC, are lower than their carrying amounts
by RMB849,920,000 (2019: RMB358,710,000), in aggregate.
Certain properties under development impaired in prior year
was sold during current year, the respective impairment of
RMB352,579,000 (2019: RMB103,941,000) was written off. As
at 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of properties
for sale amounted to approximately RMB50,168,069,000, net
of write-down of RMB1,171,760,000 (2019: carrying amounts
of approximately RMB47,057,932,000, net of write-down of
RMB674,419,000) in the PRC.

22. A HEYE #)

HETHWREERBEEBVHRESLERIE16
FREBHSKEBEEBRIZRKANREARAFER
EREEETE ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ@z%ﬁ%iiﬁfﬁ”
MESHHEBEETE - KA KR _F_TFR

E-NAF+-A=+—HNEFARREERE
fﬁ MEREELHAHRTEEM -

R-E_TF+_A=t+—HA#EEHEHERH
YIEH - BREEL AR 20,738,443,0007T (=
T—NF : AR¥23,011,465,0007T) @ 578 Hf
BREHRAAZER L T @A BRI R #
HEWMEZ REE °

R_E_TF+_A=+—8  A&EEBEEKF
BREE L A AR 3,424,620,000c(—Z— A1
& NR#6,348,122,0007T) 2 14 - FHET
NEBZRTEE ARE,442,409,0007T( =
—NEF : AR®1,501,276,0007T) fEH R (R
Bi3£29) ©

R_ZE_ZTF+_A=+—H8 AQaE=
RAEBENAHEERRIYWERAGREE
ERTMENAEEFEETEN -BHRS
EENBEERHEADNENEREEBRBUNE
RTHEEMMEAEE TR  ARARESE
EEAEEUATBEBLEEE(ZZ—N
F:oBRLMETAHEEESRTYWERA#
HEZERPYWECANEE FESAREER
EE A R 849,920,000t (ZZF — L4 © A
K #358,710,0007T) - EFHRBERNH T
%F¢%¥EF$¢F&E B BA R B #OR
ARME352579,000c(ZFE—NF : AR
103,941,0007T) ° ¥ _7_7¢+ A=+—
H FEMNATHIENENEEEOARE
50,168,069,000 7t ( #1 B& A R ¥ 1,171,760,000
THHB) (ZE—NAF: FAEHNARK
47,057,932,0007T * ks A R ¥ 674,419,000 7T
HIORL)
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. 5 R H AU IR

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®BTR AR®BTE

Trade receivables (Note i) ST FEWGRIE (M ati)
— contract with customers —HEEFHEL 92,552 6,857
— operating lease receivables — AR TH & W FR TS 12,974 12,957
105,526 19,814
Other receivables H th fE W R IE
Other prepaid non-income tax HAnFE(T IEAT SRS 1,903,410 1,457,146
Other receivables and prepayments H Ath FE Y SR TE K TR AN FROR 635,264 350,905
Amounts due from intermediate holding JE U 7 12 R X R ERIR (B aii)

companies (Note ii) 766,942 1,131
Amounts due from non-controlling interests FEU IR R e 2 R IE (Mt 5t v)

(Note v) 13,584,804 7,748,152
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Note i) & U [F Z B A 7RI (HsEii) 643,873 48,101
Amounts due from associates (Note iii) JRE MBS & X B R IE (B i) 8,128,328 1,414,999
Amounts due from joint ventures (Note iv) JEW & &b R (M7t iv) 6,844,894 9,325,568
Amount due from an investee JEUS & 5 F0E 29,423 26,932

32,536,938 20,372,934

Less: Amounts expected to be received after R TR R —F R W TR

one year:
Amo):,mts due from joint ventures (Note iv) EURA & A (M ativ) - 2,512,813
Amounts due from associates (Note iii) JE U B & 1 ) SR IE (AT i) 4,583,367 687,949
4,583,367 3,200,762
27,953,571 17,172,172
28,059,097 17,191,986

Notes: Hitt -
(i) As at 1 January 2019, trade receivables from contract with customers 0 R-TB—hE—A—0  KARZEA LI LR RS

amounted to RMB708,000.

Trade receivables mainly arise from properties operation income and
rental income from the Properties Segment.

The Group's credit terms with its trade customers are generally within
30 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables in order to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management.

Considerations in respect of properties sold are paid in accordance with

the terms of the related sales and purchase agreements, normally within
60 days from the date of agreement.
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FWA °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

23. ZKBB R H U E R ()

Htet - (%)

(i)

(&)

RIS PREAE B RER A B E 2 EBRKGOERER
DT :

2020 2019

—E-2HE ==l

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT R ARBF T

0 to 180 days 0Z180H 102,877 10,871
181 to 365 days 181HE365H 675 8,180
Over 1 year B —F 1,974 763
105,526 19,814

Included in the Group's trade receivables balance are customers with
aggregate carrying amount of RMB2,649,000 (2019: RMB8,943,000) which
are aged over 30 days and past due at the end of the reporting period for
which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. Before accepting
any new customers, the Group assessed the credit quality of trade and
other receivables based on historical default rates and the repayment
records and considered adequate allowance has been made at the end of
the reporting period.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Included in the current receivables as at 31 December 2020, amounts of
approximately RMB2,234,876,000 (2019: RMB314,685,000) are unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed rates ranging from 6% to 8% (2019: fixed rate
of 6%) per annum and repayable on demand or within one year. The
remaining amounts of current receivables are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand for both years.

Included in the non-current receivables as at 31 December 2020 and 2019,
the amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable over one year.

Included in the current receivables as at 31 December 2020, amounts
of approximately RMB1,590,275,000 (2019: RMB3,216,740,000) are
unsecured, interest bearing at fixed rates ranging from 4.9% to 7% (2019:
4.9% to 8%) per annum and repayable on demand or within one year. The
remaining amounts of current receivables are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand for both years.

The non-current receivables as at 31 December 2019 were unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed rates ranging from 6% to 7% per annum and
repayable over one year.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. As
at 31 December 2020, amounts of RMB624,332,000 (2019: RMB133,000)
are denominated in HK$.

Details of the impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 38.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

785 B 375 FE WUORAS SR N R 4 S A R 6 2,649,000
T(ZZE—N%F : AR#8,943,0007T) * HRERFHEE30H -
RBEPRHEE BB BH - MAKRELRELRERSE
Bl o NEMEMHELA - ARBERBEZENE

REFRBEIEEBRACERFELFEEER IR
RENRENEEEBEHTSBE -

Z BRI - REWRIRERKER -

RZBZF+-A=+—HHORBEKFERN - AR
#492,234,876,0007C (= Z— L5 : AR¥314,685,000
TO) REEAR - L6RE8R(ZT—NF : EEME6%)
MEEFFI R B RARERBEEIN —FAEE - 1
MEFER - REEURENGESR SRR 2B RIE
AR -

N-B_FER_F-NFT_A=1t—HNFRBE
WHRIBER - ZEBRABER 28RN —FRER -

RZB_TEFF+_A=+T—HHRBEKKERN -
AR #41,590,275000 T(ZF—NLE : AR
3,216,740,0007T ) A A « LA49%ZETR (=T — N1
F: 49%FE8%) B EFF KT B RARERKE RSN
—FRNEE - RMEFEER - i ERIEN A A
B RERIRERER -

RETB—NF+ A=+ BrERBERTERN © %
SRABEIEIR - PA6%ET%H B E FFI R B RN —F
RIEE -

ZEBARER  LEUAREREERE - R-_F_F
F+ZA=+—H8 £BAARK624,332,000L(=F
—NEF : AR¥E133,0007T ) ABEEEHE ©

E R AR 2 R ER G BB IRESS ©
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24.

25.

FEoFTFF A= —HIFFE

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The
bank balances carry variable interest rates from 0.01% to 1.38%

(2019: 0.01% to 1.1%) per annum.

Analysis of bank balances and cash denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the entities of the Group

to which they relate:

24 BITHEBRREE

NAEEHEAE
TR EREE AT

A=

BITRHBREECBERS RSB A=A
AT ZEERITHER -
TF0.01%=1.38%(=ZZF—NF : 0.01%=1.1%)
ZZBFEEE o

RITAERIRERN RN

e EE AN T SHEZ R

2020 2019
—EEF —F-NF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Denominated in HK$ LAS BT E 19,704 2,965
Denominated in United States dollars (“US$") MET([=mT])etE 331,213 976
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. X R E B FRIE
2020 2019
—EEF —E-NF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFIT
Trade payables (Note i) 2RI (M) 5,339,157 7,981,782
Other payables H A fE SRR
Other non-income tax payables H i IERT ST FE N TR 1B 2,443,252 1,923,486
Other payables and accrued charges (Note iv) b fE < 518 K fE 5+ 53 52 (Hativ) 3,025,823 1,257,750
Amounts due to intermediate holding FET MBI A Rl I8 (A aii)
companies (Note ii) 11,034,540 1,515,874
Amounts due to non-controlling JE 1T SE 122 A e 2 3B (T i)
interests (Note iii) 2,325,799 2,052,694
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note ii) AN E NG tEa, 2,466,999 164,096
Amounts due to joint ventures (Note ii) BT & & ERIE(Hatii) 1,454,728 1,107,320
Amounts due to associates (Note ii) FESTBE & A B FRIB (B aZii) 2,237,287 883,599
Dividend payable FEIAR B 962,035 1,452,031
25,950,463 10,356,850
31,289,620 18,338,632
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Trade payables arise from Properties Segment comprise construction
costs and other project-related expenses which are payable based on
project progress and the average credit period of these trade payables
is 60 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice
date, at the end of the reporting period:

25. %575

Hizt -

@

HEARRE )

WD B2 E RN R BIERER AR EMIRE AR
BARSL - TRIBRBEE N - BREFEBEMNTR
ZFEEHIAR0A - AEEE HE B RREER
K ARERATE B SUREEEHIRA -

AT AR mEHREE RIRER A E 2 EBEN
IR DA -

2020 2019

—EC-EE —Z-NEF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥ETT ARETFT

0 to 60 days 0Z60H 2,573,702 4,138,742
61 to 180 days 61E180H 550,292 1,929,141
181 to 365 days 181F365H 1,409,736 1,138,470
Over 365 days HBiB365H 805,427 775,429
5,339,157 7,981,782

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. As
at 31 December 2020, amounts of RMB192,995,000 and RMB417,000,000
(2019: RMB35,569,000 and nil) are denominated in US$ and HK$
respectively.

Included in the other payables and accrued charges of approximately
RMB1,536,291,000 (2019: RMB370,281,000) are amounts due to financial
institutions under factoring arrangement entered into by the Group,
construction materials suppliers and the financial institutions offering the
factoring arrangement.

(iv)

ZEBEAELN  REWAREREE -

ZEREAEMAR  REWERERER N_TTF
+=ZA=+—8 ' £8AARK192,995000t K AR
#417,000,0007t (= — 14 : ARKE35,569,0007T &
T) D RIAE T RAREE ©

H A FE A FRE R R ST B S R 49 A R 6 1,536,291,000 7T
(ZZ— N4 : AR¥370,281,0007T) AANEH - EEE
MR E R R RIB LN € BB AT L 2 RIBRH
1B N & R R FRE -
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26.LEASE LIABILITIES 26.1HEAE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREETTT
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEERE
Within one year —ER 31,980 22,521
Within a period of more than one year iR — RN R B BRI A
but not more than two years 35,640 19,251
Within a period of more than two years B3R PR £ B N R R T F AR A
but not more than five years 104,525 57,915
Within a period of more than five years BRAFEEA 270,774 177,647
442,919 277,334
Less: Amount due for settlement with B A28 B A BB E A FE
12 months shown under current liabilities (RNrsa’EsrR) (31,980) (22,521)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 A 1% B B4 B 9 3038
shown under non-current liabilities (RIERBEETITR) 410,939 254,813
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to HEEBEEANIMEESEEERFENTF
lease liabilities range from 4.75% to 4.9% (2019: from 4.75% to 4.75%F4.9%( ZF—NF : 4.75%E4.9%) °
4.9%).
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27. LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING 27. EERERE R
INTERESTS
Amounts represent loans from non-controlling equity holder EHESHEEARTMNB AR IFERERTE
of subsidiaries of the Company. AERK -
The maturity of the loans from non-controlling interests are 3H Hyjiﬁ mEREBRERERSERGE
based on respective loan agreements and are analysed as d WZZDT :
follows:
2020 2019
—B-8F _—ThF
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETET

Within 1 year —F R 1,722,334 736,546
Between 1 and 2 years —ZERE 729,257 33,956
Over 2 years 8 38 W F 36,560 3,228,684
2,488,151 3,999,186

Less: Amounts due within 1 year shown B RN —F AR HR FRIE

under current liabilities (RmshaEsR) (1,722,334) (736,546)
Amounts due after 1 year shown R—F &R FIE

as non-current liabilities (RIErBaEsR) 765,817 3,262,640
Analysis of loans from a non-controlling interests denominated IR E NI EAEE A AN BT
in currencies other than the functional currency of the BEEEEIINE BB 2 AT -

respective entities of the Group to which they relate:

2020 2019
—g=%8F -—T NF
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBT T

Denominated in US$ LAZETTEHE 655,078 700,913
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27.LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

Details of the terms of the loans are set out as below:

27. FERERER (2

BRI FBEDT

Effective
interest rate
per annum 2020 2019
BREFE —ECEF —E-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T

A TIINERFHENER

Fixed-rate loans

denominated in: B :
RMB AR
USs$ ETT

4.75% to 6%

(2019: 4.35% to 8%)
4.75% = 6%

—NF 1 4.35%F8%)

1,833,073 3,298,273

4% (2019: 4%) 655,078 700,913
4% (ZB—hF : 4%)

2,488,151 3,999,186

28.LOANS FROM AN INTERMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY

28 BEERATERMK

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the current HE-T-Z E&_ E—NEF+=ZA=+—8H
portion of loans from an intermediate holding company are IEFE - BEZERARERZRE S AEE
unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates - mPBRARBITIREZ ARBEEGRT
offered by the People’s Bank of China and repayable on Rt BW AR ERKEE -

demand.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the non-current éki_v NETZRA=T—HILEFE B

portion of loan from an intermediate holding company was
unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates
offered by the People’s Bank of China and repayable in 2021.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the loan was further

extended to 2022.
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29.BANK BORROWINGS

29.4R1TIEE

2020 2019

—EEF —ET-NEF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBET T

Bank borrowings, unsecured (Note i) EARIRIRITIE & (Mati) 10,885,391 11,262,272

Bank borrowings, secured (Note ii) BIEMIRITEE (H77ii) 2,222,409 1,501,276

13,107,800 12,763,548

Less: Amounts classified as current liabilities W N EAERBRBZEE (6,128,418) (1,289,292)

Amounts classified as non-current liabilities PERERBEEZEHE 6,979,382 11,474,256
Carrying amount repayable:* JE(EIE IR (E :

Within one year —F A 6,128,418 1,289,292

More than one year but not more than two years ~ ##3i8— 18 N BB E 5,528,555 5,476,554

More than two years but not more than five years BB/ 41BN B i@ F 1,450,827 5,997,702

13,107,800 12,763,548

* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the

loan agreements.

The Group's bank borrowings were subject to variable-rate
interest at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates or fixed-rate interest
at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates per annum offered by the
People’s Bank of China at the respective date of borrowings'’
agreements. The effective interest rates on the Group's bank
borrowings ranged from 4.0% to 4.99% (2019: 4.0% to 5.5%)
per annum.

Notes:

(i) Amounts of RMB3,330,344,000 (2019: RMB2,919,454,000) are bank
borrowings from China Merchants Bank (“CMB") which is an associate
of CMG. Also, included in the balance was borrowings of approximately
RMB326,105,000 (2019: RMB180,000,000) that are guaranteed by the non-
controlling interests and by the Company.

(i) As at 31 December 2020, land with carrying values of approximately
RMB3,424,620,000 (2019: RMB$6,348,122,000) and investment properties
with carrying values of approximately RMB1,274,083,000 (2019:
Nil) have been pledged to secure bank borrowings amounting to
RMB2,222,409,000 (2019: RMB1,501,276,000) granted to the Group.

(i) As at 31 December 2020, amounts of approximately RMB2,158,186,000
(2019: RMB2,255,686,000) were guaranteed by China Merchants Shekou.

* B EARRIR T AR N B R 5 ik 9 2 RUE B K B B R R o

AEBZRITBESFRPEARRITRMEAZ
ARBEEERMEQER 2 IFHERFIAR
KEEERFEXRERZBEERXGE - A%
BRTEEZERFNENFA40%EL99% (=
Z—NF : 4.0%E5.5%) °

Bt -

(i) S ARK333034400 L (ZZE—NF : ARK
2,919,454,0007T) & B B RE B 2B & A RBERT
([1BRARIT D ZRITEE © WIN  BRABBRAKNARE
326,105,0007t (= ZF— 1% : AKR#180,000,0007T) T3
MIFERERRARRERZEE -

(i) RZZE-_TE+-_A=+—H A£LEZEKAE
H{E 4 A A R3,424,6200007T (ZF—ALFE : A
R %6,348,122,00070) 2 T REEEEN A ARKE
1,274,083,0007C( = — & : ) 2 REWE - UK
FALEE 2 RITEEARKE2,222,409,00070(=ZF— N
& AR#1,501,276,00070 ) EH &R -

SFE+-A=+—H " HARM?2,158,186,000
—h4E : AR#2,255,686,0007T) K& F 1B
I LR o

(iii)
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30.BOND PAYABLE

30.BfIE%

2020 2019

—EB-FF —hEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBET T

Carrying amount repayable within one year —FRAZEEERAE 1,900,000 -
Carrying amount repayable over one year BB FZEEEREE - 1,200,000
1,900,000 1,900,000

The bond with aggregated principal amounted to
RMB1,900,000,000, interest bearing at 4.6% per annum,

BEZ - RENKLO%ET S

RN EEITA G BT A AR 1,900,000,0007T
BFRE MR

payable quarterly and will be matured in 2021. The Company ZEZFIE c ARFAR T EUWEE
did not issue any new bond in 2020. ITEMFES o
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31 BRA
Ordinary share capital of the Company RNRA A2 E R
Number
of shares Amount
RO B E ©8
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each FRAEESE0.01L 2 Eidmk
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019, and RZE-hF—H—H "
31 December 2020 :?*ﬂﬁ—?—_ﬁzﬂ'*ﬂﬁ
—ECTE+_A=+—H 30,000,000,000 300,000

Number
of shares Equivalent to
R & B HER
HK$'000 RMB’'000
BETT ARBTT
Issued and fully paid: BITRBRE :
At 1 January 2019 and RZT-—NF—A—QH "
31 December 2019 and —hE+=—A=+—HBK
31 December 2020 —ECEF+-A=+—H 4,905,257,860 49,053 39,132
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32. PARTIAL DISPOSAL AND DEEMED
DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES

(0

For the year ended 31 December 2020

On 24 July 2019, Foshan Merchants Property
Development Co., Ltd. (“Foshan Merchants”), an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a cooperation agreement with Foshan
Jinteng Property Development Co., Ltd. (“Foshan
Jinteng”), pursuant to which among other things, Foshan
Jinteng subscribed for 10% of the paid-up capital
of Foshan Merchants Luhu Property Development
Co., Ltd. ("Foshan Luhu”) at a cash consideration
of RMB94,906,000. The equity interest transfer was
completed on 22 April 2020. Upon completion of the
equity interest transfer, Foshan Jinteng holds directly 10%
of equity interest in Foshan Luhu and the Group holds,
directly 90% of the equity interest in Foshan Luhu. As
the Group remains its control over Foshan Luhu, Foshan
Luhu remains as a subsidiary of the Company after the
transaction which is then accounted for as an equity
transaction. The difference between the fair value of the
portion of consideration paid by Foshan Jinteng, to the
extent of interest not related to the Group, and 10% of
net assets in Foshan Luhu amounted to approximately
RMB2,206,000 was recognised by the Group in equity
transaction reserve.

D HERGFLHERHE QAR

BE—ZE-_TEFE+-_A=+—HILEE
RZZBE—-AE+LA=-+WAE KR AIKE
2EMBARBLBEEMEARRAA
(MBLBEDEBLTeEEERES
RARI([HILESE]) LA ERS @ &
(B EE) @ LS BREGILIBRELK
R ERZEAR AR (I 1)10%
EHBRA - B A AREE4,906,0007T °
BEEEEON S _TFHA-—+ AT
B o MIRBEEZETKE - HILEBEER
BHRILANI0%E  MAKBEEERF
BB R0%AXHE - ARAEEIA
IREE L3R LU AR R RO S5 Il 4 - AR 1L AR OM
MRS (BERIERBRERSAR)BINDAR
ARABOHB AR o FhEEANEEEBEE
mmE HLEEAIARELDZAF
BEESEHELUAHANI0BEEFEZMZ
ZE A AR 2,206,000 T AR 5= E iR A
R B -
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32. PARTIAL DISPOSAL AND DEEMED
DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(1N

For the year ended 31 December 2019

On 20 March 2019, Xixian Wenmao, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary, entered into a capital injection
agreement with an independent third party (the
“Acquirer”) by issuance of new shares of Xixian Wenmao
to the Acquirer. Upon the issuance of new shares, the
Group's equity interest in Xixian Wenmao was diluted
from 100% to 50%. The dilution of the Group's equity
interest in Xixian Wenmao constituted a disposal of
the Group's equity interest in subsidiary. The disposal
resulted in the loss of control over Xixian Wenmao by the
Group, and the Group accounted for the retained equity
interest of RMB5,075,000 held by the Group as an interest
in an associate. The gain on disposal was recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit and loss account.

The fair value of the 50% retained equity interest in Xixian
Wenmao at the date on which control was lost were
regarded as the cost in initial recognition of the Group's
interests in associate.

Assets and liabilities derecognised at the date of disposal
of Xixian Wenmao were as follows:

32. 8o HERBFLERKE 2B

FEF ()

(I

BE_T-NFt+_-_A=1t—HItEE
R-ZTE—NE=A=-+H AR (AE—
REEZ2EWNBAR)B—FZBILE=F
(TWEF D ERRBIEFEITARR XX Z
FIRMEIEE W - REITHRMDE -
7R £ B 72 78 B K 2 AR R 100% 58 =
50% ° ANEE R PR 3K 2 IR FEESE AL
AEERMBAR R 2 HESE -
EETHBEBUNE B K & ¥ 78 B SR 2 12 5
¥ MASBEAEERFA AR XX 2R
2B R HE N R 65,075,000 AR EE &S A T 2
R - HEWRERGAIBRIRAR ©

B SR 542 R B LS % 0 S0%1R 2 1
%2 AT EREAIRERAREREE
ARV Z A o

REERREE BRIEERANEERE
BT :

RMB’000
ARBETTT
Properties for sale ARt HE Y 662,048
Trade and other receivables ST e oA pE W SR IA 263
Bank balances and cash AT RIS 7,090
Trade and other payables ST R E A PR FRIE (664,530)
4,871
Less: fair value of the 50% retained equity B ANEEFERNS0%RB R AT E—
interest held by the Group — BAN—fEH SRR s
classified as interest in an associate 5,075
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE —RHTB AR 2 Was (204)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: EEEHEZRESTHFE
Bank balances and cash disposed of EHEZRITEBRRS (7,090)
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33. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL
INTEREST AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

(0

For the year ended 31 December 2020

On 17 April 2020, China Merchants Land (Shenzhen)
Limited and Happy City Investments Limited, indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company entered
into an equity interest transfer agreement with China
Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holding Co., Ltd.,
a non-controlling shareholder of Nanjing Xinsheng
Commercial Management Co., Ltd. ("Nanjing
Xinsheng"), to further acquire the remaining 49% equity
interest of Nanjing Xinsheng, at a cash consideration
of RMB389,053,000. The acquisition was completed on
30 June 2020. Upon completion, the Group holds 100%
equity interest in Nanjing Xinsheng.

Subsequently on 14 October 2020, the Group completed
the disposal of the entire investment of 100% equity
interests in Nanjing Xinsheng, with an independent third
party Nanjing Chengsheng Commercial Management
Co., Ltd., at a consideration of RMB793,985,100. The
equity interest transfer was completed on 14 October
2020. Nanjing Xinsheng ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company upon and after the disposal.

33 WBREMEE R HEHRB L T

BE—ZE-_TEFE+-_A=+—HILEE
MR-ZE_ZTFEMA++H  BEBEM(E
INBRARRARA REEEEN B A 7%
EREARAREAEBHEO T EER
BOBRAG(AEREREEERER
ARI(ERER]) ZIFERRR) TR
EEEGE  WE—SPRERRERAET
A9% R #E + &N E AR ARM389,053,000
T WEENR —_E-_FEA=1+H5%
B o M5ERE  AEBF AR R E8100%
R HE o

RZZ_TF+ATMHAR  AEEHE—
BB E =T EANRNEERERAA
ERNHEEREENEBRERE KB
A ANR#793,985,1007T » IiEEZEE N —
T-TFE+ATEARZRK RHEEZER
2% BREBRTBARNARZHEBAR -
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33. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL
INTEREST AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(0

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

Assets and liabilities derecognised at the date of disposal
of Nanjing Xinsheng were as follows:

I3 WBRBRIMERE R HERB LR (8)

(1)

HE—
(&)
REEFREREARIIBERANEERE
BT :

E_ZF+_A=+—HLF

RMB’'000
AR¥TT
Bank balances and cash RITEBRKEIRS 50,254
Trade and other receivables 7% K E At FE SR IE 9.144
Investment properties wEME 678,206
Property, plant and equipment M BB R& 57
Trade and other payables ST R E A PR IR (24,966)
Tax payables FENREIR (287)
712,408
Less: Consideration B R(E (793,985)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — R P B A 7l 2 e (81,577)
Consideration received by cash LAZR € WER YR AB 793,985
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of B BEREZRITERER S (50,254)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEEEZ RS RAFHE 743,731
For the year ended 31 December 2019 () BE—ZF-hF+_A=+—HILFE

On 31 May 2019, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into an agreement with DGW Jurong
Investment Alpha SP, a non-controlling shareholder
of Torch Investment Company Limited (“Torch
Investment”), a 70% owned subsidiary of the Company, to
further acquire the remaining 30% equity interest of Torch
Investment and its subsidiary at a cash consideration
of HK$110,800,500 (equivalent to approximately
RMB94,645,000). The acquisition was completed on 31
May 2019. Upon completion, the Company held 100%
equity interest in Torch Investment, which became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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RZE—hLhFRA=+—8 ' xA7—
HEE N B AR EAR R TR T70%RERD
NIEHREBRAT ([ NERE ) K FEE
% A& B DGW Jurong Investment Alpha
SPETSI ek - AEE— W NERE R
EfBARSBRT0%KE  BeRELYD
/%78 110,800,500 7T (1H B R 49 A R #&
94,645,0007T) « WEEBR =T —LF A A
=+—HEK - RTHKE - KAalFEa A
JERE100%M#E « ERARAT 2 AN
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34.DEEMED ACQUISITION OF A 34 . RAEWEE — BB 2 7

SUBSIDIARY

As at 31 December 2018, Nanjing DJZ Trading was 60%
directly held by the Group, and remaining 40% was held by
Nanjing Dingjiazhuang Logistics Center Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing
DJZ Logistics”), an independent third party to the Group.
Nanjing DJZ Trading was accounted for as a joint venture as
the decision making process about the operating, investing
and financing activities of Nanjing DJZ Trading requires
unanimous consent from the Group and Nanjing DJZ Logistics
pursuant to the signed agreements.

Pursuant to the revised memorandum and articles of
association dated 1 July 2019, the Group was able to exercise
control over Nanjing DJZ Trading and accordingly Nanjing
DJZ Trading became a subsidiary of the Group.

RZZB-N\F+-_A=+—H XEEEEHF
BRRT XEREE0%ER  MEART Kt
mELEREEAR(ERT Himinl) (A
KEZBYE =) FHEBRTI0%ES - RED
BilaE AR XEREIRIEAERE
RAREEERTREREZLE - RERE
BEHZARBREFEAEEALERT REY
ME— KRR

REAHA-Z-NFLA - ANKETAR
BERAMRAR AEEEEERT RERE
TTEZEGRE  RERTRERERRARE 2
MBAR -

Amounts
recognised
at the date
of deemed
acquisition

PARAE

YeiE B 54

RMB’000
AREEFTTT

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised RREWE B IE 2 EEMATHERZ

at the date of deemed acquisition: BfE :

Equipment (Note 14) RE(Hat14) 12

Deferred tax liability (Note 21) RIERIA B E (A aE21) (115,296)

Property under development BRERPYE 888,035

Other receivables H fth & Y SR 495

Bank balances and cash RITHEBR R 6,539

Trade and other payables T R H A FE T FRIA (1,736)

778,049

Carrying amount of interest in a joint venture REB-NFLA—ARGEREIERZ

as at 1 July 2019 BREME (448,816)
Add: Non-controlling interests N SERERR RS (311,220)
Less: Net assets acquired B TR 2 BEFHE 778,049
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HES S hEKE 18,013
Analysis of inflow of cash and cash equivalents BIERBENBE AR R NERREER

in respect of deemed acquisition of a subsidiary: MADHTT -

Bank balances and cash acquired BEWRERITEBR RS 6,539
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34 DEEMED ACQUISITION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (continued)

The 40% non-controlling interests in Nanjing DJZ Trading

recognised at the acquisition date was measured by reference

to share of net assets of Nanjing DJZ Trading.

35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS
ACQUISITION

(0

Acquisition of Nanjing Chuangma Investment
Development Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Chuangma”)

On 14 September 2020, Nanjing Zhaochuang Technology
Innovation Service Co., Ltd., an indirectly subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a cooperation agreement with
Nanjing Longma Technology Development Co., Ltd.,
an independent third party, to acquire the 100% share
capital of Nanjing Chuangma, at a total consideration
of RMB130,572,000. Upon completion on the same
date, Nanjing Chuangma became a subsidiary of the
Company.

Nanjing Chuangma is principally engaged in property
development business in the PRC and up to the date of
acquisition, Nanjing Chuangma has not carried out any
significant business transaction except for holding a piece
of undeveloped land. The Group elected to apply the
optional concentration test in accordance with HKFRS 3
Business Combinations and concluded that the property
under development for sale held by Nanjing Chuangma is
considered a single identifiable asset. The acquisition has
been accounted for by the Group as acquisition of assets.

34.BFERB-ENBAR @

MRT XERERKE R HRERH40%IFE K

BEDEZ2ENEERT XABE CEERE
MESE °

35. WEEM B L R A RSIFEEWE

WEERASEREZERARAR([M
REIF])

ROCE-TFAATEA - ARFNEE
M B A R R AR R RSB R A A
HEVE=TEARESHRERERAR
RIS AR - PAUEE R 85 100% Hy A%
- BRERARY130,572,0007T © 158
RE R - BREISKAARRNME QR

MRASEERTERENRHAERS

ERBER  BREEEARFEMBIR
S MRAIBSYEBETENEREER
5 o ARBERBF BV REEREINR
REEHETEENEREANR  XEH
HRARERASRAZAHRBERRT
MEL—BAHREE - WEESHAEH
NEERBEAR

RMB'000

AR¥TT

Bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 18,710
Property under development for sale HERERYE 111,862
130,572

Cash paid BfIRE (130,572)
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B EWEBRITAR LI ® 18,710
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition WEEE A 2 IR &R FEE (111,862)
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS

ACQUISITION (continued)

(1) Acquisition of Guangzhou Junyao Real Estate Co.,

Ltd. (“Guangzhou Junyao”)

On 1 July 2019, Guangzhou Merchants Property
Development Ltd. (“Guangzhou Merchants”), an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a cooperation agreement with Guangzhou
Juntang Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Juntang”),
an independent third party, to acquire the 50.1% share
capital of Guangzhou Junyao, at a total consideration
of RMB325,650,000. The acquisition was completed on
15 May 2020. Upon completion, Guangzhou Junyao
became a subsidiary of the Company as the Company has
the power to cast the majority of votes at the board of
directors meetings and the power to affect the returns.

Guangzhou Junyao is principally engaged in property
development business in the PRC and up to the date of
acquisition, Guangzhou Junyao has not carried out any
significant business transaction except for holding a piece
of undeveloped land. The Group elected to apply the
optional concentration test in accordance with HKFRS 3
Business Combinations and concluded that the property
under development for sale held by Guangzhou Junyao is
considered a single identifiable asset. The acquisition has
been accounted for by the Group as acquisition of assets.

(I

5. WENRBARYL ARIIEEEWE
(&)

WEEMNTmEREHEAR AR ([E
MER])

RZE-—NFER—B BEMNEEFEHE
BRAR(TEMNER] - RARBNEEE
BNBAR)EBYE=BMTEZERH
EARAR(TEMERE)TZAEH
VAUG B RN B R 50.1% A - R(ER
AR #325,650,0007T - WEER=_ZE=-F
FAATHATK - REKEK > ARAR
AERNEZSER LRAZEELEHE
FROWR - WEMBREK SRR EH M
NG

EMNBRIBRTBEREMEMBEER
MEERBER  BRiFF —EARFELLR
Sh o EMERY BETEMNEREBLR
2 o REBEERIBEEU RS LR EINR
XBEEHETREENEREAR  XE
R SENERFEZAREERRSD
MER—BAHREE - WEECHAEHE
NEEWEAR -
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS
ACQUISITION (continued)

(1N

Acquisition of Guangzhou Junyao Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. (“Guangzhou Junyao”) (continued)

35 WIEBHMELARLARIIFEEWES

(%)

(I

WEEMNMERFEHEAR AR ([E
JNERR ) (&)

RMB’'000
ARBT T
Property, plant and equipment M - R E KRR 107
Other receivables H fth & W sk IE 31,394
Property under development for sale FEBRTYE 1,639,450
Bank balances and cash IRTTAEER IR & 23,169
Other payables H At FE I FRIE (1,046,848)
647,272
Consideration — deposit paid in previous year RE—AEFEXMHZRE 325,650
Non-controlling interest FEPE AR I A 321,622
647,272

Cash inflow arising from acquisition WHEEEMR SR
Bank balances and cash acquired BB RITER RS 23,169

36.RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

(0

Plans for Hong Kong employees

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all its
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF
Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in the future years.

Plans for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions
under the schemes.
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36. RIRBAIGTE

(i)

BEEEE
AEERBERMACERREESZEHRES
T8 - RESFEZEEB B —RBIUIE
AEAES 2 ESBAKEMBEED MR
B AKEYBRESHE I HE-—BEAR
BZETEEL R EHR - BEE IR R
AT AR R 2R F 2 A5 13K o

Bl & B 5t &

TEES2ETEBAMEF 2 ERER
RARENEE - BB AR ARZEK
BN EEFME TE L ZH#
N RRERMEHES - AEBEERK
BAE B 2 — B EARIBEZATEEL R

FEHERK



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. EcRmERE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of loans from non-
controlling interests and an intermediate holding company,
bond payable and bank borrowings net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity, comprising share capital, share
premium, various reserves and non-controlling interests.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital, cost of debts, gearing
ratios and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues, the payment of dividends as well as the issue of
new debts or the repayment of existing debts.

Group entities which were established in the PRC maintained
RMB denominated bank balances, the remittance of these
funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions
imposed by the PRC government.

The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the reporting
period was as follows:

AEEEEREES  MERASEZERBKE
WARERE T ANEE  RAFTEBERTE
BEBERAR 2 KERRT SRR FRNKAE
o REERBRBELFRFTE -

AEEZEARBRIEFZRED RERIER
REIER  ENEFARRITEES - MR
RERRESHB A RER (BRERA - K
B BRFmRIFERER) -

ARREFEHRAENEE - ERRE — 8
ERBLEERZBEAABZAR - BRAR
REZEZHBER  AKEREHTHR K
NERBARBEITHEXNEERBEY  FEHE
BREXRLGRE -

RPBRIZAREERFERNARKEFEZ
RITHEH  BPBEIERZEFRBETHER
T B i [ 5 R o

AEERREREEEAZERBBLRDT

2020 2019

—ECEF —=—hEF

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥T AREETTT

Debt (Note i) &I (Hati) 19,492,774 21,961,032
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KRS (9,718,815) (8,957,799)
Net debt RIETS 9,773,959 13,003,233
Equity (Note ii) s (W) 31,266,834 28,829,567
Net debt to equity ratio RETS S L 0.31 0.45
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37.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Notes:

(i) Debt is defined as loans from non-controlling interests and an
intermediate holding company, bond payable and bank borrowings.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group and non-controlling
interests.

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

37. E¢EREE®)
Biat -

() EBDERLFERESRERERARER  BHE
FARBITEE -

(i) HERDEANREMEES RN RIS

38. €I A
(@) EBWMTAESE

2020 2019
—F-BF T NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREET T

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial asset at FVTPL BAFEFABENCRHEE 106,899 104,492
Financial assets at amortised cost BHHEKATEZERMEE

(including bank balances and cash) (BIERITHEHREIES) 40,293,289 27,841,433
Financial liabilities sMEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REER AT ECERMEE 48,241,597 38,364,486

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, bank balances and cash, financial
asset at FVTPL, loans from non-controlling interests
and an intermediate holding company, trade and other
payables, bank borrowings, lease liabilities and bond
payable. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 3. €I E®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) EREREREBZEEBEKR(E)

(continued)
Market risk
Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency denominated other
receivables, bank balances, and other payables,
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The
management has closely monitored foreign exchange
exposure and will undertake necessary procedures to
mitigate the currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

5 B B

B E R

AREE 2 EibEKGRIR - RITAERARE
BN FORASNEEHE - EBAKERY
SRR - BEEETYERIINERR - I
RERDEERZFEMEERR

AEBUINEHEZEBEERER AR
W& REEREH 2 REEDT

Assets Liabilities
BE a8\

2020 2019 2020 2019

—BCRF _TNF —BCRF _FNF

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARBTrT ARBTR AREKETET

HK$ ot 644,036 3,425 417,165 165

US$ v 331,213 976 853,496 885,039

Inter-group balance TN E 7S

HK$ ot 1,253,519 1,073,461 37,082 55,152

US$ =W 539,101 283,388 62 66
Sensitivity analysis BURRE DT

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk from
assets and liabilities denominated in HK$ and US$.

AEBEIZAZABERETHENEE
rEEEERE -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
(2019: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB, the functional
currency of respective group entities, against US$ and
HK$ which represents management'’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rate.
The sensitivity analysis includes outstanding US$ and
HK$ denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2019: 5%) change in foreign currency rate. A positive
(negative) number below indicates an increase (decrease)
in post-tax profit where RMB strengthens 5% (2019: 5%)
against US$ and HK$ and vice versa.

(b)

3. €mIE®)

PR EIE B AR R ()

mIE R ()
BE R (E)
HRESN (&)
TRHALAEERARE(HEEEER
DR EH) T B THERRZES%(—
T—NF 5% ZBRE ZBRERETE
BEEHIINEERAEHIR AR EE 2
i - MERESMBEAXTRERFTEZ
REERER  YRHREHREAERR
SNETER 2 5% (=T —S1LF : 5% ) BB HE
HE - DTEB(RZBOBTREARER
ET R EF5% (=T —NF 1 5%) kR
BAREM 2 IBIMOR ) B8 - RZTA »

2020 2019

—B=FF T NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Profit for the year FRE T 60,958 17,569

Interest rate risk

The Group is primarily exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate interest bearing
bank balances, bank borrowings and loans from an
intermediate holding company. The directors of the
Company considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances
is limited due to their short maturities.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to its fixed-rate loans from non-controlling interests,
amounts due from associates, amounts due from joint
ventures, bank borrowings and bond payable.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy in relation to fair value interest rate risk
and cash flow interest rate risk. However, management
of the Group monitors interest rate exposure on an on-
going basis and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of RMB Benchmark Loan
Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China.

The sensitivity analyses below have been prepared
assuming these financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) higher/lower for variable-rate interest bearing
liabilities and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year would decrease/
increase by RMB26,835,000 (2019: decrease/increase by
RMB14,717,000 (excluding the effect for borrowing costs
capitalised)).

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from:

e  the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the end of each
reporting period; and

e  the amount of financial guarantees provided by the
Group as disclosed in note 42.

(b)

38. €T A

PR EIE B AR SRR ()

mIE R ()

FEm R ()

FRESW (&)
AEERSRENERAREBREPRTE
ARBRITREZ ARBEET R X 2K
Ak -

A THBREDN IRERNBSHREEER
ZHEARBESHTANBFREENR
S o NERA T BEE A B RS T X E R
BRA TR T RES0EER (—F— N5 50
EEEL) - B hRIEZ SRR AL BB o

HLAZ BRI R B2 AEFR LT RE
SOfEZEZE( —ZF — N4 : SOEEE)MAA
HihBHRFRE  ANEEFARREE
g R L, AR 26,835,00070( =
T—NF R A RE14,717,000
T(BIBRERNUEERANTE)) o

FERE
AEBERRZHFRERITEEEMSIK
AEBELMBRRAZEANEERRS

e BREHHAERESUBHAREKA
O SERERREREEZRA
B R

o [Mi42PTiEMAEERME B E
REHER -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of
bank balances. At 31 December 2020, approximately
45% (2019: 51%) of the bank balances were deposited at
CMB. Except for approximately 20% (2019: 14%) of the
bank balances deposited at China Construction Bank
(Asia) Limited and approximately 8% (2019: 9%) of the
bank balances deposited at Agricultural Bank of China,
deposits in other banks are individually less than 10% of
total bank deposits and bank balances. The credit risk of
these liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are either state-owned banks located in the PRC or banks
with high credit ratings.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect
of amounts due from intermediate holding companies,
non-controlling interests, fellow subsidiaries, associates,
joint ventures and an investee. In order to minimise the
credit risk on these amounts, the management of the
Company continuously monitors the credit quality and
financial conditions of intermediate holding companies,
non-controlling interests, fellow subsidiaries, associates,
joint ventures and an investee of the Group and the level
of exposure to ensure that follow up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. Based on the assessment on
the market condition and current budget of property
development projects held by the relevant joint ventures,
associates and an investee of the Group, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
in respect of these balances is insignificant as at both
year ends except for an amount due from a joint venture
located in Guangzhou as at 31 December 2020. Due
to a decrease in the actual and expected selling price
of that joint venture's property development project
during the year ended 31 December 2020, the directors
of the Company have recognised an impairment loss of
RMB187,294,000 in profit or loss on the gross carrying
amount of the amount due from the joint venture
according to its internal credit rating assessment.

260 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2020

3. €mIE®)

(b)

PR EIE B AR R ()

EERE(E)
AEBZRITEHRBEERBRERIBER ©
MN-E-_ZTHE+-A=+—8  RIT&H
4945%( —Z—1L4F : 51%) TFE R BRI R
17 o BRIBITERRKI20%(Z T — L& 14%)
K #18%( —F—N4F 9% ) TF AR R :R
BAT(MN) AR AR KA BERERTH
BRI E L IRITHFE R D R IRITER R IRIT4E
BRABERZ 10% > AR 5 ¥ F ALK
ZBBRITXEREETRZRIT - Bt
ERBESZEERBAR o

AEERERBZZRAR - FEZERE
7 RARMBAR  BERR aEh%
k—2REBHRZFBTEEERARES
B AREERBRZEERRREER
B ARAREEEREEEASEREKE
RAT -~ IEERER  RAEMBLAA - B
ERE - BEPENUNMKREHRZEEE
R IA R R B K - BERERER R
EREEUR DR HRER - ZRWISMRT AT
BARAEEREBEERE BERFTR
BREHSBENEHERZRE 2B AR
B ARAEZERS > AEERMESE
ZERZEEHRNEERRETEK -
R-ZE-_TF+-A=+—HEK R
REMZEEEEFRRARI - HE-F
“EFE+_A=+—HILFE - T2HR
ZARECENYMERZRE ZERRAS
EB/RD  ARBEZRBEAFEETR
At LB S B RRFBAZAEREER
1B 25 A fiE R (BB 1B A R %5 187,294,000

JG °©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

?FT/_\

B %% ¥Rk MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

gtj::f

TEF A=t —ALEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables

Trade receivable consists of properties operation income
receivables from customers. The Group monitors the
outstanding balances on an ongoing basis. Credit
evaluations are performed by the management before
properties operation agreements are entered into
with counterparties. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables individually. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk on trade
receivables is significantly reduced.

Other receivables

In determining the credit risk on other receivables,
the directors of the Company have taken into account
the historical default experience and forward-looking
information, as appropriate. There had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
The Group has considered the consistently low historical
default rate in connection with payments, and concluded
that credit risk inherent in the Group's outstanding other
receivables is insignificant.

(b)

3. €I E®)

BHERREREBZENRBEE)
EERK(E)

FIBIEW K
FBEEWRIBEERERKER 2 L2l
A o REBIRFEEEBETRERER
HRGHFII U EBEERZERN  EEE
SRTEETE o I - AEBIRIBTEL
= BB EE B E IS RGBT E R
Bl - LM E - ARABESERA - K
5 B 50 7% FE WK IR 5 E A5 B R K18
N

H it JEY K TE

REEE H A EUCRIERN EERRE - AR

AEFDERELEZOLBRIATELEER
(@) - BVRERREERR I ERE
EEM - ARELEE - ERENELN
HRBAEIER  BAR/AKEEMAREEERK
REBEENEERRILTERX -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Other receivables (Continued)

The Group provides guarantees to banks in connection
with certain customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans
to finance their purchase of the Group’s properties. If
a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage
during the period of guarantee, the bank holding
the mortgage may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding loan and any interest accrued thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to repossess
the properties for resale. Therefore, the management
of the Group considers it would likely recover any loss
incurred arising from the guarantee provided by the
Group. No such repossession of properties occurred
during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

The Group also provides guarantees to banks in
connection with borrowings of certain joint ventures
and associates. The maximum amount that the Group
has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
RMB1,965,493,000 (2019: RMB879,231,000) as at 31
December 2020. At the end of the reporting period, the
directors of the Company have performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that these has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
of the financial guarantee contracts.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

3. €I E®)

(b) MBBEREREBRRBRE)

FERRE)

AEENHABEERBRFFEFEEEAT

#hl

Other financial assets/

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables other items
HittemEE

AR EE TR b EBEWRIE HftE B

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL — not credit-  12-month ECL
default and does not have any impaired
past-due amounts

e HFHHELDRRRE - BV EEAELD FHEREERRE - 12 ATEBEEER
HE REERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL — not credit-  12-month ECL
but usually settles in full impaired

BEaE EBALERIHRZER  ERELH SHEHEERE - 12 AFE SR
B E AMEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL - not credit- Lifetime ECL - not credit-
in credit risk since initial recognition impaired impaired
through information developed
internally

2= WERHIRTE B R B R E SRR B VIRHER FHRHEEHE - EHEHESRHE -
N AMEERE AMEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating that Lifetime ECL — credit- Lifetime ECL - credit-
the asset is credit-impaired impaired impaired

B BRBRARECEERE FHRHEESHE - FHRMEESE -

FERE EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

MisH BRBRPEBARRRENBEEE - WaHA B 50R MisH B BTRIA

i A SR B 4R [ SRR AT OB
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38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. ¢RI E#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BAFEEPREIEBIZ MR (&)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERR(E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFMAEENSMEE(HEEXTER
the Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL EFEERERFT ) NEERBRMRO
assessment:
Internal External 12-month or Gross
credit rating  credit rating lifetime ECL carrying amount
12f8 A28
AREEFR  MMEERR BREEER REEE
2020 2019
“ECEF —ZNEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
i3 ARBT T ARETT
Amounts due from related parties 23 Note N/A 12-month ECL 28,713,585 18,564,883
Uk B 7 3K0A Bzt NEA NEREHEEES
Amounts due from related parties 23 Loss N/A Lifetime ECL - 1,471,973 -
R B 7 FRIA BB TEaA credit-impaired
2HERREERE-
EERE
Bank balances 24 N/A P1-P2 12-month ECL 9,718,815 8,957,799
RITHER NEA F-BRE 12EAEBEEESR
F_ER
Other receivables 23 Note N/A 12-month ECL 470,684 298,937
A ity iR fiist @A 2MEARBEEER
Trade receivables 23 Lowrisk N/A Lifetime ECL 105,526 19,814
FBENFE Vel NEH 2HEBREEER
Note: For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses HiiF - A EERBRERNS - ARBEEARBRER

past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased AFHEEERR B VAR RE D AR LA - &
significantly since initial recognition. In the opinion of the directors RAIEFRR - ARRENEERRRIEKE -

of the Company, there is no significant increase in credit risk of the Tt TR B BRIEL KA -
amounts as the amounts are not past due.

Liquidity risk FBESER

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between AEM B IS E B R T
continuity of funding generated from operating activities W R EESTEEANES Y BB R
and the flexibility through the use of borrowings and BT R TG o AATEE SRR
issue of new debts. The directors of the Company FREELIRN  TEEE R ES IR
closely monitor the liquidity position and expect to have BB N = W TE B %A 0E o

adequate sources of funding to finance the Group's
projects and operations.
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38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
The following table details the Group's expected
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting
period.

3. =M I B

PR EIE B AR SRR ()

REE SRR (E)
TRAMRNEEFTEDR A EH TR F
BENBEBER - RRBEAEEATHE
RXMETECRABCKERAMERR
HURREHEBELAMRRLRE -
ZREENERACEERE - 78R
ERFPMNER - RBREPAFEERHR
BEIR SRR TIIR B KR 4R o

Weighted  On demand Total
average or within 61to 18110 1102 2103 Over undiscounted ~ Carrying
interest rate 60days  180days  365days years years 3years  cash flows amount
il EEYE] AARRE
THE  W60BRA  61Z180B  181Z365R 1808 Pk BB REAR EaE
RMB'00  RMB000  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETRL  ARETR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR
At31 December 2020  H=Z=Ff
t2A=t-R
Trade and other payables ~ EHRE (MR - 28,748,823 - - - - - 28748823 28,748,823
Lease iabllties HERE 4.85% 8938 16,555 26,814 54,336 53457 437999 598,099 442919
Loans from non-controlling ~ FEARIERE
inferests 5.32% 30,845 60,490 1745343 753972 37,831 - 2628481 2,488,151
Loans from an intermedliate B 2RATEH
holding company 475% 1,798,385 3123 4,815 209,500 - - 2015823 1996823
Bank borrowings REE
~fixed rate ) 4% 8877 1016422 - - - - 1025299 1,000,000
- variable rate -8 465% 690682 2473273 2424064 5719365 882117 805,365 12,994,866 12,107,800
Bond payable FEfi s 4.6% - 43700 1,943,700 - - - 1987400 1,900,000
31,286,550 36413563 6144736 6737173 973405 1,243,364 49,998,791 48,684,516

Financial quarantee HHERSY
contracts 5,567,473 -

- - - 5567473 -
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38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

3. €mIE®)
(b) MBEEREEEEREEE)

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESER(E)
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average or within b1to 1810 1102 23 Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 60 days 180days  3650ays years years 3years  cash flows amount
Mg REN AR
TR ROBR GIZ0E  181ESH 152% B BB iEER L
RMB'000 RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMBI000 RMB1000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR
At31December 2019 R=F-7E1ZA
=t-H
Trade and other payables ~ $EREfERFE - 16403454 - - - - - 16403454 16403454
Lease liablties HEaE 480% 6,360 11,691 17,246 31,042 29,160 267,761 363,266 271,34
Loans from non-controlling  SFERERE S
interests 5.22% - 247 910849 040883 3332538 - LS 3999186
Loans from an intermediate EZARATE
holding company 475% 3122490 - 209500 - - - 3BW O 3MB298
Bank borrowings BikE
-~ fixed rate -8 483% - 612,186 934 1792795 345728 - 58003 5431176
- variable rate —%E 505% 9%,133 38,704 68052 4140677 290565 553 84T 7332312
Bond payable EfifES 4.60% - 43,700 43700 1987400 - - 2074800 1900000
19,988,437 133768 1878471 815797 9683082 613304 40654059 38,641,820
Financial quarantee HiERSY
contracts 3,148,783 - - - - - 3148783 -
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38.Fl
(b)

TEF A=t —ALEE

NANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the
full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by
the counterparty to the guarantors. Based on the
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no
amount will be payable under the arrangement. However,
this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee, which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparties that are
guaranteed by the Group suffer any credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31
December 2020 and 2019 recorded at amortised costs in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values.

38. €T A

(b)

PR EIE B AR SRR ()

RBE SRR (E)
RV BRERENZEERMISHY
FAERARLHRR - AIRBEEZHERS

BRI RERLAERFEZRREH
ARERSHREER2EA - AEER

RRFEEBARBZ RN E[FIE -
A - b AIREE NS - AT AKEE
1%?&%%??)?%@4&57}%% RIRE XS

EERMRBRERER PR ZATEEME

CETLES DEVS S i i
ZFIEEHAR - 8 LRI ESRE
EZIBHETAMAZ SBNEEE -

~NYE
AKRAIEER :?:?iﬁ_g
—hFE+= H*‘i— B RAFABERE

NEHERAARZEREERSRARBZ
FREEEE QA HERS °
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. T E %)
(c) Fair value (continued) () AYEM#E)

The below tables summarised the financial instruments
measured at fair value:

Fair value Fair value
Financial instrument as at 31 December hierarchy
DFE
eRMIR R+=A=+—H DNPEER
2020 2019

g5 —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AREFT

TERBMRAFEAENERTA

Valuation techniques and
significant key or unobservable inputs

HEFTEREXZERFTAERAARE

Financial asset at FVTPL 106,899 104,492  Level 3
BAFEFABRSNSE B=&
BE

Note: A slight increase/decrease in the discount rate used in valuation
would not result in a significant change in the fair value of the
financial asset at FVTPL.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows
are estimated based on expected return,
and the contracted investment costs,
discounted at a rate that reflects the
internal rate of return of the underlying
investments.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value (continued)

3. €I E®)
© ATEGE)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of
financial asset

BAVTEFS =R ENSREEYR

RMB$'000
ARBFT
Balance at 1 January 2019 R-ZBE—NF— A —BWER 16,711
Capital injection (Note 46) EE (Ffat4s) 84,750
Unrealised fair value change recognised in RIBFERANREE N ER
profit or loss 3,031
Balance at 31 December 2019 NZE—NF+-A=+—HrEH 104,492
Unrealised fair value change recognised in R e HAT(EEH)
profit or loss 2,407
Balance at 31 December 2020 R_ZT_ZTF+-_A=+—HWEH 106,899

The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities have been determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on a
discounted cash flow analysis.

Valuation processes

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurement are
determined by the directors of the Company.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
engages independent qualified valuers to perform the
valuation when considered necessary. The directors of
the Company work closely with the independent qualified
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The directors of the Company
review the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the assets
and liabilities semi-annually.

LtEMEERERABZIAFEIRE

REERAZURBESRENNERE

N

]

fHEBRR

BAHEFARSNEBREERAFER
B MEMBHRERE - AFEEZE
RGEETEERBABRBIRARRESE

E °

B BEZ AFER - AEBEFZA LR
AEEMSEIE - £ EE —REARIE
ZBERT AKREREFTERZREBILS
EREEMETHE ARAREFSES
VABERGEMETAERIENERZ
BETERBABE - ARREREFFF
EHEENBBEATERBZRA -
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39.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-

cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are

those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,

classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash

flows from financing activities.

39. MEEH 2B EHR

TRFVNAEERME TS < AEED - BIER
ENFBRSED  MEBDELEZBBENER
Bensd R RkBEeRENGARERERT
PEABETHRETEZARG -

Non-cash changes
E3Ed L)
Non-cash
1 January Financing Exchange Finance New lease Dividend ~transactions 31 December
2020 cashflow  adjustment  costsincurred entered declared (Note 46) 2020
2 W& FREAR FRERS  -BoEE
-B-H BERE Ei@E BERE  FTINHEE BERRE (fit46) t=R=1-A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARETT AEETTR AEETT AEETR AEETR AEET T ARETT
Amounts due to intermediate  [Ef{fEEERAFIFE
holding companies 1,515,874 9,518,666 - - - - - 11,034,540
Amounts due to non-controlling FE3HERERFUA
interests 2,052,694 344,208 (71,103) - - - - 2,325,799
Amounts due to fellow EARZNBARE
subsidiaries 164,096 2,302,903 - - - - - 2,466,999
Amounts due tojoint ventures  ERAEREFE 1,107,320 347,408 - - - - - 1,454,728
Amounts due to associates ERBEARHE 883,599 1,353,688 - - - - - 2,231,287
Loans from non-controlling ~ JHEREREH
interests 3,999,186 (1,269,022) (45,417) - - - (196,596) 2,488,151
Loans from aniintermediate  FIEARARE R
holding company 3,298,298 (1,301,475) - - - - - 1,996,823
Bank borrowings HEE 12,763,548 344,252 - - - - - 13,107,800
Bond payable EffEA 1,900,000 - - - - - - 1,900,000
Lease liabilities HEaR 277,334 (45,477) - 16,649 194,413 - - 442919
Interest payables (included in RIS GIAZER
trade and other payables) HipfEfzE) - (1,169,489) - 1,202,273 - - - 32,784
Dividend payable (includedin BB (GFAEHR
trade and other payables) HipfEfzE) 1,452,031 (1,311,734) - - - 821,738 - 962,035
29,413,980 9,113,928 (116,520) 1,218,922 194,413 821,738 (196,596) 40,449,865
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39.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(continued)

30. MERBH 2B BEHER®)

Non-cash changes

5
Non-cash
1 January Financing Exchange Finance New lease Dividend ~ transactions 31 December
2019 cash flow adjustment  costs incurred entered declared (Note 4) 2019
“INE R FEEN FRERS I Syik:3
-A-H Reng ERHRE RERA  FUMEEE EERRE (Wi46) +=RA=t-R
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Amounts due to intermediate  ERREIZZRARE
holding companies 2838266 (1.322392) - - - - - 1515874
Amounts due to non-controlling [E3HER &R
interests 109471 1943223 - - - - - 2,052,694
Amounts due to fellow ERRZNEATRE
subsidiaries 168,547 (4451) - - - - - 164,096
Amounts due tojoint ventures  [ERASMEFA 1070952 36,368 = - - = - 1,107,320
Amounts due to associates  [EFEAATEE 433,384 449715 = = = = = 883,599
Loans from non-controlling FEERERER
interests 6,345,655 (552822) 11353 - - - (1,805,000 399,186
Loans from anintermediate  FERRARIE
holding company 3,487,611 (189,313) - - - - - 3,298,298
Bank borrowings HIHEE 6,914,870 5,848,678 - - - - = 12,763,548
Bond payable EffE% 1,900,000 - = - - = - 1,900,000
Lease liabilities HEaf 297,043 (36,752 - 13919 3124 = = 277,3%
Interest payables (includedin ~ ERFIBGTAEHR
trade and other payables) HitERE) 80,883 (1,203,867) - 1,122,984 - - - -
Dividend payable (includedin RS GIAEER
trade and other payables) HitERE) 962,033 (686,403) - - - 1,176,401 - 1,452,031
24,609,215 4,281,984 11,353 1,136,903 312 1,176,401 (1,805,000 29413980

“E-TEFR RAERERARAR
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40.0PERATING LEASES
The Group as a lessor

All of the investment properties held have committed tenants
for the next one to twelve years.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

402 EHE
AEBEEREHAA

A2 EMRENELHPARR T —F&E

T FHMER -

KA ENREREFENT

2020 2019

—E-EF —T-NEF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T AREET T

Minimum lease payments receivable on FEWEE RN REREFIBNT :

leases are as follows:

Within one year —E R 151,632 186,650

In the second year F-FERN 120,809 179,315

In the third year EF=FN 102,276 159,861

In the fourth year FHFA 65,417 184,355

In the fifth year ERFA 51,167 133,566

After five years AF& 255,586 327,226

746,887 1,170,973

41. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following commitments contracted for but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of:

41, I

RBEHREEER  AEEEHATEEEA]
WX RNERE M BERRBEZAEWT

2020 2019
—B-%F T NF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBFIT

Construction of properties under BEAHEEEERTYE
development for sale 10,984,363 9,942,081
Capital injection to joint ventures AaErEITE 1,666,310 1,025,650
Leasehold improvements HEMEEE 45,610 35,906
12,696,283 11,003,637

272 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

42.FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 42 BBEREN

2020 2019
—BEHF —E-hF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARETTT
(Restated)
(78 &751)
Guarantee given to banks in connection with TR ZBE MG TIRIT 2R
facilities granted to customers (Note i) (Ktati) 3,601,980 2,269,552
Guarantee given to banks in connection with R TEELERBENRZ
facilities granted to joint ventures and BLE M 4a T RIT 2R (M 52ii)
associates (Note ii) 1,965,493 879,231

Notes: Bifat -

()  The Group acted as the guarantor to the mortgage loans granted to () AEBERETETAEENEERZRIBERMEEE
certain purchasers of the Group’s properties and agreed to repay the RA - WRBMERRENELWEZTEAMERER
outstanding loan and interest accrual thereon, if the purchasers default FEEGEENAEEERREEATE - FARES
the repayment of loan before the issue of the property certificate. The RRAVEERNIHERENOZ AFELTERX -
directors of the Company consider that the fair value of the financial
guarantee contracts at initial recognition is not significant.

(i)  The directors of the Company consider that the fair value of the financial iy ARREFRAVNBERRREHZERERZATFEL

guarantee at the initial date of providing this guarantee is insignificant. TEKX -
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43. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES A3 BEEATIHE
(a) Related party transactions (@) BEALRS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated BRI E M BmREMEMARESEIN -
financial statements, the Group had the following AEBHEHBEBEATHEAEATRS
transactions with related parties:
2020 2019
—_ 7 —% $ :%7}“‘6‘5
Related party BEAL Nature of transaction TEME RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%TR ARETF T
Ultimate holding REERAT] Rental income HeBA = 752
company
An associate of MEER AT Z Asset management BEESERSE 18,074 1,361
an intermediate NG service
holding company
Fellow subsidiaries R &M B 7 Property management MEEBEELH 138,496 159,738
fee expenses
Construction service fee  TI2IR%&EE A 38,612 7,421
Rental income HEWA 7,662 549
Operational support EETRFRBEBA = 630
service income
Other expenses Hi &R 5,773 2,119
An associate of SRR ARZ Finance costs & R AR 139,902 143,573
ultimate holding NG| Bank interest income SRITHI BUA 35,840 24,443
company Rental income e A 4,817 5124
Site management income i E IR A - 28

Related party balances

Details of the Group’s balances with related parties are
disclosed in notes 23, 25, 27, 28 and 29.

As at 31 December 2020, bank balances of approximately
RMB2,564,207,000 (2019: RMB1,131,247,000) were
deposited at CMB, an associate of the ultimate holding
company.

As at 31 December 2020, bank borrowings
of approximately RMB2,158,186,000 (2019:
RMB2,255,686,000) were guaranteed by China Merchants
Shekou.

274 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2020

(o) BAEALHE
AEBEMBAL ZERFABRER

232527~ 2829 -

B

REZ_FTFF+_H=+—H - Ri7&

AN R #2,564,207,0007T (==

7L¢

AR #1,131,247,0007T ) 17 WA H & R 1T
(BBREEBRARZBE AT o

() R=FE=_FHFFT-_H=+—H

#2158,186,0007C ( =& —

AR

TRAR
NEFE:ARE

2,255,686,0007T ) RRTE E TR B A &



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

B %% ¥Rk MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

43.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

A3 BB ATHE @)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel (d) EEEERABZHE
2020 2019
St 553 —F-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREETTT
Short-term employee benefits 52 HiE B 4E T 12,701 12,689
Post-employment benefits RIS R 274 384
12,975 13,073

Transactions with other government-related entities
in the PRC

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under CMG which is controlled by the PRC government.
Thus, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group is ultimately controlled by the PRC government.
In addition, the Group operates in an economic
environment currently pre-denominated by entities
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by the PRC government (“PRC government-related
entities”). Apart from the transactions with the related
parties as set out in (a) and (b) above, the Group also
conducts businesses with other PRC government-related
entities in the ordinary course of business. The Group's
bank deposits and bank borrowings are entered into with
certain banks which are PRC government-related entities
in its ordinary course of business. In addition, the Group
entered into various transactions, including purchases
of land use rights, construction of properties and other
operating expenses with other PRC government-related
entities in the ordinary course of business. In view of
the nature of those transactions, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that separate disclosures
would not be meaningful.

Management services

The Group's activities were planned, directed and
controlled by the management of China Merchants
Shekou, which did not charge any fee for services
rendered during both years.

(e)

HEMPERFEEELE RS

AEESETERFZH 2 BERSEE
THREBRXKEERRZ &5 Bt - &
RAEFRA > AEEZ P EBT&EE
B o BbSN - REEATEEREIRBIRE X
PEIBFMES - AREHIREFAES

FEHNER((TERFHEER]E
BoREX@QROMMFEBEALZR
290 REBETTR AR ERBEHEEM
RERFEEERETER - AEE 2R
TERRBITEEIRBE B EBKBRES R
BHBEBGREERZE TIRITAIL ° 1t
S REBEFIVZERS - BERARE
EBBRTEABPERFHEERES
THEAE  BEVMEREMEERX
HZEXZEEER  ARBEFEALS

B IR A%

AEEZEHREEHEAERERE - =
BRES - RWESERREE QL ER
PR 2 BRFSWERET & /] -
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BE—F-_FF+-A=+—HAULFE

44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 44 XA FIMB AR 2518
THE COMPANY
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 RZBE_EER_T—NF+=_A=+—8"
December 2020 and 2019 are as follows: AR EZMBARZFFBHOT
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
B BRAREHRE ERRMEERAEE
WEARARE B L 3 8 AR A G Endidl] TEXK
2020 2019
=t 2.2 —2-NF
% %
Directly owned
ERER
Champion Apex Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
EXRARAF BB 75110,0007T REER
Cosmos Boom Investment Limited ~ The BVI US$100 100 100 Investment holding
AEREBBRAF EBEARS  100ET REER
Harvest Allied Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
ERREBRAR & 710,000 REAZER
Indirectly owned
BEHEE
China Merchants Land The PRC RMB1,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Shenzhen) Limited (Note i)
RERERCRINBRARKH) + AR H1,000,0007C REER
China West Premier Housing The PRC US$533,960,015 50 50  Property development

Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)

ERAAENAEEARAR RE 533,960,015% 7T MEER
(Hiatikiv)
China Merchants Land Asset Hong Kong HK$11,500,000 100 100 Real Estate Investment Trust
Management Co., Ltd management
REARENEEBRAR 0 75 #11,500,0007C FHERAEREE
Cheuk Tat Development Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Property investment
(Note i)
SRERARDAK L) 0 BT NERE
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BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of

Issued and fully

44 RAFIMB AR 2 # 1B @)

Proportion effective

incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL BRARBHRE ERRFEERAEE
WEARARE A0t TR A L pl TEXK
2020 2019
—E-%F —TNEF
% %
Chongaing China Merchants Yi Yun  The PRC RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property development
Property Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
EERAKZRMEARLA H AE#20,000,0007T NEER
(Hiatiii)
Chongaing Central Park Company ~ The PRC RMB3,666,249,600 50 50  Property development
Limited* (Notes i and iv)
EERERARLERZARAR ARH3,666,249,6007C B
(HiztiRiv)
Chongging Merchants Yi Cheng ~ The PRC RMB759,000,000 100 100 Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
EERBEKHENEREERAR & AER#759,000,0007 NEER
(Hiatiii)
Chongging Yizhi Business The PRC US$200,000 50 50  Property development
Management Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)
ERRERXERARAR H 200,000%7T NEER
(HiztiRiv)
Coming Wealth Limited (Note i) Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Property investment
EREEBRAR M) BB BT NERE
Chongaing Merchants Jinshan Yi Ku The PRC RMB10,000,000 40 40 Property development
Business Management Co., Ltd.*
(Note i and iv)
EEFRHCILEEHEER HE AE#10,000,0007T NEER
BR A (HzziiKiv)
Chongaing Merchants Yi Gang The PRC RMB1,050,000,000 100 100 Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
EERBEKERMEREERAR & AE#1,050,000,0007 NEER
(Hiatiii)
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 44 RN RFIMB AR 2R #)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL BRARBHERE ERRMEERAEE
WEARARE B TR A Ll TEEXK
2020 2019
—E-%F —FhE
% %
Converge Holdings Limited The BVI Us$10 100 100 Investment holding
EFZERER AR EBEAES  10XT REER
Cosmo City Limited (Note iv) Hong Kong HK$4,640,010,000 50 50 Investment holding
BUAR AR (Htiv) BB 751#4,640,010,0007T REZER
Cyber Light Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100 51 51 Investment holding
HEREBR AT BB BH1007T REER
Foshan Merchants Wharf Property ~ The PRC US$109,898,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)
FLRFNEREHEERAR & 109,898,000% 7 NEER
(HiztiRiv)
Foshan Xin Jie Property The PRC US$250,123,443 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)
BLEREHERRAR H 250,123 443% 7T NEER
(HiztiRiv)
Foshan Yi Yun Property The PRC RMB3,640,000,000 50 50  Property development

Development Co., Ltd.*
("Foshan Yi Yun")
(Notes iii and iv)
BILEKEEHEERAA H AR #3,640,000,0007T MmEER
(TBRILKE ) (Brztiii Riv)

Foshan Merchants Property The PRC RMB948,030,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd* (Note iii)

BLREESERBR AR (ML) AR 1948,030,0007C NEER

Foshan Kai Da Cheng Investment ~ The PRC RMB507,100,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)

FLTHENREERARAR B AR 507,100,0007C NEER
(Hiatiii)
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

44 RAFIMB AR 2 # 1B @)

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective

incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest

Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL BRARBHRE ERRFEERAEE
WEARARE BT 3t 8 TR A L pl TEXK
2020 2019
—E-%F —TNEF
% %
Foshan Yi Yun Zhen Yuan Property ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 55 55  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
BLGERERHEERAR H AE#10,000,0007T NEER
(Hiatiii)
Foshan Yi Yun Shang Yuan Property The PRC RMB10,500,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes iii and iv)
HILKELEEEERAR H AE#10,500,0007T NEER
(HiztiiiRiv)
Foshan Merchants Luhu Property ~ The PRC RMB948,030,000 90 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes iii and iv)
HILAEE AR EERAR H AEH#948,030,0007 NEER
(HiztiiiRiv)
Foshan Merchants Hanlin Property ~ The PRC RMB192,000,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Limited*
(Note iii)
BLREBHEEFRD A H AR #192,000,0007 NEER
(Hiatiii)
Foshan Merchants Zhonghuan The PRC RMB1,614,000,000 50 50  Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
("Foshan Zhonghuan”)
(Notes iii and iv)
BLREPREEARD A HE AR#1,614,000,0007C NEER
(Il R ) (Hratii Kiv)
Foshan Merchants Guolin Property  The PRC RMB50,000,000 60 60  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
("Foshan Guolin”) (Note iii)
BLREREEEFRD A H AR #50,000,0007 NEER

(TR ) (Byatiii)
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF A4 R R BB RR ZF B @)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL BRARBHERE ERRMEERAEE
WEARARE B TR A Ll TEEXK
2020 2019
—E-%F —FhE
% %
Foshan Merchants Brilliant Property  The PRC RMB2,016,000,000 50 50  Property development

Development Co., Ltd.*
("Foshan Brilliant")
(Notes iii and iv)
BLBAAERHEBRAR HE AE#2,016,000,0007T MEERE
(TBRILSEEE ) (Bratiii Riv)

Foshan Yi Yun Xiao De Property The PRC US$172,500,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)

BLKEZERMERRA A H 172,500,000 7T NEER
(HiztiRiv)
Foshan Yi Yuan Guan Yuan Property The PRC RMB100,000,000 40 40 Property development

Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes iii and iv)

BUEEBERNESRAR HE A #100,000,0007C NEER
(Histiii Riv)

Guangzhou Junyao Real Estate The PRC RMB650,000,000 50.1 - Property development
Co., Ltd (Notes iii and iv)

BEMERELE H AR #650,000,0007 NEER
BRAR(HiztiiRiv)

Guangzhou Yi Yun Property The PRC RMB100,000,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)

EMKEEHERBR AR (ML) AR 100,000,000 NEER

Happy City Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100 100 Investment holding

ZERBERAF BB BH#1007T REER

Harpen Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 50 50 Investment holding
("Harpen”) (Note iv)

eEEnEXRARAR(GE]) &E 7%10,0007C REZER
(Hitiv)
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 44 KRN BB AR Z5E1E &)

THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

Proportion effective
ownership interest

Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL BRARBHRE ERRFEERAEE
WEARARE A0t TR A T gt il TEXK
2020 2019
—E-%F —TNEF
% %
Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co., The PRC RMB148,380,817 51 51 Property development
Ltd.* ("Merchants Nanjing”)
(Note i)
AARMEFR)ERAA FE AR#148,380,8177C NEER
(THRAEmR ) (Hrtii)
Merchants Property Development ~ The PRC RMB200,000,000 100 100 Property development
(Guangzhou) Limited*
("Merchants Guangzhou")
(Note i)
EMBREEHERRAR H AE#200,000,0007T NEER
(TRmEM ) (fratii)
Nanjing Shengtong Property The PRC RMB1,500,000,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
("Shengtong”) (Note ii)
HRRBEMERERARAR H AEH1,500,000,0007 NEER
(T8 ) (Hfatin)
Nanjing Chuangma (Note iii) The PRC RMB50,000,000 60 - Property development
RIS (Hetii) G AR¥#50,000,0007C MERER
Nanjing DJZ Trading* The PRC RMB 100,000,000 31 31 Property development
(Notes iii and iv) (Note 34)
ERTFHERE H AR #100,000,0007 NEER
(Biatiii Riv) (Hi3£34)
Nanjing Zhaochuang Technology ~ The PRC RMB53,000,000 60 - Property development
Innovation Service Co., Ltd.
ERBRRMAFRBERAR  H AR #53,000,0007 WEER
Nanjing Zhaorong Property The PRC RMB1,200,000,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(“Nanjing Zhaorong") (Note iii)
HRRREHEREERAR HE AE#1,200,000,0007 NEER
(TERRR)) (Brtiii)
Nanjing Merchants Qisheng The PRC US$205,000,000 51 51 Property development
Property Development Limited*
(Note i)
AR ARREEHERRAR Gl 205,000,000% 7T NERER
(Hati)
“ETFEER BEHREMARAR
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 44 RN RFIMB AR 2R #)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR, BRARBHERE ERRMEERAEE
WEARARE BT 3t 8 TR A G En3id ] TEXH
2020 2019
ZECEF —T-NEF
% %
Nanjing Zhao Ping Li Sheng The PRC RMB100,000,000 51 51 Investment holding
Investment Limited*
("Nanjing Zhao Ping Li Sheng")
(Note ii)
HRBRTNEREBRAR HE AR 100,000,000 REZER
(TREARAREAEE ) (Haii)
Nanjing Merchants Zhaosheng The PRC RMB400,000,000 51 51 Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
("Nanjing Zhaosheng") (Note iii)
HRREREEHERRAR H AR #400,000,0007 NEER
(TR iR ) (Brtii)
Pride Oasis Limited (“Pride Oasis”)  The BVI US$599,095,420 50 50 Investment holding
(Note iv)
REARAR(EED (M)  REBEXES  599,095420%7T REZER
Poly Field International Investments Hong Kong RMB500,500,400 60 60 Investment holding
Limited ("Poly Field")
BEERREERAR(BE]) &% AR 500,500,400 REER
Runray Holdings Limited The BVI US$100 100 100 Investment holding
BARER AR AR KBRS 100ET REER
Sino Action Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$500 100 100 Investment holding
EHREBARAF BB B 5007 REER
Tian Jiao (Guangzhou) Property The PRC RMB500,000,000 60 60  Property development
Development Co., Limited*
("Tian Jiao") (Note i)
AB(EMNEHERZEARAR & AR 500,000,000 NEER
(TR (Hiti)
Xi'an Mao On Property The PRC US$172,000,000 100 100 Property development
Development Company Limited*
(Note i)
BRERFREBRAR(ME) =+ 172,000,000% 70 VB
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 44 X AFIMB AR 2B ®)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR, ERTRESRE ARG ERAEE
WEAR B BT 3t 8 MR G Endid ] TEXH
2020 2019
—E-%F —TNEF
% %
Zhenjiang Torch Zhidi Property The PRC US$29,900,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note i)
ETNEEMBERARAR (Fzti) + 29,900,000 7t NEER
Torch Investment Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
("Torch Investment”) (Note 33)
NERBEBRAR(NERE]) &E 75%10,0007T REER
(Ki233)
Xi'an Zhao Ping Property The PRC RMB1,860,800,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
BLETEHERRAF H AR 1,860,800,0007C NEER
Xi'an China Merchants Jiashi The PRC RMB980,392,156.86 51 100 Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*

AR AREREHERRAR H AR 1980,392,156.867C NEER

Chongging Zhaoke Zhiye Co., Ltd.* The PRC RMB 10,000,000 51 51 Property development

ERAMEXAERAA HE AK#10,000,0007T MEER

Shanghai Bangxin Enterprise The PRC US$100,000 & 51 Property management

Management Consulting
Co., Ltd.

TEAMCEERZABR AR P 100,000 7T NEER

* The English name is for identification only. The official name of the entity * RN EREHRBR - ERZEXABWR/FX -

is in Chinese.

Note i: The entity is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise. Hiiti: BRBINSBERHE -

Note ii:  The entity is a sino-foreign joint venture. Hiatii - BBRTINEGELHE -

Note iii: ~ The entity is a wholly-domestic owned enterprise. Hiaziii : BRBE2ENERE -

Note iv:  This entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company despite Hiztiv: ZEBWER/AARZHBEAR  HARARER
the Company holds directly and indirectly not more than half of the LREEFEZERBIZN —FRE BERRAIRNZ
equity interest therein as the Company has the power to cast the ERZEZSSEREAZEREE  WHZEE
majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors of this entity, ZEREZES -

which has power to affect the returns of this entity.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding RERSKFEAREMER - BEMBRFFEE
as at the end of the year or at any time during the year which is AT RAEETA 2 RTREBEBES

held by the Group.
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45.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT
HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

AS R EARFERER ZAEBHE
BB ARFS

TREHNEEEANFIERER 2 AEEHIIEEE
i S) NG

interests:
Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and principal Voting rights held by  Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of entity place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
MR/ KL HR PEFEERES 2 RA
EREE TEEENY FERBEZFBFRERE (&#8) EG e £
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ZEC2E TG ZBIBE —T-NF ZBIEE —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT AR®TR AR%®T:R
Shengtong The PRC 49% 49% 177,933 (20,575) 892,405 714,472
23 F
Tian Jiao The PRC 40% 40% 130,830 543,064 817,310 686,480
PN H
Pride Oasis The BVI 50% 50% 677,092 266,755 5,251,541 4,574,449
s HBRETHS
Merchants Nanjing The PRC 49% 49% 11,426 234302 7,790,793 7,442,154
BEER H

Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests

BHEE Hﬂ% WA N EEDN
MR

(185,096)  (118,280) 7,013,859 5,906,271

812,185 905,266 21,765,908 19,323,826

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
each of the Group's entities that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised consolidated
financial information below represents amounts before intra-
group eliminations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

45.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED AS EEEREEREZZAEBIES
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT = EPNGEICIC )

HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: Hifat
2020 2019
B —T-n&
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETFT
Shengtong BB
Non-current assets FEMBEE 375 14,101
Current assets MENE E 5,995,956 4,551,384
Current liabilities mEBE 3,869,696 2,903,827
Non-current liabilities EREBAEE 305,400 203,552
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RATHEE AEIGRER 928,830 743,634
Non-controlling interests SRR R 892,405 714,472
Revenue e 2,670,735 -
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income AATEE AEE SR (EE) R
(expense) attributable to owners of the Company 2HEWA(FIX) @5 185,196 (21,415)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense) e AR RS FEAE 5 F (B518) &
attributable to non-controlling interests ELONCFRE L | 177,933 (20,575)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense) RERDN (ER) R2mEW A (FxX) @58
for the year 363,129 (41,990)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B SRR R - =
Net cash inflow from operating activities MEEB IR RNFE 4,108,085 755,367
Net cash outflow from investing activities BEEB RS RLFE (107) (121)
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEK RS RLFE (3,354,087) (287,953)
Net cash inflow RERANERE 753,891 467,293
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45.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT
HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

45, %ﬁikélﬂ*ﬂﬁff§¥27—1§%3|5%
EMBARFB®

Notes: (continued) Hiat - (48)
2020 2019
—EC-®F —ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Tian Jiao REE
Non-current assets IERBBE 262,167 198,291
Current assets TRENVEE 3,838,577 4,012,276
Current liabilities mE A& 1,978,267 2,225,164
Non-current liabilities Bt =K 79,200 269,200
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AAREE AE(LHERS 1,225,966 1,029,722
Non-controlling interests FEFERR I 817,310 686,480
Revenue Wk 1,190,146 3,839,922
Profit and total comprehensive income RARHEE ANEERF R EER AL
attributable to owners of the Company 196,244 814,596
Profit and total comprehensive income e R IR R R R E A RE
attributable to non-controlling interests 130,830 543,064
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REZHRN R 2 EB AL 327,074 1,357,660
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BB Zeibgr 3388 - =
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities B 2R 2 W (i) m AJFHE (822,293) 627,014
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities BMEEKZRES(RE)RAERE (570,816) 23,820
Net cash (outflow) inflow Be ORl)RAFE (1,393,109) 650,834
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45.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT

HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

Htet - (%)

AS BB EARFERERZAEBHE
EMBARFB @

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARKEFT
Pride Oasis (=R
Non-current assets EMBEE 1,275,940 1,455,354
Current assets MENE EE 16,356,901 14,219,068
Current liabilities nBAaE 6,009,372 6,069,187
Non-current liabilities FERBAEE 1,120,387 456,337
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RARGRE ARG 5,251,541 4,574,449
Non-controlling interests SRR RS 5,251,541 4,574,449
Revenue U zs 4,670,038 2,487,761
Profit and total comprehensive income RRRHER AR R 2 EBALRE
attributable to owners of the Company 677,092 266,755
Profit and total comprehensive income e R R DR T R 2 E A LR
attributable to non-controlling interests 677,092 266,755
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REEHF R 2ERALERE 1,354,184 533,510
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BRI SRR R - -
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities fmakege > IS A (i ) F58 87,431 (220,209)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities BB IHS (R RAESE (64,471) 7,740
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities BEXB2HEORB)RAFE (214,606) 112,944
Net cash outflow BERHIFE (191,646) (99,525)
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R BTSRRI R

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F-_FF+-A=+—HAULFE

45.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT

HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

Mz ()

45, %ﬁikélﬂ*ﬂﬁff§¥27—1§%3|5%
EMBARFB®

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARETFT
Merchants Nanjing BEER
Non-current assets FERBEE 4,715,447 3,254,921
Current assets mENEE 28,967,511 21,735,025
Current liabilities REBE 19,837,652 11,867,434
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 666,149 154,360
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARTHEB AEILER 5,388,364 5,525,998
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R 7,790,793 7,442,154
Revenue Wz 1,358,476 4,127,543
Profit and total comprehensive income AREHB AEMRET REEB AL
attributable to owners of the Company 29,497 93,514
Profit and total comprehensive income R RGN R IR ALLRE
attributable to non-controlling interests 11,426 234,302
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year NEE R R EEB AL 40,923 327,816
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BRI R 349,987 243,447
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities gmuas ek > 30 S A () EEE 293,148 (118,621)
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEB 2R MHFE (3,764,476) (1,775,246)
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEEBZRLRAFE 5,020,790 1,874,191
Net cash inflow (outflow) ReERACRL ) FaE 1,549,462 (19,676)
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e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

46.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
entered into several new lease agreements for the use of
office ranged from 2 to 20 years (2019: 2 years). On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised RMB194,413,000
(2019: RMB3,124,000) of right-of-use assets and
RMB 194,413,000 (2019: RMB3,124,000) of lease liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, dividend declared
from an associate amounted to RMB174,195,000 (2019: Nil) has
been settled through the amount due to an associate. Also,
amount due to a joint venture of RMB4,900,000 (2019: Nil) has
been capitalised as the registered capital in the joint venture.
Accordingly, there was no contractual cash outflow to the
Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, loan from a
non-controlling interest of RMB508,796,000 (2019: Nil) was
arose from the acquisition of Guangzhou Junyao (details as
disclosed in note 35). Accordingly, there was no contractual
cash inflow to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, loans from non-
controlling interests of RMB705,392,000 have been capitalised
as the registered share capital in the Group’s non-wholly
owned subsidiaries. Accordingly, the capital injection results in
no contractual cash inflow to the Group.

On 11 January 2019, Wharf Real Estate (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.,
the non-controlling interest of Foshan Yi Yun, had signed
agreements to capitalise advances to Foshan Zhonghuan
and Foshan Brilliant, wholly-owned subsidiaries of Foshan Yi
Yun, of RMB802,000,000 and RMB1,003,000,000 respectively
as registered capital in Foshan Yi Yun. Accordingly, the
capital injection amounting RMB1,805,000,000 results in no
contractual cash inflow to the Group.

On 30 October 2019, advance to an investee of RMB84,750,000
had capitalised as the registered capital in the investee.
Accordingly, there was no contractual cash outflow to the
Group.

46. EXFRERS

HE-T-_ZTF+-_A=+—HILLEE A&
ERERARARI AN T 22205 (=%
—NF 2F)NETHHEERZ - REERR
B AEEERERAESEEARE 194,413,000
T(ZZE—NF : AR¥3,124,0000) KHESE
BARK194,413,000c (= —NF : AR
3,124,0007T) °

BE_ZT-_ZTHF+-_A=1+—HBILtFEE B
EAAEIRAKRE AR174,1950007T (=
T-NF: EBESBEN—BHEQRKE
BE o N BN —HEELERBARE
4,900,000 (= —hF : B)BENMLEZE
EREMNFMER - At - WESNES R
REE o

BE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—BIFE g%
BEMER (BN EISEE) EEIEER
W E R AR 508,796,000t ( — T — N5 :
) - At - WEANESRARNER -

BE T ZTHE+-_A=1+—HItFE ' k=
P #E 25 & XA R #6705,392,0007T B B AL B AR
SEFEHBARIMFEMBR - Bt - x&
S EEY AR RANER o

RZZE—NFE—A+—8  HBILIKREZIFER
BENEREXE(EM BRARE R i -
LLEARAFLUEEZZEK B ARG LFR
Kbl e EE 2 B3R5 Bl A R #802,000,0007T &
AR #1,003,000,0007T + 1E&%E LKE 2 s
BEAR - Al - BEAKR1,805,000,0007T 2 F
BWEEHAEHRERARNEE -

RZZBE-AFTA=+H RREEHRER
AR#84,750,000TtE ERNME AR EEH R Z5E
MER - @At - WESHBESREREE -
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e R R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_—F_FTFE+-A=+—HAIFE

47.INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT 47. EBAQ BBz Z2ER
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY
2020 2019
—ECEHF —E—NF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WME - BE MRE 804 928
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR 2 &E 17 16
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG ] 12,399,648 12,347,130
12,400,469 12,348,074
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FENRE - e MEMmERTE 1,514 1,484
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG B 2,900,776 2,863,574
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries G ES NG S 344,357 492
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRIES 119,482 734,430
3,366,129 3,599,980
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals H i fE 5T RRE K e R B 25,508 53,024
Amounts due to subsidiaries eI B A Bl ZR 1B 2,719,615 463,487
Amount due to an intermediate holding company <t R ¥ #Ef% A =) 7% 08 1,440,593 512,890
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries NI ES GIENGI B 141 103,335
Bank borrowings RITEE 3,877,500 600,000
Bond payable FERT &S 1,900,000 =
9,963,357 1,732,736
Net current (liabilities) assets REN(EBE)EEEE (6,597,228) 1,867,244
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERABERS 5,803,241 14,215,318
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank borrowings RITEE 3,350,000 7,985,000
Bond payable ERES - 1,900,000
3,350,000 9,885,000
Net assets EERE 2,453,241 4,330,318
Capital and reserves EAXR#iE
Share capital f& A 39,132 39,132
Reserves (Note) e (HTaE) 2,414,109 4,291,186
Total equity RS HEER 2,453,241 4,330,318
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—F_FFL-A=+—HAULFE

47.INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT 47. BBZAQA AR AT 2ER (#)
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

Note: Reserves BiaE - R
Share Translation  Contributed Accumulated Total
premium reserve reserve losses reserves
IR A58 S BB Rt HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AR¥EFTT ARETT AR¥EFTT ARETTT
At 1 January 2019 R=ZZF—NF—HA—H 5,524,560 8,076 46,004 (724,483) 4,854,157
Loss and total comprehensive FANEBEBREERS B
expense for the year - - - (217,763) (217,763)
Dividend declared EEIRERE (345,208) - - - (345,208)
At 31 December 2019 R=ZT—NA&+=-A=+—8H 5,179,352 8,076 46,004 (942,246) 4,291,186
Loss and total comprehensive FRBEELEERXERE
expense for the year - - - (1,251,873) (1,251,873)
Dividend declared BEEIRRE (625,204) - - - (625,204)
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-_TF+_-_A=+—H 4,554,148 8,076 46,004 (2,194,119) 2,414,109
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TFHHBERBE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 as below.

NTHIASERBEARAETRFEEZEEUAREER
BEME  DHRESFAEE-T—AF - _T—tF .
—EN\F B -NFRIFEF+_A=1—
BIEFE 2 BB KBS ERE

RESULTS E4 Year ended 31 December
BZ+t-A=t-HLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
o223 “TNF —TN\F T4 —TRE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARET T ARET T ARETTT ARET T
REVENUE WS 18,956,418 19,453,295 11,955,899 17,310,562 11,606,442
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBATE A 3,605,146 5,752,671 3,796,321 5,301,478 2,542,319
Income tax Fii5%t (2,091,701) (3,052,935) (1,590,809) (2,362,495) (1,427,265)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEHR 1,513,445 2,699,736 2,205,512 2,938,983 1,115,054
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE As at 31 December
R+=A=t+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—ECEF —T-NEF —E-N\F —E—+F —E-REF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARET T ARET T ARETT ARET T
TOTAL ASSETS BEEME 111,025,883 88,421,911 71,270,665 57,817,312 48,446,368
TOTAL LIABILITIES BELE 79,759,049 59,592,344 47 473,637 36,046,086 34,338,398
Net assets EEFE 31,266,834 28,829,567 23,797,028 21,771,226 14,107,970
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